
www.mobilezone.ch

ANNUAL 
REPORT 

2020



2

OPERATING PROFIT 
(EBIT) IN CHF

44 
million
(previous year: 
CHF 60 million)

SALES IN CHF

1,238 
million

(previous year: 
CHF 1,324 million)

DIVIDEND IN CHF

0.56
(previous year: 

CHF 0.60) 

NET DEBT 
IN CHF

120 
million
(previous year: 
CHF 131 million)

EARNINGS PER SHARE 
IN CHF

0.77
(previous year: 

CHF 1.04)
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mobilezone exceeds expectations  
with an EBIT of CHF 44 million

REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Shareholders,

Despite considerable pandemic restrictions, mobilezone had a very pleasing conclusion to 2020. This was the case in spite of business in 
all three countries – Switzerland, Germany and Austria – being burdened significantly from March to the end of the year by the measures 
implemented to combat the coronavirus. The pandemic confirmed that mobilezone has a resilient business model. With an EBIT of CHF 
44 million, we exceeded the EBIT target of CHF 38 to 43 million that was communicated in May, as well as the expectations of the analysts. 

After mobilezone Group's good start to the year, and with the most important key performance indicators in the low two-digit range by 
mid-March, this very encouraging development was abruptly curbed by the first coronavirus lockdown in the middle of March. As a result, 
the EBIT was burdened by CHF 12 million in the first half-year, and additionally by CHF 4.8 million from the now completed restructuring 
of the indirect sales business in Germany (offline). Domestic business in the Swiss retail trade developed positively after the end of the first 
lockdown on 11 May and the reopening of all physical shops. The good performance from the beginning of the year continued following 
the interruption of the eight-week lockdown. This positive development continued, despite 20 percent less customer traffic in November 
and December due to the tougher measures resulting from the second wave of the coronavirus. Contracts concluded in Germany via the 
company's own online platforms sparhandy.de and deinhandy.de developed positively over the course of the entire year, as expected, 
with growth in the mid-single-digit range. 

By selling the wholesale business in Germany at the end of January 2021 and the repair business in Austria in December 2020, mobilezone 
completed the last two steps of its consistent restructuring. mobilezone Germany will focus on the strategic business areas of "Online" and 
"Indirect B2B trade".

Online sales amounted to CHF 370 million. Adjusted for the sales of the wholesale business sold, this corresponds to a 39 percent share 
of total sales. Germany accounts for 92 percent of online sales and Switzerland for 8 percent.

Most important numbers at a glance

   Sales decreased from CHF 1,324 million by CHF 86 million  
(6.5 percent) to CHF 1,238 million. After adjustments for the  
effects of exchange rates, sales were CHF 1,283 million or 3.1 
percent less than the previous year. 

  With an EBIT of CHF 44.0 million (previous year: CHF 59.6  
million) and an EBIT margin of 3.6 percent (previous year: 4.5 
percent), the communicated expectations, which were between 
CHF 38 million and CHF 43 million, were exceeded.

   Financial expenses rose by CHF 0.6 million and totalled  
CHF 3.2 million.

  Tax expenses were CHF 6.5 million and fell by CHF 5.1 million 
compared to the previous year.

  Net profit was CHF 34.5 million (previous year: CHF 44.4  
million). After adjustments for the effects of exchange rates,  
net profit was CHF 35.3 million.

   Earnings per share amounted to CHF 0.77 (previous year:  
CHF 1.04) As of 31 December 2020, the share price was CHF 
10.08 compared to CHF 10.86 at the end of December 2019.

   On 31 December 2020, the balance sheet showed cash and 
cash equivalents totalling CHF 63 million (previous year:  
CHF 65 million).

   Financial liabilities totalled CHF 183 million compared to  
CHF 196 million at the end of December 2019. 

  The company's net debt amounted to CHF 120 million (previous 
year: CHF 131 million). The ratio of net debt to EBITDA was 2.22 
(previous year: 1.93).

   At the end of the year, net current assets amounted to CHF 114 
million (previous year: CHF 109 million).

  Shareholders' equity in the individual financial statements of 
mobilezone holding ag amounted to CHF 177 million (previous 
year: CHF 175 million).

  The Board of Directors will propose to the General Meeting  
on 7 April 2021 the distribution of a dividend in the amount of  
CHF 0.56 (previous year: CHF 0.60 ) per share.

  The EBIT expectations of CHF 61 million to 66 million for fiscal 
year 2021, announced in May 2020, will be confirmed.
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Urs T. Fischer, Chairman of the Board of Directors Markus Bernhard, CEO

Switzerland and Austria segment

  The Swiss retail and B2B business achieved the best results at 
the EBIT level in the company's history.

  Sales in Switzerland and Austria decreased by 8.4 percent from 
CHF 356 million to CHF 326 million.

  The EBIT grew from CHF 26.5 million to CHF 31.2 million, which 
corresponds to a net operating margin of 9.6 percent (previous 
year: 7.4 percent).

  The Swiss retail business had very pleasing development before 
and after the lockdown in the months from March to May. At 
335,000 (previous year: 359,000) contracts concluded (post-
paid, Internet, and TV), the previous year's figures – adjusted 
for the lockdown phase – (contracts: –32,000) were exceeded 
by almost 2.4 percent.

  The number of shops grew to 123 (previous year: 117).

  Revenue from services sold (data transfer, setting up smart-
phones, and other services) in the shops totalled CHF 2.8  
million (previous year: CHF 3.0 million).

  Sales of accessories rose by 5.4 percent to CHF 21.5 million 
(previous year: CHF 20.4 million).

  The B2B business expanded its fleet management and mobility 
services to CHF 3.7 million (previous year: CHF 3.4 million).

  21,000 smartphones were sold in the B2B online business  
(previous year: 16,500). This corresponds to an increase  
of 27 percent.

  After having an overall negative EBIT of CHF 1 million in  
Switzerland and Austria in the first half-year, the repair business 
had a turnaround into the black in the second half-year, enab-
ling an overall negative result for the EBIT in the sum of  
CHF 0.7 million.

  Sales with TalkTalk amounted to CHF 15.9 million (previous year: 
CHF 18.2 million). Mobile telephony could not fully offset the 
drop in sales to fixed-line customers. The sales share of mobile 
customers rose to 75 percent (pre vious year: 70 percent). In  
the postpaid SIM cards segment, the number of customers 
grew to 31,300 (previous year: 26,800) or 16.8 percent.

  The TalkTalk EBIT was CHF 4.8 million (pre vious year: CHF 5.6 
million). The EBIT margin remained at a stable 30.4 percent.
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REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS

Germany segment

  The two business areas of "Online" and "Indirect B2B trade" 
had quite different development.

  Volume in the online business increased by 4.6 percent to more 
than 567,000 (previous year: 542,000) mobile phone contracts. 
Of these, 492,000 mobile phone contracts (pre vious year: 
455,000) or 87 percent (previous year: 84 percent) were conclu-
ded via the company's own platforms. 

  The measures for combating the pandemic led to B2B partners 
closing shops, resulting in 452,000 (previous year: 505,000)  
or 10.5 percent fewer mobile phone contracts being concluded 
"offline".

  Sales decreased from CHF 976 million to CHF 916 million. The 
sales share of the wholesale business that was sold in January 
2021 was CHF 0.3 billion with a gross margin of 2.2 percent 
(previous year: CHF 0.4 billion / 2.7 percent).

  The EBIT fell from CHF 28.8 million to CHF 11.9 million. The 
drop includes restructuring costs of CHF 4.8 million.

  Altogether, more than 1,019,000 (previous year: 1,047,000)  
mobile phone contracts were concluded "online" and in  
"B2B trade".

By launching the next modules of our online platform in the form of a new Shoptech commerce solution for our brands sparhandy.de, 
deinhandy.de, and handystar.de in the first half of 2021, we will be able to shape the online market for connectivity consumer electronics 
in an even more agile and faster way and market new offers in the "subscriptions without smartphones" product category.

We launched pricezilla.de in November, a new platform that uses the new Shoptech architecture to market smartphones, tablets and ac-
cessories without a subscription. We are convinced that we will be able to optimally tap into all relevant connectivity consumer electronics 
customer segments with this multi-brand approach.

Change in the Board of Directors
After serving as Chairman of the Board of Directors for twelve years, Urs T. Fischer will not be standing for re-election at the next General 
Meeting on 7 April 2021. Under his leadership, mobilezone has established a strong strategic position in the telecommunications industry 
in Switzerland in the last few years. Both the sales and profitability of the Group increased considerably in that time. The Board of Directors 
and Group Management thank Urs T. Fischer for his many years of outstanding service to our company. 

The Board of Directors will propose Olaf Swantee, an expert in the European telecommunications industry, to the General Meeting as the 
new Chairman of the Board of Directors (www.mobilezoneholding.ch/en/Company/corporate-governance/Board-of-Directors.html). 

Changes in Group Management
The Board of Directors has appointed Jens Barth as Chief Digital Officer (CDO) and member of Group Management effective 1 January 
2021. Akin Erdem left Group Management at the end of January 2021 during the course of the sale of the wholesale business.
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Rotkreuz, 8 March 2021

Urs T. Fischer 
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Markus Bernhard
Chief Executive Officer

General Meeting of 7 April 2021
The General Meeting 2021 will once again take place without the physical presence of the shareholders. Based on the ordinance issued by 
the Swiss Federal Council on measures to combat the coronavirus, they may only cast their votes via an independent proxy. 

The Board of Directors will propose a dividend of CHF 0.56 per registered share to the General Meeting. Half of the distribution will come 
out of available earnings, and half will come out of reserves from capital contributions, which corresponds to a distribution ratio of 73 
percent. If this proposal is approved, the dividend will be paid out on 16 April 2021. Starting on 14 April 2021, the shares will be traded ex 
dividend.

Outlook for 2021
The EBIT goal of CHF 61 million to 66 million for fiscal year 2021, announced in May, is confirmed. We are expecting sales in the range of 
CHF 950 million with an EBIT margin of 7 percent. The investments of CHF 12 million are connected to the conclusion of the modernisation 
and renovation of all shops in Switzerland according to our new, standard design concept by 2022, as well as in particular the investments 
in our online platforms in Germany and Switzerland. The sale of the wholesale business marks the completion of the repositioning of 
mobilezone. The Group is in an excellent position and is confidently looking forward to positive further development.

Thanks go to our employees and shareholders
Special thanks go to our almost 1,200 employees who have distinguished themselves through their enormous flexibility and tremendous 
commitment throughout this unexpected pandemic situation. We are very proud of the team spirit that was clearly visible and palpable in 
this very difficult time. And, last but not least, we want to thank you, our valued shareholders. With your support and confidence, you have 
made it possible for us to advance the development of mobilezone.
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1 In percent of net sales.    
2 In percent of total assets.
3 Shareholders' equity and total assets without goodwill offsetting / with amortisation (see page 88, section 22).

Key figures

Group

(CHF 000 or as indicated) 2020 % 2019 % 2018 % 2017 % 2016 %

Net sales 1 237 662 1 324 022 1 195 599 1 171 578 1 087 855

Gross profit 177 336 14.31 180 073 13.61 156 838 13.11 149 826 12.81 143 966 13.21

Operating profit before  
depreciation (EBITDA)

53 776 4.31 67 812 5.11 58 296 4.91 55 954 4.81 54 255 5.01

Operating profit (EBIT) 43 958 3.61 59 648 4.51 52 535 4.41 50 123 4.31 48 471 4.51

Net profit 34 514 2.81 44 405 3.41 39 531 3.31 35 226 3.01 36 147 3.31

Total assets 353 789 390 541 367 070 302 640 192 887

Net debt –119 578 –130 876 –76 161 –70 200 –66 152

Shareholders' equity 23 182 6.62 15 051 3.92 34 382 9.42 8 977 3.02 –3 294 –1.72

Shareholders' equity without offsetting  
of goodwill3

102 286 23.6 132 530 26.1 111 192 25.1 46 776 13.7 46 461 19.1

Net-debt-to-EBITDA ratio 2.22 1.93 1.31 1.25 1.22

Net cash flow from operating activities 59 750 52 778 5 385 45 911 40 440

Investments in property, plant and  
equipment and intangible assets

13 298 10 036 10 420 10 947 9 809

Number of full-time employees as of  
31 December (number)

1 127 1 217 930 867 878

Number of shops  
as of 31 December in Switzerland 123 117 119 124 129

KEY FIGURES
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KEY FIGURES

¹  Equity without offsetting of goodwill / with amortisations

²  50 percent distribution free of withholding tax from capital contribution reserves in accordance with the 
Board of Directors' proposal to the General Meeting on 7 April 2021.

³  Dividend reinvested.

Share development

Information per share
(in CHF 000 unless noted 
otherwise)

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

Shares issued at  
year end (number)

44 781 213 44 781 213   40 781 213   32 195 697 32 195 697

Weighted average number of 
shares outstanding (number)

44 709 172 42 792 890 38 664 992 32 163 959 32 179 994

Earnings per share  
(undiluted/diluted)

0.77 1.04 1.02 1.10 1.12

Equity per share without offsetting 
of goodwill1

2.28 2.96 2.73 1.45 1.44

Distribution per share 0.56² 0.60 0.60 0.60 0.60

Share price (highest/lowest) 11.64/7.21 11.94/8.78 12.48/9.51 15.95/11.45 14.75/12.15

Share price as of 31.12. 10.08 10.86 10.94 12.85 14.50

Share price since 2014³ 
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Urs T. Fischer has been Chairman of the 
Board of Directors of the mobilezone Group 
since 2009. After graduating with a diploma 
in engineering from ETH, he held various 

management posi-
tions at IBM Switzer-
land and the Digital 
Equipment Corpo-
ration. He was CEO 
of Sunrise Commu-
nication AG and was 
CEO and member 
of the Board of Di-
rectors of Ascom 
Group, as well as 
General Manager of 
H ew le t t - Packa rd 
(Schweiz) GmbH.  
After 12 years, he is 

stepping down from his post as Chairman of 
the Board of Directors of the mobilezone 
Group at the 2021 General Meeting. In light 
of his impending departure, we asked him a 
few questions. 

Interview with Urs T. Fischer  
Chairman of the Board of Directors

  It was a privilege for 
me to accompany a com-
pany that has remained 
market leader over the 
course of 12 years as an in-
dependent provider of tele-
communications services.

URS FISCHER, YOU ARE STEPPING DOWN 
AFTER MORE THAN A DECADE AS CHAIR-
MAN OF THE BOARD OF THE MOBILEZONE 
GROUP – A LONG TIME, ESPECIALLY IN AN 
ENVIRONMENT CHARACTERISED BY NEW 
AND CHANGING TECHNOLOGIES. 
mobilezone was a classical retailer in 2009. 
We had two lines of business at that time. On 
the one hand, there was the B2C business 
based on the shops, and on the other, there 
was the B2B business, which was still in its 
infancy at that time. 

We operated a little more than 120 shops in all 
of Switzerland at that time. The three biggest 
mobile providers – Swisscom, Orange (Salt 
today) and Sunrise – combined operated 220 
shops in the market. Today, the three biggest 
mobile providers operate a good 300 shops 
in total. We were able to keep our large,  
Switzerland-wide, shop presence stable.

Then, there were also external influences that 
shaped us. The market launch of the iPhone 
3 in July 2008 rang in a new era. When Apple 
began to stir up the mobile communications 
market with it, players such as Nokia, HTC, 
Motorola, LG and Sony Ericsson were still in 
the market. The market share of smart-
phones in 2009 was just five percent. By 
2014, it had reached 70 percent. And today, 
you really have to look hard to find mobile 
devices that are not "smart". 
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HOW HAS MOBILEZONE CHANGED SINCE 
YOUR ELECTION IN 2009?
In 2009, mobilezone was a purely Swiss com-
pany. Over the course of time, we expanded 
into Germany and enjoyed strong growth. 
We positioned ourselves strategically in the 
telecommunications industry in Switzerland 
and Germany. That way, we also increased 
sales and the profitability of the Group consi-
derably.

In my opinion, mobilezone has become 
more and more professional over time: in its 
processes, when launching products, in its 
IT, during the launch of new systems, looking 
at omnichannel, for example, and not least 
in the areas of governance and risk manage-
ment.

Today, we have a broader base in all our 
business areas – whether in the value-crea-
tion chain for purchasing and sales, or in the 
re-use of devices and the related lifecycle of 
a smartphone.

Besides the physical business, the online 
business is becoming more and more im-
portant. This is a transformation that 
doesn't take place from one day to the 
next. Rather, it is a journey that is being 
strategically planned and supported by 
management. 

HOW WOULD YOU SUMMARISE 
MOBILEZONE'S CURRENT STANDING?
It was a privilege for me to accompany a 
company that has remained market leader 
over the course of 12 years as an indepen-
dent provider of telecommunications ser-
vices.

We have held a dual role in the ecosystem of 
the telecommunications industry: On the one 
hand, we are the market leader in Switzer-
land and Germany as an independent provi-
der; on the other, we are very small, when 
you compare us to the big mobile providers 
or even the manufacturers. And nevertheless, 
time and time again, we find a niche where 
we can stake our claim. We are small and agi-
le. This agility enables us to repeatedly find 
potential for innovation and exploit it.

We finished fiscal year 2020 better than the 
"best case" that we defined in the second 
half of March, during the first lockdown. 
And we demonstrated courage by having 
submitted the guidance for 2020 and 2021 
by 13 May. This was very well received by 
the investors. Although we hadn't planned 
for a second wave, we surpassed our targets 
and, on the whole, came through this crisis 
year safely, which naturally pleases me a 
great deal.

WHAT DO YOU REMEMBER IN PARTICU-
LAR FROM YOUR TIME IN OFFICE?
What I remember in particular is the culture 
of debate at the Board of Directors and 
Group Management level. It was deman-
ding, and sometimes even a struggle, but 
the arguments were always based on fact. 
The other thing that I remember is that our 
CEO Markus Bernhard and his team have 
managed to maintain, and continue to deve-

  What I remember 
is the culture of debate 
at the Board of Directors 
and Group Management 
level, which was deman-
ding and sometimes also 
a struggle, but the argu-
ments were always based 
on fact.

lop, a family-like corporate culture in a young 
industry with young employees.

YOUR SUCCESSOR WILL BE OLAF  
SWANTEE, AN EXPERT IN THE EURO-
PEAN TELECOMMUNICATIONS INDUSTRY. 
WHAT ARE YOUR HOPES FOR HIS TIME IN 
OFFICE AS CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD?
I have known Olaf for 20 years. We have 
worked together previously at the Digital 
Equipment Corporation. With his experi-
ence, I know that he is absolutely the right 
man to preside over this Management Board, 
and I wish him lasting success. He will have 
this success if he promotes an employee- 
and customer-centric business policy. If the 
customers are happy, then the employees 
are happy, and if the employees are happy, 
then the shareholders, and ultimately the 
company, is happy. 

WHAT WILL YOU DO WITH YOUR NEWLY 
ACQUIRED TIME?
First and foremost, I will spend time with my 
wife. She has had to accept some compromi-
ses in recent years. In addition, I will keep 
two of my chairman of the board duties. I am 
the honorary chairman of the board of a 
home for people with disabilities. A new buil-
ding is planned there, which will take a great 
deal of time. And then, I would also like to 
take time to satisfy my curiosity for social and 
political interrelationships. There are many 
books on my bedside table that I would like 
to read. They include biographies of people 
such as the Dalai-Lama or the chief prosecu-
tor of the Nuremberg Trials, for example. 

THANK YOU VERY MUCH FOR THE INTER-
VIEW, AND I WISH YOU ALL THE BEST.
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INTERVIEW WITH MARKUS BERNHARD

HOW DO YOU ASSESS THE 2020 ANNUAL 
RESULT? 
On the whole, we are very satisfied with the 
financial results, in light of the circumstan-
ces.

With an EBIT of a little more than CHF 31 
million (2019: CHF 26 million), the results in 
Switzerland were simply excellent and by 
far the best in the company's 20-year histo-
ry. On the whole, the result in Germany was 
not satisfactory. The restructuring, one-off 
expenses and the pandemic had a very sig-
nificant impact on the result. As a conse-
quence, we achieved an EBIT of CHF 12 
million (2019: CHF 29 million). We are confi-
dent of achieving a recovery in the brick-
and-mortar, indirect B2B business in spring 
2021 with mobilezone Handel in Germany.

We are satisfied with our online business in 
Germany and were able to continue expan-

ding and effectively 
consolidating it by 
concluding 567,000 
in fiscal year 2020, a 
4.6 percent increa-
se. We launched 
pricezilla.de – a new 
online platform – in 
the fourth quarter of 
2020. We want to 
further develop our 
online strategy with 

it in Germany, and by reaching new custo-
mer groups, exploit the existing potential in 
the areas of mobile phones without con-
tracts and connectivity products.

THE CORONAVIRUS HAD A SIGNIFICANT 
IMPACT ON THE ECONOMY LAST YEAR. 
HOW DID THE PANDEMIC AFFECT THE 
MOBILEZONE GROUP, AND HOW DO 
THINGS LOOK TODAY?
The coronavirus had a significant impact on 
our business in fiscal year 2020. After  
mobilezone Group's promising start to the 
year, and with the most important key per-
formance indicators higher than the previ-
ous year's numbers up to mid-March of 
2020, this encouraging development was 
abruptly cut short by the coronavirus lock-
down in the middle of March. The pande-
mic burdened our business in the first half-

  The results in  
Switzerland, with an EBIT  
of CHF 31 million, were  
simply excellent. 

year in particular. In the second half-year, 
our online business in Germany and espe-
cially the Swiss business developed very 
positively. However, after struggling in the 
first half-year, the indirect B2B business in 
Germany was unable to overcome the im-
pacts of the pandemic on the results in the 
second half-year either. The Swiss retail 
business saw a decrease in customer traffic 
of around 20 percent in November and De-
cember 2020, also due to the increased 
measures from the federal government and 
the individual cantons. 

With the closure of many retail businesses 
and the requirement to work from home, 
the second lockdown in Switzerland, which 
began in mid-January 2021, actually redu-
ced customer traffic in our shops by 30 per-
cent compared to the previous year. Never-
theless, business in the Swiss retail trade 
– when it comes to our EBIT in the first two 

Interview with Markus Bernhard  
CEO mobilezone Group
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months – is only slightly below the previous 
year's strong performance. Customers visit 
our 123 shops with more purpose and the 
intention to buy.

The pandemic showed us that we have a 
resilient business model. When the first 
lockdown began in mid-March, we were 
ready for home working right from the first 
day. Going forward we will remember that 
video conferences via Teams, Zoom or Sky-
pe are part of everyday life and simplify our 
communication with internal as well as ex-
ternal contact persons, particularly in ex-
changes between Germany and Switzer-
land.

ON 13 MAY 2020, MOBILEZONE WAS 
ONE OF THE FIRST SIX-LISTED COMPA-
NIES TO ADJUST ITS FINANCIAL TARGETS 
FOR 2020. WHAT IS YOUR ASSESSMENT 
HERE?

We actually communicated our financial 
guidance for 2020 and 2021 very early; it 
was two days after the end of the lockdown. 
We experienced huge support for this, both 
internally and externally. Ultimately, with an 
EBIT of CHF 44 million, our estimate – wit-
hout expecting a second wave – was slightly 
above the given range of CHF 38 to 43 mil-
lion.

IN THE 2020 SEMI-ANNUAL REPORT, YOU 
SAID THAT YOU SEE THE YEAR 2020 AS A 
TRANSITION YEAR IN WHICH THE COM-
PANIES WITHIN THE GROUP ARE TO BE 
CLEARLY POSITIONED AND THEIR RES-
PECTIVE PRO FILES REFINED. WHERE ARE 
YOU WITH THIS CONSOLIDATION PRO-
CESS?
Our restructuring measures were comple-
ted with the sale of the repair business in 
Austria in December and the sale of the 
wholesale business in Germany at the end 

of January 2021. We are now optimally posi-
tioned with regard to our core business and 
are not planning any more changes in the 
rest of fiscal year 2021.

YOU MAKE THE MAJORITY OF THE RE-
VENUE IN THE SWISS BUSINESS IN YOUR 
120+ SHOPS. THE CORONAVIRUS LED TO 
A COUNTRY-WIDE LOCKDOWN IN THE 
SPRING. DID YOU TAKE ANY MEASURES, 
FOR EXAMPLE IN CONNECTION WITH IN-
VESTMENTS IN THE ONLINE BUSINESS?
During the 8-week lockdown in Switzerland 
as of mid-March, we were still able to keep 
24 of our 123 shops open, but with reduced 
business hours. In the process, we adhered 
to the ordinance issued by the Swiss Fede-
ral Council, according to which shops in the 
telecommunications sector were able to re-
main open. During the lockdown, a drop of 
61 percent was measured in customer traffic 
in the open shops. The tougher measures 
as of November 2020 had much less of an 
impact on our business. 

By 2022, we want to present all of our 120 
shops in Switzerland in the newest layout. 
We remodelled 20 shops in fiscal year 
2020. We are planning on renovating 
around 45 shops in 2021.

We are planning to expand the online busi-
ness in 2021 and 2022, both in Switzerland 
and Germany. We are creating additional 
jobs in Switzerland and continue to invest in 
technology. 

MOBILETOUCH, THE SUBSIDIARY OF 
MOBILEZONE, REPORTED THAT REPAIRS 
DECREASED BY 57 PERCENT IN THE FIRST 
HALF-YEAR OF 2020. WHAT WERE THE 
REASONS FOR THIS, AND HOW DOES THE 
REPAIR BUSINESS LOOK TODAY?
The pandemic had a significant impact on 
the repair business, both in Switzerland and 
in Austria. Many of our partners had to close 
some of their shops. We were able to sell 
the business in Austria in December 2020. 
In the meantime, the Swiss repair business 
has recovered, and we are confident that we 
will achieve a positive result during the 
course of fiscal year 2021. The Swiss repair 
business is an important pillar of our value-
creation chain in the Swiss business model. 

Markus Bernhard, CEO in conversation with Martina Högger, Senior Manager PR about 
the course of business for the mobilezone Group. 
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INTERVIEW WITH MARKUS BERNHARD

Besides the traditional repair business, 
used, repurchased smartphones, for ex-
ample, are being reconditioned and integ-
rated back into smartphone circulation with 
our jusit brand that was launched in the 
summer. The used smartphones are sold on 
www.get-jusit.ch as well as offline in selec-
ted mobilezone shops. Smartphone circula-
tion is one of four focal topics within our 
sustainability strategy.

YOU HAVE ALREADY MENTIONED THAT 
YOU SOLD THE REPAIR BUSINESS (MO-
BILETOUCH AUSTRIA) IN AUSTRIA AT THE 
END OF 2020. IS THE SALE CONNECTED 
TO THE SHRINKING REPAIR BUSINESS?
As part of continuing efforts to focus on our 
core strategy and business activities in Swit-
zerland and Germany, we sold our Austrian 

repair business to an 
investor from the in-
dustrial sector. In 
contrast, the repair 
business in Switzer-
land is strategically 
very important to us, 
and we will stick with 
it in the future, too.

IN THE SEMI-ANNU-
AL REPORT, YOU 
EXPRESSED CON-

FIDENCE IN CONNECTION WITH THE B2B 
BUSINESS. HAS THIS BEEN VINDICATED?
The Swiss B2B business "survived" the pan-
demic unscathed and achieved an excellent 
result. We were able to expand further, es-
pecially our service business with fleet ma-
nagement and Device as a Service. The B2B 
business in Germany also suffered a great 
deal in the second half-year due to the shop 
closures of our retail partners. mobilezone 
does not operate any of its own physical 
shops in Germany.

VARIOUS ACQUISITIONS WERE IN THE 
FORE GROUND IN PAST YEARS – THE TO-
PIC OF MARKET SHARE GAINS IS FIRMLY 
ANCHORED IN THE STRATEGY. HOWE-
VER, YOU SAID IN THE SEMI-ANNUAL RE-
PORT THAT NO EXPANSIONS ARE PLAN-
NED IN GERMANY IN THE NEXT ONE TO 
TWO YEARS. HOW ARE YOU PLANNING 
TO EXPAND DESPITE THIS?
Following the three acquisitions in Germa-
ny since 2015, we have used the year 2020 
to consolidate and reorganise the business 
activities. We are planning to grow online. 
In the past, we utilised our core competence 
in the mobile phone card business to sell 
contracts via our online platforms. At 
567,000 (previous year: 542,000) activated 
contracts, we are the number 1 in Germany 
in the indirect online business. 

We launched pricezilla.de in November, a 
new brand for products related to mobile 
phones and connectivity, and for the first 
time, we are offering products such as tab-
lets, wearables, Bluetooth speakers, head-
phones, earbuds and airpods or accesso-
ries such as plugs and cables, docking 
stations, smartphone cases and screen pro-
tectors from a great variety of manufactur-
ers without a mobile phone contract. With 
the new brand, we intend to further advan-
ce our online strategy and reach new custo-
mer groups.

LAST YEAR, B2B SALES ACTIVITIES IN 
GERMANY WERE CONSOLIDATED UNDER 
THE UMBRELLA OF MOBILEZONE HAN-
DEL. CAN YOU MAKE AN INITIAL ASSESS-
MENT?
It will soon be six years since we acquired 
einsAmobile GmbH in March 2015 and sig-
nificantly expanded the business in Germa-
ny by buying TPHCom at the beginning of 
2018 and SH in mid-2019. The businesses 
were mostly organised autonomously. By 
consolidating the B2B business areas of the 
individual companies in the mobilezone 
Handel company, we have arranged our or-
ganisation in Germany more efficiently. The 
result is that processes in the organisation 
are simplified, any duplication of efforts is 
avoided if at all possible, and at the same 
time, we make significant cost-savings. We 
sold 75 percent of the shares in einsAmobi-
le GmbH with the remaining wholesale 
business area in January 2021.

  The Swiss B2B  
business "survived" the 
pandemic unscathed and 
achieved an excellent 
result.
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topic of sustainability and also conducted a 
workshop with management. In the pro-
cess, the impacts in our supply chain were 
brought up, and we discussed what potenti-
al influence mobilezone has there. The sus-
tainability strategy of mobilezone resulted 
from this, based on the four focal topics of 
employees, customers, smartphone circula-
tion and environmental management. It 
was always important for us to remain close 
to the core business with our strategy. Ano-
ther of our key objectives was to prepare 
our sustainability report in such a way as to 
ensure that our sustainability data is clear, 
transparent and available to our sharehol-
ders, analysts and other interested parties. 
With this in mind, we decided in favour of 
reporting according to GRI standards. You 
can see the result from page 28 onwards.

SPEAKING OF SUSTAINABILITY: IN SEP-
TEMBER, YOU LAUNCHED JUSIT, THE 
FIRST SWISS PRODUCT BRAND FOR 
USED SMARTPHONES. IS THAT A PROJECT 
WITH A POSITIVE IMPACT ON THE SUPPLY 
CHAIN IN TERMS OF SMARTPHONE CIR-
CULATION?
Yes, from the viewpoint of sustainability, it 
makes sense to keep mobile phones in cir-
culation for longer. We have already been 
taking back no longer needed smartphones 
for many years in order to have them tes-
ted, cleaned and repaired by our own certi-
fied and manufacturer-authorised technici-
ans. The devices come from our business 
area, but also from shop customers from 
whom we buy back old smartphones for the 
salvage value. With jusit, we established the 
necessary brand to achieve our objective of 
expanding our position as the number 1 in 
the area of used smartphones. That is eco-
logically and economically very sensible. 

HOW DO YOU WANT TO ACHIEVE THESE 
OBJECTIVES?
We rolled out the physical offer in ten of 
our more than 120 mobilezone shops 
through to the end of 2020. The plan is to 
equip other shops with the jusit offer by 
the end of 2021.

AT THE END OF 2020, YOU APPOINTED 
JENS BARTH TO THE GROUP MANAGE-
MENT AS CHIEF DIGITAL OFFICER. WHAT 
ARE YOUR EXPECTATIONS OF THIS NEW 
ADDITION TO THE GROUP MANAGEMENT?
With Jens, we have a proven digital expert 
in our ranks who will decisively codetermi-
ne the online strategy of the mobilezone 
Group. With his more than 20 years of ex-
perience in the telecommunications market, 
he will strengthen our online business even 
more and make an important contribution 
to our growth strategy.

LET US DARE TO TAKE A LOOK INTO THE 
FUTURE: WHAT IS MOBILEZONE DOING 
TO BE FIT FOR THE FUTURE?
In many ways, we will continue to be very 
agile in the market and do everything pos-
sible in our day-to-day work to effectively 
strengthen our strategic pillars:

  growth, or rather acquiring market share 

  strengthening and expanding the online 
presence 

  expanding our portfolio of B2B and  
B2C services

  strengthening the drive-to-shop strategy 
in Switzerland as part of the omni-
channel strategy

  developing recurring income

  continuing an attractive dividend and 
distribution policy

  dedicating ourselves to sustainability and 
continuing the sustainability strategy

YOU HAVE ALREADY MENTIONED THE 
SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY. EVERYONE IS 
TALKING ABOUT SUSTAINABILITY. MANY 
COMPANIES ARE DEVELOPING A STRAT-
EGY AND EXECUTING MEASURES IN THIS 
AREA. WHAT DOES THE MOBILEZONE 
SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY LOOK LIKE?
The topic of sustainability is not just limited 
to ecological issues, it also covers economic 
and social concerns. In this regard,  
mobilezone has already been sustainable 
for a long time – with fair and modern wor-
king conditions and remuneration, modern 
workplaces and attractive fringe benefits for 
employees. We have been training appren-
tices in the company since 2001. In additi-
on, we launched a trainee programme in 
2020 that has brought more young talent 
into the company. 

We already reported on the topic of sustai-
nability in the 2019 annual report, but deci-
ded to tackle the topic more strategically 
during the course of this year. Consequent-
ly, we founded a project team during the 
first lockdown. It surveyed our employees 
across the Group as well as the most impor-
tant external stakeholders in a materiality 
analysis. In addition, the team investigated 
the different business activities of the com-
pany in an impact analysis concerning the 

  In many ways, we will continue to be very agile in 
the market and do everything possible in our day-to-day 
work to effectively strengthen our strategic pillars.
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Strategy 

STRATEGY

The strategic goals of mobilezone are on the 
one hand the cornerstones of its pre vious 
business development: independence, cus-
tomer focus and cooperation as partners 
with mobile communications providers and 
device manufacturers. These are to undergo 
continuous further development. On the one 
hand, mobilezone intends to continue to 
grow organically through the expansion of 
the product range and sales channels and 
externally through more company take-
overs. The multiplicity of tariff offers makes 
independent competent advice necessary. 
Through its technically trained employees, 
mobilezone offers its customers this support 
in purchase decisions for the optimal tariff 
plan of mobile communications providers 
and the matching device brand both in the 
shops and online.

Growth  
and acquisition  
of market share
mobilezone also intends to continue the 
existing growth course in future. This means 
growth in the existing business fields, espe-
cially in the areas online, Swiss retail, servi-
ces and specialist retail (B2B). The  
mobilezone Group concludes over a million 
mobile communications contracts a year in 
Germany alone. Over half of these are mar-
keted via online platforms. Moreover,  
mobilezone operates its own television 
channel to sell mobile communications con-
tracts in the form of handystar.de.  
mobilezone is continually expanding its re-
pair and service offer in the service busi-
ness. In online business, growth is to be 
supported by the expansion of online 
shops. Currently, mobilezone generates 
about CHF 20 million in Switzerland by sel-
ling accessories in the shops. No accesso-
ries are being sold in Germany at the mo-
ment via the online channels sparhandy.de 
and deinhandy.de. The market in Germany 
for accessories is about ten times bigger 
than the market in Switzerland. 

By launching the online brand pricezilla.de, 
mobilezone created a brand for products 
related to the subject mobile communica-
tions and connectivity. pricezilla.de offers 
the products of all kinds of manufacturers at 
attractive prices with an immediate 
purchase or flexible interest-free financing 
options. With the new brand, mobilezone 

Expansion of online presence

Expansion of service provision offers and  
development of recurrent revenue

Growth and acquisition of market share

Dividend and distribution policy

Sustainability

Strategic focus

Omnichannel platform
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Deutschland intends to reach new customer 
groups in the accessory market as well. 
Growth in specialist trade (B2B) is sought 
via acquiring market share. Organic growth 
can be supported by additional company 
purchases. In the next one to two years, the 
expansion strategy will be restricted to 
Switzerland. In Germany, mobilezone mer-
ged the business activities of all companies 
in 2020.

Expansion of  
online presence

mobilezone is in an attractive market positi-
on as number 1 in indirect online business in 
Germany with the market leading portals 
sparhandy.de and deinhandy.de. By bund-
ling these two brands as well as DeinHome, 
Handystar, high and HandyInRaten under 
the powwow brand, mobilezone plans to 
further expand its market leadership in the 
indirect telecommunications market. And 
with pricezilla.de, mobilezone Deutschland 
aims to further expedite its online strategy. 

In Switzerland, expanding the online pre-
sence and drive-to-shop approach are es-
sential components of the online market 
strategy. 

Expansion of service 
provision offers and 
development of re-
current revenue
Today, mobilezone already offers a wide 
range of services for business and private 
customers. Further expansion of the servi-
ces offered is an important strategic focus in 
order to achieve further growth in returns 
from services. Fleet management from the 
Swiss business customer segment includes 
the company-wide management of the en-
tire device fleet and management of all in-
terfaces to the mobile communications pro-
vider. An attractive offer has been 
developed for business customers in the 
form of Device-as-a-Service model. It provi-
des companies with smartphones and tab-
lets for a monthly flat rate and assumes all 
services for the smooth operation of the 
device pool. Companies benefit from grea-
tly reduced expense in the procurement 

and setup of devices and lower total costs. 
mobilezone has created an easily usable 
and attractive offer for companies with De-
vice-as-a-Service. 

By launching the mobilezone Service+ 
subscription, mobilezone has developed a 
service subscription for private customers. 
Over 8,000 subscriptions were sold in fiscal 
year 2020. The further development of the 
service offer is an important issue for  
mobilezone, especially in Switzerland. 

mobilezone has continually expanded its 
recurrent revenue through service offers in 
fleet management, Device-as-a-Service and 
the service subscription.

By launching the product brand jusit,  
mobilezone has created a product for used 
and reprocessed smartphones in Switzer-
land and in this way offers the perfect pro-
duct for everyone who sets value on a susta-
inable way of life or is looking for an 
affordable alternative for a second device.

Dividend and  
distribution policy

The investment programme is to be conti-
nued and an attractive dividend distributed 
to shareholders on the basis of a solid ba-
lance sheet, stable cash flows and secure, 
affordable financing. mobilezone intends 
to distribute up to 75 percent of the net pro-
fit and has set itself the aim of a net debt/
EBITDA ratio of 2.0.
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STRATEGY

Unique background: The mobilezone 
shop on the premises of Mont Blanc 
post office in Geneva.

Sustainability
Keeping the economic activities of the com-
pany in harmony with sustainable and res-
ponsible business practice is a matter of 
course for mobilezone. It is important to 
mobilezone that the sustainability strategy 
is coordinated with the core activities of the 
company. Accordingly, mobilezone has de-
veloped a sustainability strategy based and 
developed on the four central subjects em-
ployees, customers, smartphone cycle and 
environmental management. 

Well-trained and motivated employees 
make a decisive contribution to sustainable 
economic success for mobilezone. Accor-
dingly, we ensure that they have modern, 
contemporary and fair working conditions 
and encounter a lived and cultivated egali-
tarian feedback culture. 

mobilezone creates added value for its cus-
tomers through fair, honest advice at the 
interface between customers, mobile com-
munications providers and device manufac-
turers. To create and maintain a trust-based 
and sustainable customer relationship,  
mobilezone has come up with specific mea-
sures. 

Apart from its comprehensive product ran-
ge of new devices, mobilezone has made a 
valuable contribution to sustainable recyc-
ling and conserving valuable resources – 
especially with regard to the manufacture of 
new devices – in the form of jusit, the brand 
for used and reprocessed smartphones and 
a comprehensive range of repairs. In this 
connection, mobilezone relies on sustaina-
ble packaging and accessories and has im-
plemented measures to cut energy con-
sumption.
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mobilezone B2C
Leading independent 

telecommunications pro-
vider in the field of mo-
bile and fixed-line tele-
phony, TV & Internet.

mobilezone B2B
Leading service provi-

der for enterprise mobi-
le management

Largest repair service 
provider for mobile de-

vices in Switzerland

Product brand for 
reprocessed smart-
phones 

Repair
Workshops

Provider of mobile, 
fixed-line and Inter-
net subscriptions

mobilezone 
Deutschland

Independent provider 
of affordable mobile 
subscriptions and 
smartphones (bundles)

Provider of mobile, 
fixed-line and Internet 
subscriptions

Independent provider 
for smartphones, 
tablets and mobile 
subscriptions (bundles)

Sale of smartphones, 
accessories and con-
nectivity products wit-
hout subscription

TV channel with offers 
related to smartphones 
and mobile subscriptions

Broker for mobile and 
fixed-line network 

contracts

Mediation of mobile 
communications con-

tracts and sale of mobile 
telephones

mobilezone at a glance

The mobilezone Group, based in Rotkreuz 
in Switzerland, was established in 1999 and 
today is the leading, independent telecom-
munications specialist in the field of mobile 
and fixed-line telephony. The mobilezone 
Group operates in Switzerland and Germa-
ny. It employs around 1,200 staff at its sites 
in Rotkreuz, Urnäsch, Zweidlen, Berlin, Co-
logne, Bochum and Münster.  

mobilezone ag offers a complete smart-
phone range, including accessories and 
wearables as well as subscriptions for mobile 
and landline telephony, digital TV and Inter-
net throughout Switzerland in over 120 
shops. Independent specialist advice and 
other services supplement the product ran-
ge. mobilezone sells used and reprocessed 
smartphones at attractive prices under the 
brand jusit. In its ten mobilezone workshops, 
mobilezone offers repair services and opera-
tes repair centres for various partners. 
mobilezone business offers independent ad-
vice and individual customer solutions in the 
field of telecommunications for SMEs and 
big companies. TalkTalk is a provider in the 
fields of mobile, fixed-line and Internet, who-
se products are available online at talktalk.ch 

and in the over 120 mobilezone shops. 
mobiletouch offers repair and logistics servi-
ces in Switzerland for mobile products such 
as smartphones, tablets and other devices.

All e-commerce end customer brands are 
merged in the companies powwow GmbH 
and powwow Berlin, which are specialised 
in the mediation of mobile communications 
contracts and the sale of mobile telephones 
in Germany. Indirect sales is centrally 
bundled under the umbrella brand 
mobilezone Handel. 

Mediation of mobile 
communications con-

tracts and sale of mobile 
telephones

DE

CH

Board of Directors

Urs T. Fischer
Chairman

Michael Haubrich
Independent director

Peter K. Neuenschwander 
Independent director

Gabriela Theus
Independent director

Group Management

Markus Bernhard 
CEO Group

Andreas Fecker
CFO Group

Roger Wassmer
CEO Switzerland

Wilke Stroman
CEO Germany

Jens Barth
CDO Group

Subscriptions, smart-
phones, accessories & 
services in 123 shops
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mobilezone has 123 shops of its own in Swit-
zerland, which offer a complete smartpho-
ne product range, including accessories, 
wearables and subscriptions for mobile and 
fixed-line telephony, digital TV and Internet 
from Swisscom, Sunrise, Salt, UPC, M-Bud-
get, TalkTalk, Yallo and Wingo. The offer is 
supplemented by independent specialist 
advice and numerous services, such as re-
pairs in the mobilezone workshops, our 
own insurance product "Protect-Clever", the 
Service+ subscription, the insurance pro-
ducts AppleCare+, data transfers and the 
repurchase programme for used mobile te-
lephones. TalkTalk is the brand under which 
mobilezone offers its own postpaid and 
prepaid subscriptions, fixed-line telephony 
and Internet. In addition, mobilezone sells 
used and reprocessed smartphones under 
the brand jusit.

mobilezone offers independent advice and 
individual customer solutions for SMEs and 
big companies and operates here as the in-
terface between mobile communications 
providers, the device manufacturers and 
companies. Moreover, mobilezone offers 
repair and associated logistics services for 
mobile telephones, tablets and other elect-
ronic devices. Apart from its ten mobilezone 
workshops, mobilezone operates repair 
centres for various partners. 

Private customers
Shops
mobilezone relies on the drive-to-shop stra-
tegy in Switzerland Combined with the 
further development of online platforms, 
mobilezone has set itself the aim of provi-
ding tailor-made and appropriate informa-
tion and the desired portfolio to its custo-
mers across all sales channels to ensure that 
the advice and sales deal can be realised at 
the desired location online or offline. Accor-
dingly, mobilezone also relies heavily on 
physical shops. The sales personnel is an ad-
vertisement for mobilezone and in many ca-

ses an intention to perhaps buy already 
present online is brought to a close, since 
customers enjoy the haptic experience in 
the shops. 

To continue facilitating an optimal 
purchasing experience for customers, all 
mobilezone shops will be converted and 
renovated to the latest shop layout by 2022 
as well as other shop-in-shop concepts. 
With the pilot shops in Mont-Blanc post of-
fice in Geneva and in the post office in 
Aarau, mobilezone has for the first time im-
plemented shops with a complete range on 
the shop floor space of a partner company. 

Devices, brands 
and services
There were a series of important launches in 
2020 in smartphones. Samsung launched 
the models Samsung Galaxy S20 Ultra 5G, 
S20+ and S20 in February. Samsung set new 
standards in relation to camera performance 
and design with the S20 Ultra 5G and the 
company launched the first horizontal fol-
ding smartphone in the form of the Galaxy 
Z Flip. In August, Samsung doubled down 
with the new Galaxy Note models Galaxy 
Note20 Ultra 5G and Note20 5G. 

Market area Switzerland 

MARKET AREA SWITZERLAND

CH

Executive Board Switzerland

Roger Wassmer
CEO Switzerland

Andreas Fecker 
CFO

Thomas Gülünay
Managing Director B2B

Nicola Lippolis
Director Sales B2C

Gregor Vogt 
Director Marketing & 
Customer Experience 

Claudia Schumacher
Director Human Resources

Apple also presented new devices in 2020: 
Apple unveiled an affordable but high per-
formance device with the second genera-
tion of the iPhone SE. In addition, Apple 
launched the models iPhone 12, iPhone 12 
mini, iPhone 12 Pro and iPhone 12 Pro Max. 
The product range currently includes the 
biggest smartphone on the market and the 
handy little iPhone 12. 

OPPO published a new high-end product 
last year in the form of the Find X2 Pro. 

In 2019, mobilezone launched a carefree 
package for every smartphone owner with 
the Service+ subscription. This includes ser-
vices, such as free technical support, dis-
counts on repairs and many other advanta-
ges. We managed to continue this success 
story in the past fiscal year 2020 with over 
8,000 subscriptions sold (previous year: 
about 500 Service+ subscriptions sold).

mobilezone entered into cooperation with 
Carvolution, the leading provider of car 
subscriptions, in the previous fiscal year. 
Interested parties could conclude car 
subscriptions in 27 mobilezone shops. Pre-

mobilezone B2C mobilezone B2B
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viously, this had only been possible on-
line. mobilezone has expanded eve-
rything it offers for a mobile life with this 
product.

jusit
jusit is mobilezone's brand for used and 
reprocessed smartphones of the brands 
Apple, Samsung and Huawei. The used de-
vices are taken back, checked and repaired 
by the manufacturers' own certified techni-
cians and sold online at get-jusit.ch and in 
ten selected mobilezone shops throughout 
Switzerland. The devices are available in 
four quality classes. mobilezone took back 
the devices in the quality class "Original 
packaging" in their original packaging. 
The quality corresponds to that of a new 
device. Devices in the quality class "like 
new" have absolutely no signs of usage 
and look like new devices. Devices desig-
nated "very good" may have minimal signs 
of usage. These are scarcely noticeable 
and visible. Devices in the fourth quality 
level "Good" have slight signs of usage. All 
jusit devices can also be bought with a 
TalkTalk subscription. In future, the jusit 
product range is to be further expanded. 
Apart from other smartphone models, 
matching subscriptions and entire service 
packages are planned.

TalkTalk
TalkTalk is mobilezone's in-house Mobile 
Virtual Network Operator (MVNO). TalkTalk 
operates in the fields of mobile networks, 
voice-over-IP solutions, fixed-line telepho-
ny, Internet, business and instalment pay-
ments for smartphones. TalkTalk succeeded 
in increasing the number of customers in 
the postpaid field from 26,800 to 31,300 at 
the end of 2020. 

mobilezone Club
mobilezone developed a customer benefit 
programme in 2020 in the form of the  
mobilezone Club. As a result, customers of 
the company can collect points when ma-
king purchases, among other things, which 
they can use for payment. In addition, club 
members are informed first about new pro-
ducts and prioritised when new devices are 
launched. Furthermore, they can benefit 
from selected campaigns. mobilezone gai-
ned about 15,000 club members in fiscal 
year 2020.

Repairs business
The demand for repair services also remai-
ned relatively high in fiscal year 2020 – the 
mobilezone subsidiary mobiletouch logged 
up about 159,000 repairs (previous year: 
161,000). mobilezone inspected the loca-
tions of the workshops accordingly. The first 
mobilezone workshop in Western Switzer-
land opened with the location in the  

Mont-Blanc post office in Geneva. Another 
was set up in Zurich's Glatt shopping centre. 
Currently, mobilezone operates a total of 
ten workshops in all three language regions 
in Switzerland.

In 2020, Samsung and Swisscom transferred 
their entire repair volumes to mobilezone.

New look: TalkTalk underwent 
comprehensive rebranding.

Galactically good: jusit – the new brand for used smartphones.
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MARKET AREA SWITZERLAND

Business customers
mobilezone B2B 
Expanding services is an important cornersto-
ne in mobilezone's strategy. The mobilezone 
experts assume all work related to the ma-
nagement of mobile subscriptions and de-
vices as general contractors. mobilezone 
responds to customers' individual needs 
with tailor-made offers in order to find the 
best solution for them. This can range 
from managing mobile subscriptions and 
device maintenance to clarifying details 
with the insurer in the event of a claim. But 
it can also involve the complete outsour-
cing of services and processes in fleet ma-
nagement. The service spectrum ranges 
from standardised products to complex 
individual customer solutions. 

The smartphones and subscriptions availa-
ble to the employees of a company are pre-
sented on an online customer portal by  
mobilezone. The customer portal was deve-
loped together with the customer and is 
consequently tailored to its wishes. Apart 
from device procurement, the entire admi-
nistration of the company contracts is map-
ped. The employees' complete joining and 
leaving process is individually configured, 
according to customer preferences. Thanks 
to the integration of customer-specific au-
thorisation processes, customer needs can 
in addition be addressed even better. 

mobilezone introduced Device as a Service 
in fiscal year 2020 for business customers. 
Instead of buying mobile telephones and 
tablets, companies can procure their mobi-
le device fleet from mobilezone as mana-
ged service. 

Another service for major customers is that 
their employees can receive personal ad-
vice in one of 123 mobilezone shop as well 
as in the online shop. 
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Digital TV and  
Internet contracts
(Number of contracts)

Mobile communi-
cations accessories
(Sales in CHF million)

Mobile communi-
cations contracts
(Number of contracts)

Fleet management
(Sales in CHF million)
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mobilezone offers custo-
mers digital TV and Internet 
contracts from Swisscom, 
Sunrise, Salt and UPC. The 
number of contracts negot-
iated in 2020 was  146,000 
(previous year: 160,000). 

In our over 120 mobilezone 
shops as well as online, 
we offer the biggest range 
in accessories for mobile 
devices in Switzerland. In 
2020, sales were CHF 21.5 
million (previous year  
CHF 20.4 million).

mobilezone offers custo-
mers price plans from all 
leading telecommunications 
providers. The number of 
mobile communications 
contracts negotiated in 
2020 was 234,000 (previous 
year: 236,000). 

mobilezone manages over 
236,000 mobile communi-
cations connections in the 
outsourcing of services and 
processes for business cus-
tomers. In 2020, sales were 
CHF 3.7 million (previous 
year CHF 3.4 million).
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mobilezone Service+

(Number of subscriptions)

Services
(Sales in CHF million)

Since June 2019, mobilezone has 
been offering its own service 
subscription for mobile tele-
phones. Here, customers can 
benefit from comprehensive 
services related to mobile tele-
phones, such as free technical 
support, data transfer, guaran-
tee extension and other servi-
ces. In 2020, 8,400 subscrip-
tions (previous year 500) were 
concluded.

mobilezone offers numerous 
services for mobile devices at 
the POS, such as guarantee 
extensions, technical support, 
setting up mobile phones, 
data transfer and much more. 
In 2020, sales were CHF 2.8 
million (previous year: CHF 3 
million).
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mobilezone 
Deutschland

DE

mobilezone operates two strategic business 
fields in Germany:

   B2C e-commerce with powwow

   Indirect B2B commerce (stationary and 
e-commerce) with mobilezone Handel

All of the e-commerce end customer brands 
are grouped in powwow. Indirect sales is 
centrally bundled under the umbrella brand 
mobilezone Handel. The consolidation and 
refocusing of the two business areas was in-
itiated in fiscal year 2020 and concluded 
with the sale of the wholesale business at 
the end of January 2021.

mobilezone Deutschland is the partner of 
the network operators Vodafone, Deutsche 
Telekom and Telefónica Deutschland as well 
as the service providers freenet and Dri-
lisch. In addition, mobilezone Deutschland 
cooperates as partner with all relevant ma-
nufacturers of smartphones, tablets and 
wearables, such as Apple, Samsung, Hua-
wei and Xiaomi. 

In indirect online business, mobilezone 
Deutschland is number one with the brands 
sparhandy.de and deinhandy.de as well as 
the TV home shopping channel Handystar 
by a wide margin to its closest competitors 
in the marketing of mobile communications 
subscriptions focused on attractive bundle 
deals involving smartphones and the mat-
ching tariff. mobilezone has established its-
elf as the market leader in online retailing in 
Germany with sparhandy.de and deinhan-
dy.de and can look back on a very positive 
development. Investments made in past 
years in developing the website and 
downstream customer processes have paid 
off here. The creation of Handystar was a 
logical supplement to the online product, 
which reaches a contrary target group. In 
addition, a new brand was created for the 
young target group: The brand "High" as 
mobile virtual network operator (MVNO) 
offers affordable SIM-only tariffs from the 
Deutsche Telekom network. The new price-
zilla.de portal opened just a few weeks ago. 

Market area Germany

MARKET AREA GERMANY

Executive Board Germany

Wilke Stroman
CEO Germany

Florian Jung
CFO Germany

Jens Barth
CDO Group

Thorsten Fluck
Managing Director 

Dieter Kossmeier
Managing Director
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Via its own platforms  
sparhandy.de, deinhandy.de,  
and its own TV channel  
handystar.de and distribution 
partners in 2020, mobilezone 
mediated over 567,000  
mobile communications and 
DSL/ Internet contracts  
(previous year: 542,000).

In the offline sector, mobilezone 
mediates mobile communi-
cations and DSL / Internet 
contracts via A-shops, specialist 
retail and specialist markets. In 
2020, over 452,000 (previous 
year: 505,000) contracts were 
mediated:

pricezilla.de offers products from all kinds 
of manufacturers at attractive prices – with 
immediate purchase or flexible interest-free 
financing options. By launching Pricezilla, 
powwow has created an extension to the 
established brands sparhandy.de and dein-
handy.de as well as the TV channel Han-
dystar. This means an attractive alternative 
can be offered to those customers who pre-
fer to purchase their hardware without a 
mobile subscription and are looking for ad-
ditional connectivity products such as tab-
lets, wearables, bluetooth speakers, head-
phones, earbuds and airpods, or 
accessories such as plugs and cables, do-
cking stations, smartphone cases and pro-
tective films. 

Apart from the end customer business,  
mobilezone is also active in the business 
customer segment: The company is respon-
sible for the purchasing, distribution and 
logistics of a large, heterogeneous partner 
landscape with its indirect distribution busi-
ness under the brands mobilezone Handel 
and SH. This includes the end customer 
brands MEDIMAX, EP: and various e-com-
merce retail partners such as Preisbörse24, 
Logitel and Motion TM. In addition, retail 
and distribu tion partners such as Kessler 
and Talk-Point, Friends Mobile, and a large 
number of other key account partners, in-
dependent specialist retailers, and A-Shop 
concept operators are also part of the part-
ner group.
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INTERVIEW WITH JENS BARTH

Interview with Jens Barth  
Chief Digital Officer of the mobilezone Group 
and Co-CEO of powwow

WE ARE LOOKING BACK AT A TURBULENT 
FISCAL YEAR 2020. THE ONLINE BUSINESS 
EXPERIENCED A BOOM THANKS TO THE 
CORONAVIRUS. HOW IS MOBILEZONE 
GERMANY DOING, OR RATHER ITS COMPA-
NIES?
All in all, we can be very satisfied with the  
e-commerce business, despite external cir-
cumstances such as, for example, the Huawei 
Android ban or a flattening innovation curve 
for smartphones. With the launch of the iPho-
ne 12, the fourth quarter of 2020 was particu-
larly strong after a somewhat slower third 
quarter. The offline business area with our 
B2B partners suffered a great deal under the 
lockdown and the corresponding reluctance 
of customers to buy. The fourth quarter of 
2020 was characterised by cautious opti-
mism. However, the second wave, with many 
closed businesses, 
led to significantly re-
duced sales volumes. 

We dealt with the 
lockdown well as a 
team, and changed 
over chiefly to Flex 
Office in our offices 
in April due to coro-
navirus cases. We 
were helped in this by the fact that working 
flexibly via digital tools was already anchored 
in our culture. The respective infrastructure 
was therefore already available and establis-
hed, and it worked perfectly.

THE GERMAN ONLINE BUSINESS CONTINU-
ED TO GROW IN THE FIRST SIX MONTHS OF 
2020. BY 30 JUNE 2020, A NET OF MORE 
THAN 284,000 MOBILE PHONE CONTRACTS 
WERE CONCLUDED ONLINE. HOW SATIS-
FIED ARE YOU WITH THE SECOND HALF OF 
THE YEAR?
Altogether, we concluded 567,000 contracts 
online in fiscal year 2020. This corresponds to 
an increase of 25,000 contracts or 4.6 percent 
compared to the previous year. 

We achieved 492,000 or 87 percent (previous 
year: 455,000 or 84 percent) via our own on-
line platforms such as sparhandy.de and 
deinhandy.de as well as our own TV channel 
Handystar. As a result, the brands with direct 
end customer access have clearly gained in 
importance. For the current fiscal year, after 
a good start to the new year, we are expec-
ting the volume to increase in the mid-sing-
le-digit range.

YOU LAUNCHED THE PRICEZILLA.DE 
BRAND IN NOVEMBER 2020 TO FURTHER 
PROMOTE THE ONLINE STRATEGY AND 
REACH NEW CUSTOMER GROUPS. WHAT IS 
YOUR INITIAL ASSESSMENT?
We are very satisfied with the launch and 
placement of pricezilla.de. We started it in the 
Black Week in November 2020. The first weeks 

were also commer-
cially very successful. 
We are especially 
grateful to our indust-
ry partners who gave 
us a tremendous 
amount of support in 
the process of tack-
ling the "connectivity 
consumer electro-
nics" market seg-

ment. In 2021, we are planning a top-5 place-
ment in e-commerce with sales in the range of 
EUR 20 million. So, we still have a lot to do. 

IN 2019, YOU MENTIONED THAT YOU 
WOULD LIKE TO MAKE IN-LIFE SERVICES, 
SUCH AS SMARTPHONE INSURANCE FOR 
EXAMPLE, A FOCUS. HOW IS THE BUSINESS 
GOING?

In 2020, we sold more than 50,000 insu-
rance policies and assume that the market 
will continue to grow in 2021, because very 
high-quality devices are still being sold. Ac-
tually, we wanted to put our own product 
on the market in mid-2020 under the brand  
"staylive." However, the coronavirus crisis 

unfortunately threw a spanner in the works. 
Under those circumstances, with numerous 
constraints and social distancing regulations, 
it was not possible to set up a new team as 
a start-up company. Therefore, with a heavy 
heart, we postponed the matter until the new 
fiscal year.

YOU WERE APPOINTED TO THE GROUP MA-
NAGEMENT OF THE MOBILEZONE GROUP 
ON 1 JANUARY 2021. WHAT ARE YOUR DU-
TIES, AND WHAT HAS CHANGED IN YOUR 
DAY-TO-DAY WORK?
As the CDO, I, together with my Group Ma-
nagement colleagues, developers and time 
managers, am responsible for the digitalisa-
tion of the mobilezone Group and its subsi-
diaries. 

We are currently working on very exciting de-
velopments with the "Digital Growth" project 
for our core business in Switzerland. This in-
cludes the design for the next stage in the 
evolution of the omnichannel business, in 
connection with a boost to our e-commerce 
business for the mobilezone and TalkTalk 
brands. To achieve this, we have set ourselves 
up as an expert project team with external 
support, and are developing our digital strat-
egy around topics like multichannel, brand 
management, performance marketing and 
portfolio expansions. The second, large 
block is the project called "Restart Machine" 
in Germany, in which we secure the technical 
innovation of the pure e-commerce brands 
sparhandy.de, deinhandy.de, and pricezilla.
de, and expand ourmarket leadership 
through a combination of a first-class user ex-
perience and top subscription and hardware 
offers.

I have considerably more to do with the 
team in Switzerland in my everyday life now, 
and deal a lot with the special features of the 
Swiss market and the successful further de-
velopment of our retail/omnichannel B2B 
business.

  The brands with  
direct end customer  
access will have clearly 
gained in importance.
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HOW SATISFIED ARE YOU WITH 2020, AND 
WHAT ARE YOU PLANNING FOR 2021?
The year 2020 was certainly the most dif-
ficult in the history of our company. Howe-
ver, with regard to the fatal consequences of 
the coronavirus on other companies and 
personal circumstances, we can be very sa-
tisfied. We didn't have any serious illnesses 
in our team and, metaphorically speaking, 
we did get a little wet, but kept our head 
above water. The year 2021 will be a thrilling 
and, "based on all of today's forecasts," very 
successful year for us. 

We will grow even closer together as a team 
and are sure to define a new way of working 
together in the post-coronavirus phase. Our 
new #newwork-concept will combine the 
strengths of the office premises as a "social 
hub" for team play and creativity, and possi-
bilities for individual optimisation of the work-
life balance, and make us a #goodplace2be 
in 2021 as well.

With pricezilla.de and staylive, we have two 
major missions lined up, and our core busi-
ness will be as challenging as ever for all our 
brands. Technically speaking, we will com-
plete the conversion of our two established 
Shoptech systems to the new Spryker plat-
form, and that way forge ahead with the 
speed and flexibility needed to react quickly 

to the changing customer expectations in  
e-commerce.

And in any case, we are planning a Christmas 
party in 2021, which we would like to be a ce-
lebration of life. Celebrating together with 
loud live music, a full dance floor and many 
drinks was always an important part of our 
professional identity. "Work hard – party 
hard" was unfortunately not possible in the 
last fiscal year.

WHERE WILL MOBILEZONE GERMANY BE IN 
FIVE YEARS?
These days, when everything develops so 
quickly, this is a question that is almost im-
possible to answer. 
In my dream scena-
rio, we will have de-
veloped into the on-
line market leader 
for marketing con-
nectivity consumer 
electronics products 
and services with our 
end customer brands 
pricezilla.de, han-
dystar.de, sparhan-
dy.de and deinhan-
dy.de, and created a top experience for our 
customers, regardless of whether they would 
like to shop via their desktop computers,  

mobile devices, voice assistants or virtual rea-
lity glasses. And for customers who desire 
personal advice, we will have developed our 
POS partners into true experience locations 
with mobilezone Handel. In the process, we 
would like to systematically measure and im-
prove customer satisfaction across all touch-
points.

  In 2021, we are  
planning a top 5 place-
ment in e-commerce  
with sales in the range  
of EUR 20 million.

Jens Barth, CDO of mobilezone Group, talks about the future plans of mobilezone Germany as well as his new duties 
as a member of Group Management, in a virtual interview with Martina Högger.
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Dear Readers,  

Companies are not measured by their fi-
nancial performance alone. Rather, they are 
also evaluated on the way they achieve their 
results. For mobilezone, it is a matter of 
course that its economic success is in harm-
ony with its sustainable and responsible 
business practice. We have anchored susta-
inability accordingly in our strategy. Our 
goal is to live the sustainability that is alrea-
dy very important to us today even more 
intensively and to continually get better. 
Hence, the compatibility of both areas is a 
top priority of mobilezone. 

We are aware of the topicality of the subject 
of sustainability and the strong focus on sus-
tainability themes along our value added 
chain in the wider public. Sustainability as-
pects are playing an increasingly more im-
portant role, for example in looking for a 
responsible employer, choosing a provider, 
the use of products beyond their life cycle 
and the handling of resources We are 
addressing these subjects. 

Our sustainability strategy is designed for 
the long term. It applies to the entire  
mobilezone Group and manifests itself in all 
subsidiaries and business areas of the com-
pany in Switzerland and Germany. It is 
based on the four pillars "Employees", 
"Customers", "Smartphone cycle" and "En-
vironmental management". We always keep 
our eye on our most important principle in 
this regard: Our sustainability moves in har-
mony with our core business, because this is 
the only way we can bring about anything 
credibly, efficiently and effectively. 

We see ourselves as directly responsible vis-
a-vis our employees, customers, partners 
and shareholders and at the same time 
would like to make a contribution to our en-
vironment and society. Consequently, we 
also align our conduct to the interests of our 
stakeholder groups. Our employees are 
more motivated if they work for a company 

that operates sustainably. We aspire to sys-
tematic measurement and evaluation of the 
satisfaction and commitment of all emplo-
yees in order to be able then to develop 
measures for further improvement. We will 
also fulfil our task as training company in 
the future by continuing to take on trainees 
and carry on the trainee programme in the 
new year.

The subject of sustainability is also an op-
portunity for our business: At a time when 
raw materials are becoming more expensi-
ve, we can extend the life cycle of our de-
vices due to our positioning with our repair 
partner mobiletouch in combination with 
mobilezone and its infrastructure. Here, we 
target an increase in the number of jusit de-
vices sold as well as the number of devices 
no longer needed taken back. 

In order to be able to report our sustainable 
behaviour transparently, credibly and un-
derstandably, we have decided to configure 
our sustainability report 2020 according to 
the standards of the Global Reporting Ini-
tiative (GRI). We are proud to be able to 
present the result on the following pages.

Markus Bernhard  
CEO of the mobilezone group

Martina Högger 
Sustainability manager
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Materiality analysis

We carried out a materiality analysis in or-
der to develop mobilezone's sustainability 
strategy. The materiality analysis was rea-
lised in four steps. Stakeholder interviews 
were conducted with selected analysts, de-
cision makers at mobile communications 
providers and device manufacturers, mem-
bers of the Board of Directors and manage-
ment, employees, associations, customers 
and journalists. In addition, a Group-wide 
survey was taken on the subject of sustaina-
bility in the company as well as an impact 
analysis made of the different business acti-
vities of the mobilezone Group. Finally, a 
workshop was conducted with members of 
the management and employees, which 
led to a discussion of the results from the 
first three research steps and a comparison 
of the subjects with the company strategy.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

The influence of our business activities on 
the environment and society were conside-
red in an impact analysis. A look at the va-
lue added chain showed that the biggest 
influences arose from the extraction of raw 
materials and manufacture of the devices 
that the company sells. mobilezone can in 
particular have an influence here by making 
offers that extend the duration of use of the 
devices. This will lead to less need for re-
sources. 

Moreover,as part of the materiality analysis, 
over thirty interviews were conducted with 
stakeholders. These were selected based 
on how they were affected and their influ-
ence on mobilezone. The content of the in-
terviews dealt with the effects along the 
entire value added chain. This revealed that 
high expectations exist regarding the inde-
pendence and transparency of our advice.

The results of the interviews and impact 
analysis were discussed in a workshop with 
the management and the company strategy 
perspective integrated. Four subject areas 
were developed on this basis, which will 
hold the foreground in the context of the 
sustainability strategy: 

   Particularly from the point of view of our 
employees as those directly affected, 
but also for the Board of Directors, the 
Group Management, management and 
our partners, the working conditions and 
equal development opportunities at the 
workplace are important, because the as-
sociated measures boost employee satis-
faction and as a result in the end motiva-
tion and connection to the company. 
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All subjects discussed in the context of the development of the sustainability strategy of mobilezone and its weighting are summarised in a mate-
riality matrix.

   The satisfaction of our customers is at the 
heart of numerous measures. Transpa-
rent and fair advice as well as consolida-
ted measurement of customer satisfac-
tion across the entire mobilezone Group 
and their long-term optimisation is not 
just central from a sustainability point of 
view.

   By making offers that extend the service 
life of smartphone, we address the sub-

ject of the biggest ecological influence. 
We summarise the associated business 
activities in the field of the smartphone 
cycle.

   We optimise our energy and material 
consumption as part of the environmen-
tal management. It addresses our inter-
nal processes.
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Donations to charitable 
organisations

Volunteer assignments  
of employees

Plastic consumption

CO2 efficiency in operation

Electricity consumption and  
origin

Incentives for responsible 
selling

Transparent and  
honest advice

Equal treatment  
and diversity

Fair working conditions

Returns and recycling

Used smartphones

Ecologically sustainable 
device manufacture

Attractive  
repair services

Recognition of work (social 
and financial)

Further education  
opportunities

Promotion  
opportunities

Customer information on 
product sustainabilityPolitical brand positioning

Sponsoring with  
social added value

Social subjectsEnvironmental managementSmartphone cycleEmployees Customers
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The four pillars of the  
sustainability strategy

mobilezone developed its sustainability 
strategy in fiscal year 2020. It applies to all 
companies of the mobilezone Group in 
Switzerland and Germany. It is based on  
mobilezone's core business in its core mar-
ket telecommunications.

mobilezone concentrates its sustainability 
strategy on the core subjects "Employees", 
"Customers", "Smartphone cycle" and "En-
vironmental management"

Organisation and 
responsibilities

The Board of Directors acts as the highest 
decision-making committee and approves 
the sustainability strategy. The CEO of the 
mobilezone Group acts as the most senior 
party responsible for the sustainability strat-
egy. The sustainability team is responsible 
for the operational implementation of the 
subject in the company and brings in the 
corresponding bodies and companies if ne-
cessary. Regular exchanges occur between 
the CEO as the most senior sustainability 
executive and the sustainability team. The 
strategy is further developed in these and 
the implementation of the measures is che-
cked. The aim for the frequency of this ex-
change is four times a year.

Sustainability  
monitoring  
and reporting

The sustainability monitoring is organised 
centrally and the corresponding key figures 
are surveyed and evaluated quarterly. The 
monitoring occurs as part of the internal 
sustainability management system in which 
all business segments and companies of 
mobilezone are integrated. The monitoring 
involves constant checking in which areas 
further measures have to be implemented 
to achieve the targets successfully. This is 
evaluated as part of regular exchanges in 
the sustainability team.

Communication
Internal and external communication occurs 
regarding the measures and progress in the 
four central subjects. Internal target groups 
are served by employee information, info 
screens and internal mailing. The informa-
tion is provided to external target groups in 
this Annual Report and via media releases. 
In addition, bilateral discussions occur with 
analysts on request.

Sustainability strategy

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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Employees

The competences and motivation of our employees are decisive factors in the sustainable 
economic success of mobilezone. Flat hierarchies and a matrix organisation support the 
effect radius of each individual. Many aspects play a role in high employee satisfaction 
that we take into account, such as promotion opportunities, equal treatment, diversity 
and acknowledgement of work performed. 

The following measures are exemplary of our efforts to continuously enhance employee 
satisfaction:

Open communication 
culture
mobilezone cultivates an open communi-
cation culture in which feedback is highly 
regarded. As part of the onboarding for 
new managers, the subject plays an impor-
tant role and is also actively explained. 
Employees are encouraged to provide 
each other with mutual feedback, irrespec-
tive of hierarchical levels. This feedback 
culture is also manifested in the annually 
occurring employee discussions in which 
employees are evaluated by their line ma-
nagers and the line managers in turn by 
their employees.

mobilezone has also explicitly looked for an 
opportunity to obtain feedback anony-
mously in order to obtain the widest possib-
le picture of the employees. Consequently, 
mobilezone also created the opportunity of 
a feedback letter box in Rotkreuz in mid-
2020. Improvement proposals have already 
been received. These are recorded and 
bundled systematically in order to be able 
to provide a detailed evaluation of the fiscal 
year 2020.

Targets
The satisfaction of its employees is an im-
portant target of mobilezone. To measure 
this and improve on it, we would like to 
measure the satisfaction and commitment 
of the employees from 2021 in an employee 
survey taken once a year. Measures are to 
be deduced on the basis of this survey. The 
kick-off to the employee survey already oc-
curred with a Group-wide survey on the 
subject of sustainability in fiscal year 2020 
and will be expanded in 2021 with the em-
ployee NPS.
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Training company
TRAINEES
mobilezone is already providing for the ex-
perts of tomorrow today. The company has 
been training new employees in Switzer-
land in the commercial sector, IT (system 
technology) and logistics. Additional trai-
nees have been trained since 2008 in retail 
trade. During the training year 2020, the 
training of specialists in customer dialogue 
and IT specialists focused on application 
development were added to the training 
programme.

In 2020, 62 trainees started at mobilezone; 
compared to 2019 with 45 beginner trai-
nees, this was an increase of 38 percent. 

mobilezone employed a total of 134 trai-
nees in 2020 in Switzerland. Of these, we 
were able to congratulate 30 trainees in 
2020 on the successful completion of their 
training (2019: 41 trainees) and continued to 
employ over half within the company. 

mobilezone has been providing trainees for 
about 10 years in the commercial field, IT 
and logistics. 

Targets
We appoint between 40 and 50 new trai-
nees every year.

Another goal is to take on 2/3 of the trai-
nees who have successfully completed their 
training. To do so, we enter into a dialogue 
in the year the training is completed with 
the corresponding people and then look 
for a suitable follow-up solution.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

TRAINEES
At the beginning of July 2020, mobilezone 
launched the trainee programme "mobile-
zone Pioneers". Six university graduates 
completed a trainee programme during six 
months in the field "Management Sup-
port". This is intended to obtain high-per-
formance emerging talents and integrate 
them in the company and create the oppor-
tunity for candidates to achieve further per-
sonal development in the practical working 
environment. Of the six trainees who com-
pleted the programme in fiscal year 2020, 
five were taken on.

Targets
We will continue to offer training in fiscal 
year 2021.

Another target is to retain 60 percent of the 
trainees in the company after expiry of the 
programme.

Code of conduct

mobilezone wants its financial success to be 
in harmony with sustainable and responsib-
le business practices. To achieve this, a joint 
value basis is essential for all employees in 
Switzerland and Germany. Consequently, 
mobilezone has introduced a binding re-
vised code of conduct in December 2020 
Group-wide for all companies. Its contents 
will be queried from 2021 in an annual e-
learning event and signed together with 
the employment contract by every new em-
ployee. In addition, mobilezone has crea-
ted a channel via which employees can re-
port breaches of the code of conduct.

2018 2019 2020

2018 2019 2020

Employee turnover
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Nationalities

Number of different nationalities 
across the entire mobilezone Group

Figure: Number of trainees in Switzer-
land who successfully completed their 
training in the corresponding year 
(absolute) and the number of trainees 
(in %) who were taken on by the com-
pany.

Net employee turnover (unplanned em-
ployee turnover, termination by emplo-
yee) of the mobilezone Group

19

31

25

9 10
5

: Men, : Women

*  Net employee turnover or unplanned employee turnover me-
ans that the employee terminated their own employment con-
tract with mobilezone of their own accord. It is calculated from 
the total of the year-beginning and year-end workforce, divi-
ded by two, in relation to the unplanned departures.    

**  The planned employee turnover covers all departures where 
mobilezone terminated the employment relationship.

***  Natural employee turnover covers departures caused by reti-
rements, death of the employee or the end of a temporary 
contract.
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New employees

Departures and employee turnover rate (unplanned)

Contract type

Country Age 2020 2019 2018
(in years) % % % % % %

Switzerland

 < 25 15 6,5 6 7,6 21 10,3 13 18,4 18 9,2 16 21,8

25 – 35 13 7,5 11 17,1 26 14,4 13 19,5 23 12,7 11 16,2

35 – 45 4 4,5 4 19,5 9 10,2 5 20,0 19 21,6 3 10,9

 > 45 3 10,3 1 11,1 3 10,0 0 0,0 4 14,0 3 22,2

Total 35 6,7 22 12,8 59 11,7 31 18,0 64 13,0 33 18,1

Germany

 < 25 7 25,0 5 20,8 10 30,3 6 25,5 6 20,7 4 21,6

25 – 35 6 6,7 8 11,9 8 9,9 8 12,4 11 15,4 8 14,4

35 – 45 0 0,0 1 3,2 1 1,7 2 6,7 5 7,9 0 0,0

 > 45 1 2,9 1 6,3 0 0,0 0 0,0 1 2,8 2 10,0

Total 14 6,2 15 10,8 19 9,1 16 11,6 23 11,6 14 11,4

mobilezone Group Total 49 6,7 37 11,9 78 10,9 47 15,2 87 12,6 47 15,4

Country Age 2020 2019 2018
(in years) % % % % % %

Switzerland

 < 25 85 36,9 38 48,4 79 38,6 33 46,8 82 41,9 32 43,5

25 – 35 23 13,3 15 23,3 34 14,9 14 19,5 47 25,9 15 21,1

35 – 45 10 11,2 5 24,4 13 14,8 6 24,0 12 13,6 3 10,9

 > 45 2 6,9 0 0,0 6 20,0 0 0,0 6 21,1 2 14,8

Total 120 23,0 58 33,6 132 24,8 53 30,2 147 29,8 52 28,5

Germany

 < 25 7 22,6 12 50,0 26 78,8 12 51,1 25 86,2 32 173,0

25 – 35 26 28,4 20 29,6 27 33,5 21 32,6 32 44,8 31 55,9

35 – 45 12 18,8 8 25,4 4 6,7 5 16,7 8 12,7 5 17,5

 > 45 6 15,8 3 18,8 4 11,0 3 15,4 3 8,5 6 30,0

Total 51 22,7 43 30,9 61 29,1 41 29,8 68 34,2 74 60,4

mobilezone Group Total 171 22,9 101 32,4 193 26,1 94 30,0 215 31,0 126 41,3

GRI 401-1
  
Other departures (planned** and natural*** departures): 
2020 Swiss men younger than 25 Y.: 34; 14.8% | 25 – 35 Y.: 13; 7.5% | 35 – 45 Y.: 10; 11.2% | older than 45 Y.: 3; 10.4% | 2019 Swiss men younger than 25 Y.: 35; 17.1% | 25 – 35 Y.: 19; 
10.5% | 35 – 45 Y.: 9; 10.2% | older than 45 Y.: 2; 6.7% | 2018 Swiss men younger than 25 Y.: 35; 17.9% | 25 – 35 Y.: 16; 8.8% | 35 – 45 Y.: 10; 11.4% | older than 45 Y.: 7; 24.6%

2020 Swiss women younger than 25 Y.: 12; 15.3% | 25 – 35 Y.: 4; 6.2% | 35 – 45 Y.: 3; 14.6% | older than 45 Y.: 1; 11.1% | 2019 Swiss women younger than 25Y.: 17; 24.1% | 25 – 35 Y.: 
8; 12.0% | 35 – 45 Y.: 5; 20.0% | older than 45 Y.: 2; 20.0% | 2018 Swiss women younger than 25 Y.: 13; 17.7% | 25 – 35 Y.: 5; 7.4% | 35 – 45 Y.: 4; 14.5% | older than 45 Y.: 5; 37.0% 

2020 Germany men younger than 25 Y.: 7; 25% | 25 – 35 Y.: 7; 7.8% | 35 – 45 Y.: 6; 10.0% | older than 45 Y.: 4; 11.4% | 2019 Germany men younger than 25: 13; 39.4% | 25 – 35 Y.: 
15; 18.6% | 35 – 45 Y.: 1; 1.7% | older than 45 Y.: 7; 19.2% | 2018 Germany men younger than 25 Y.: 7; 24.1% | 25 – 35 Y.: 12; 16.8% | 35 – 45 Y.: 8; 12.7% | older than 45 Y.: 1; 2.8% 

2020 Germany women younger than 25Y.: 4; 16.7% | 25 – 35: 12; 17.8% | 35 – 45 Y.: 3; 9.5% | older than 45 Y.: 7; 43.8% | 2019 Germany women younger than 25 Y.: 7; 29.8% | 25 – 35 
Y.: 5; 7.8% | 35 – 45 Y.: 3; 10% | older than 45 Y.: 3; 15.4% | 2018 Germany women younger than 25Y.: 11; 59.5% | 25 – 35 Y.: 16; 28.8% | 35 – 45 Y.: 4; 14.0% | older than 45 Y.: 2 ;10%

GRI 401-1

GRI 102-8

As a result of the sale of mobiletouch austria and einsAmobile, the employees of these two companies were not taken into account in the tables. The employee numbers of powwow 
were taken into account in all three years, although the acquisition took place in 2019, in order to ensure comparability of the numbers.

*Temporary contract types include apprentices.

Country Age 2020 2019 2018
(in years) % % % % % %

Switzerland
temporary* 122 22,9 45 24,7 106 20,9 33 19,9 107 21,4 37 20,8

permanent 411 77,1 137 75,3 402 79,1 133 80,1 392 78,6 141 79,2

Total 533 100 182 100 508 100 166 100 499 100 178 100

Germany
temporary* 9 4,0 6 4,2 18 8,5 18 12,7 34 16,4 18 13,5

permanent 216 96,0 138 95,8 194 91,5 124 87,3 173 83,6 115 86,5

Total 225 100 144 100 212 100 142 100 207 100 133 100

mobilezone Group Total 1 084 employees 1 028 employees 1 017 employees
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Target
We aspire to achieve participation of 
100 percent in the e-learning to query the 
contents of the code of conduct.

We set great store on the balance between 
men and women in all areas of the compa-
ny. Irrespective of gender, mobilezone ap-
points the best qualified person. We are 
committed to long-term employee promo-
tion and aspire to more balanced diversity 
at lower management levels. Here, we aim 
to increase the number of women from cur-
rently 10.6 percent to 25 percent by 2025. 

In terms of net employee turnover (unplan-
ned employee turnover), we want to get to 
a figure of less than 10 percent in 2021.

Evaluation & outlook
In fiscal year 2020, net employee turnover 
was a low 8.4 percent due to Corona, which 
was not representative compared to 2018 
(13.4 percent) and 2019 (12.2 percent). Ac-
cordingly, we modified our target upwards 
to 10 percent. Both employee turnover as 
well as employee satisfaction, which were 
surveyed in a questionnaire in 2020, were at 
good levels, but could still be further impro-
ved. The great diversity of nationalities cor-
responds to our markets and culture. But in 
the long term, the gender mix is to be 
further improved. 

We aim to collect as much information as 
possible regarding the well-being of our 
employees in the employee survey. Accor-
ding to the results, we will identify our im-
provement potential and take measures to 
boost satisfaction and commitment. This 
should enable us to achieve the employee 
loyalty and employee turnover targets set.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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Diversity

Part-time/Full-time

Age structure

Position in the company Age 2020
(in years) % %

Senior management

 < 25 0 0,0 0 0,0

25 – 35 2 6,3 1 3,1

35 – 45 16 50,0 1 3,1

 > 45 10 31,3 2 6,3

Total 28 87,5 4 12,5

Lower management

< 25 0 0,0 0 0,0

25 – 35 10 21,3 3 6,4

35 – 45 26 55,3 1 2,1

 > 45 6 12,8 1 2,1

Total 42 89,4 5 10,6

Employees

 < 25 176 20,3 81 9,4

25 – 35 251 29,0 128 14,8

35 – 45 110 12,7 52 6,0

 > 45 48 5,5 20 2,3

Total 585 67,6 281 32,4

Trainees/apprentices

 < 25 98 70,5 34 24,5

25 – 35 5 3,6 2 1,4

35 – 45 0 0,0 0 0,0

 > 45 0 0,0 0 0,0

Total 103 74,1 36 25,9

mobilezone Group Total 758 69,9 326 30,1

Gender Hours worked 2020 2019 2018
Employees % Employees % Employees %

Part-time 41 5,4 57 7,9 47 6,7

Full-time 717 94,6 663 92,1 659 93,3

Total 758 100 720 100 706 100

Part-time 80 24,5 71 23,1 72 23,2

Full-time 246 75,5 237 76,9 239 76,8

Total 326 100 308 100 311 100

mobilezone Group Total 1 084 1 028 1 017

GRI 102-8

GRI 405-1

GRI 405-1

As a result of the sale of mobiletouch austria and einsAmobile, the employees of these two companies were not taken into 
account in the tables. The employee numbers of powwow were taken into account in all three years, although the acquisition 
took place in 2019, in order to ensure comparability of the numbers.

: Men, : Women

Land Age 2020 2019 2018
(in years) % % % % % %

Switzerland

 < 25 248 46,5 89 48,9 212 41,7 69 41,6 197 39,5 72 40,4

25 – 35 171 32,1 65 35,7 174 34,3 65 39,2 188 37,7 68 38,2

35 – 45 87 16,3 20 11,0 91 17,9 22 13,3 85 17,0 28 15,7

 > 45 27 5,1 8 4,4 31 6,1 10 6,0 29 5,8 10 5,6

Total 533 100 182 100 508 100 166 100 499 100 178 100

Germany

 < 25 26 11,6 26 18,1 33 15,6 23 16,2 33 15,9 24 18,0

25 – 35 97 43,1 69 47,9 84 39,6 69 48,6 77 37,2 60 45,1

35 – 45 65 28,9 34 23,6 59 27,8 30 21,1 60 29,0 30 22,6

 > 45 37 16,4 15 10,4 36 17,0 20 14,1 37 17,9 19 14,3

Total 225 100 144 100 212 100 142 100 207 100 133 100

mobilezone Group Total 1 084 1 028 1 017
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Our customers are important to us. Through 
fair, honest advice, we create added value at 
the interface between customers, mobile 
communications providers and device manu-
facturers. Our activities aim to achieve high 
customer satisfaction. In addition, we have 
developed specific measures that are inten-
ded to enhance customer satisfaction, based 
on key figures.

Customer benefit 
programme 
"mobilezone Club"
In 2020, mobilezone Club was launched in 
Switzerland, which offers attractive advanta-
ges for regular customers. To date, about 
15,000 customers have registered and be-
nefit among other things from attractive 
club offers, discount points and prioritisati-
on in sales launches. 

Targets
We hope to see 100,000 of our Swiss custo-
mers become club members in fiscal year 
2021. By 2025, 40 percent of our customers 
will belong to our club.

Sales personnel
training
mobilezone has expanded training of its sa-
les personnel since 2019. Since then, a total 
of over 300 salespeople have taken part in 
over 30 courses.

The focus in the store manager courses is on 
the sales process, employee management 
and organisation. To ensure sales personnel 
can respond to the individual needs of cus-
tomers, find the best possible offer for them 
and as a result offer them an optimal custo-
mer experience, they are continuously trai-
ned in different sales processes and the la-
test trends. An e-learning process ensures 
that sales personnel is informed at all times 
comprehensively about new products, ser-
vices or tariff plans. 

In fiscal year 2020, the sales personnel 
courses could not be conducted as previ-
ously due to Corona. However, mobilezone 
sets great store on supporting the sales per-
sonnel at the front through courses and 
equipping them as well as possible.

Targets
The target in fiscal year 2021 is to establish a 
training concept covering a comprehensive 
appropriate course range adjusted to cur-
rent circumstances. Among other things, 
this includes every store manager having to 
attend at least two courses a year by 2025. 

Customers

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

2018 2019 2020
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Customer 
satisfaction

104.2103.6100.0

Consolidated index of all customer 
satisfaction surveys across the entire 
mobilezone Group.
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Customer 
satisfaction survey
We continuously survey customer satisfac-
tion through questionnaires and observe 
department-specific key figures, such as the 
net promoter score (NPS) and the customer 
satisfaction score (CSAT). In the event of 
bad evaluations, we call the customers back 
and try to offer them the best possible ser-
vice. In addition, we follow online reviews 
and take note very closely of the evaluations 
in German online stores, for example, at 
TrustedShops. 

Targets
We improve the index of our customer feed-
back scores by one unit by 2021 (from 104.2 
in 2020 to 105.2 in 2021). This index includes 
various net promoter scores (NPS), custo-
mer satisfaction scores (CSAT) and online 
reviews (Trusted Shops). The results of the 
various areas are weighted and accumula-
ted based on strategic importance. The in-
dex began in 2018 with a score of 100. It is 
calculated comparatively over several years.

Evaluation & outlook

The index to measure our customer satisfac-
tion has developed positively at a high level 
since 2018. Consequently, our approach 
has been confirmed and will continue to be 
pursued in the coming years. 
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Smartphone cycle

mobilezone seeks dialogue with manufactur-
ers and influences them directly where it can. 
This includes offers that extend the usage 
duration of the devices to ensure fewer re-
sources are needed.

Sale of  
used devices
jusit (get-jusit.ch) is the new Swiss brand for 
used smartphones that mobilezone laun-
ched in 2020. The devices repurchased on 
the market are exclusively repaired certified 
mobilezone employees with original parts, 
reprocessed and sold with 100 percent effici-
ency. Since September 2020, jusit devices 

have been sold online at get-jusit.ch and in 
selected mobilezone shops. From four shops 
at the beginning, we have expanded the jus-
it product range to ten shops in every lan-
guage region in Switzerland. We respond to 
the needs of those customers who pay atten-
tion to a sustainable life style with this pro-
duct range. 

Targets
We will become the biggest provider of 
used smartphones in Switzerland in 2021. 
Our target for 2021 is that two percent of our 
smartphones sold are reprocessed devices. 
By 2025, we want six percent of our smart-
phones sold in Switzerland to be repro-
cessed devices. 

We will remain the number 1 for smartphone 
repairs in Switzerland, both in the overall 
market and also for every network operator. 
We aspire to a repair ratio of 95 percent in 
2021.

*Repair ratio:  Number of repairs concluded in relation to total 

repair orders

Decentral  
repair service
Customers can have their broken smartpho-
ne repaired quickly in ten mobilezone work-
shops in Switzerland We only use original 
parts for the repairs and in this way preserve 
the manufacturer guarantee. Last year, we 
repaired 9,000 devices in our workshops. 
Smartphone repair is our alternative to buy-
ing a new device. This reduces the environ-
mental burden that would be associated with 
the production of a new device.

mobilezone sold 270,000 smartphones in 
Switzerland last year. According to the 
Fraunhofer Institute, 14 kg of resources are 
needed and 58 kg CO₂ emissions emitted 
for the manufacture of a smartphone. Hence, 
its manufacture is associated with great eco-
logical effects. In addition, the working con-
ditions in raw material extraction and in ma-
nufacturing plants can be problematic. 

The return and recycling segment of used 
smartphones refers primarily to Switzerland. 
mobilezone also takes devices back in Ger-
many, but on a small scale and with external 
partners. We will review further measures in 
future.
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Life cycle of a smartphone

Raw material 
extraction

Device 
manufacture

Design and 
development

Sale in 
shops

Smartphone
usage

Return in 
shops

Disassembly and 
recycling

Disposal

Repair 
(mobilezone workshop)

Used smartphones 
(jusit)

The path of a 
jusit smartphone

Targets
We aim to perform 12,000 repairs in the 
mobilezone workshops in fiscal year 2021.

Central 
repair service

The mobiletouch subsidiary mobiletouch re-
pairs over 150,000 smartphones a year in 
Switzerland. Almost all brands are repaired 
at our headquarters in Zweidlen for mobile 
communications providers, electronics dea-
lers or big companies. mobiletouch also of-
fers to dispose of devices that cannot be re-
paired to ensure that the devices undergo 
further use.

Device returns
We offer a return programme via our end 
customer sales channels in order to bring 
smartphones back to the device cycle. This 
involves us reselling usable devices while old 
devices or ones that can no longer be re-
paired are recycled. 

Last year, 10,000 devices were returned. This 
corresponds to 3.6 percent of the devices we 
sold.

Targets
In 2021, we plan to collect five percent of the 
smartphones we sell annually. 

Evaluation & outlook
The materiality analysis revealed that the 
smartphone reprocessing segment has great 
potential and we were able to have a positive 
influence on the environment with the jusit 
brand in Switzerland. The positive develop-
ment with jusit can serve as an indicator for 
the German market. However, our German 
companies do not have the same infrastruc-
ture as in Switzerland with regard to shops 
for return and workshops for reprocessing. 
More detailed analyses on a possible market 
launch in Germany are needed in this re-
gard.  

Sold reprocessed 
smartphones

Smartphone 
repurchase

Successful 
repairs

GRI 301-3
Number of sold reprocessed 
smartphones in relation to total 
new device sold

GRI 306-2
Number of repurchased smart-
phones in relation to total new 
devices sold

GRI 306-1 
Number of successfully concluded 
repairs in relation to total of all 
repair orders

2018 2019 2020 2018 2019 2020 2018 2019 2020
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Environmental management

The consumption of scarce resources, the ef-
fects of climate change and burden on the 
environment from a growing world populati-
on pose great challenges for our society and 
also impose responsibilities on companies. 
We observe our ecological responsibility and 
pursue the most efficient use of resources 
and energy. We can reduce the associated 
greenhouse gas emissions in this way and 
protect the climate. The biggest ecological 
impacts are addressed by our offers exten-
ding the service life of smartphones. In fu-
ture, we want to draw up a more precise eva-
luation of our resource consumption and 
reduce our ecological footprint.

Energy management

Thanks to the mover from Regensdorf to Rot-
kreuz in 2018, we managed to slash our elec-
tricity consumption of 253.7 MWh  
by 30 percent to 177.3 MWh. On the new site, 
use of solar, several dynamic geothermal 
heat reservoirs and an anergy network form 
the basis for achieving the target of CO₂ neu-
trality. The energy for heating and cooling is 

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

generated by geothermal heat reservoirs 
while the various solar installations provide 
electricity. The target is complete self-suffici-
ency with primary energy for heating and 
water treatment. 

Measuring our internal energy consumption 
has proven to be relatively difficult due to the 
multitude of shop locations in Switzerland. 
The electricity consumption corresponds to 
the collected data of the last three fiscal years 
and constitutes an approximation of our ef-
fective electricity consumption. New measu-
res need to be defined in the coming years 
to ensure we reach our targets for 2025.

Targets
By 2021, we aspire to an exact breakdown of 
our electricity mix. 

Evaluation & outlook

Due to the decentral structure of mobilezone 
(Switzerland and Germany, shops throug-
hout Switzerland), an exact survey of the 
electricity is very challenging. Exact presen-
tation of the composition of our electricity is 
one of our targets in the field of environmen-
tal management. 
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2018 2019 20202018 2019 2020
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Fuel consumption of 
the mobilezone Group

Electricity consumption 
of the mobilezone Group
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2 642
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2 639 125 649
2 931

GRI 302-4
Electricity consumption is stated in MWh.

Fuel consumption is stated in litres.
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GRI contents index
This report is the second sustainability report of mobilezone holding ag. It is the first report drawn up in compliance with the GRI stan-
dards: Option "Core". This report covers all business segments of the mobilezone Group in Switzerland and Germany. 

The reporting period covers the period from 1 January to 31 December 2020. The environmental key figures refer to the period 1 January 
2018 to 31 December 2020. The mobilezone Group informs its stakeholders annually about its activities and progress in the field of susta-
inability; the reporting occurs annually as part of the Annual Report. This report was drawn up in compliance with the GRI standards  
option: "Core". The report is available in German and English 

An overview of the standards selected and corresponding references can be found in the following GRI index. 

Contact for questions about the sustainability report: Markus Bernhard, CEO mobilezone Group, Martina Högger, Sustainability Manager 
at mobilezoneholding@mobilezone.ch.

GRI Standard Title Remarks & omissions Page

1. Organisational profile
GRI 102 General information 
102-1 Name of the organization 17, 49
102-2 Activities, brands, products and services 17
102-3 Location of headquarters 17
102-4 Location of operations 49
102-5 Ownership and legal form 49–51
102-6 Markets served 17-20

102-7 Scale of the organization 2, 17, 
51 

102-8 Information on employees and other workers d. The mobilezone Group does not 
employ any external temporary workers 
on a significant scale. 
e. The workforce is not subject to any 
significant seasonal fluctuations.

37

102-9 Supply chain 43
102-10 Significant changes to the organization and its supply chain Apart from the sale of the repair business 

in Austria, there were no significant 
changes to the organization or its supply 
chain.

12

102-11 Precautionary principle or approach / sustainability approach 30–32
102-12 External initiatives None
102-13 Membership of associations mobilezone is a member of SWICO, the 

business association of the ICT and online 
sector.

2. Strategy
102-14 Statement from senior decision maker 29

3. Ethics and integrity
102-16 Values, principles, standards and norms of behaviour Code of conduct: https://www.

mobilezone.ch/assets/cms/persistent/9
492acc4f5b479ad1555e52c-
d12e5943893c85ba/Verhaltensko-
dex_2020_de.pdf

4. Company management
102-18 Governance structure 51

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT
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5. Integration of stakeholders
102-40 List of stakeholder groups 30, 31
102-41 Collective bargaining agreements mobilezone does not have any 

employees subject to a collective bargain 
agreement.

102-42 Identifying and selecting stakeholders 30, 31

102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement 30, 31
102-44 Key topics and concerns raised 30, 31

6. Procedure in reporting
102-45 Entities included in the consolidated financial statements 67
102-46 Defining report content and topic boundaries 30, 31
102-47 List of material topics 30,31
102-48 Restatements of information No restatement
102-49 Changes in reporting New: Reporting according to GRI Standards 44
102-50 Reporting period 44
102-51 Date of most recent report 13. March 2020 44
102-52 Reporting cycle 44
102-53 Contact point for questions regarding the report 29, 44
102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance with GRI Standards 44
102-55 GRI content index 44, 45
102-56 External assurance The sustainability report of the  

mobilezone Group is not subjected  
to any external assurance.

44

Employees
103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its boundary 33–27
103-2 The management approach and its components 33–37
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 33–37
401-1 New employee hires and employee turnover 35
405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees 37, 49

Customers
103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its boundary 38, 39
103-2 The management approach and its components 38, 39
103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 38, 39

Own indicator: Customer satisfaction index Voluntary supplement to the GRI Standards 38, 39
Smartphone cycle

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its boundary 40, 41

103-2 The management approach and its components 40, 41

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 40, 41

301-3 Reclaimed products and their packaging materials After taking the size of the effects into 
account, we only report on repurchased, 
reprocessed and sold smartphones, but 
not on packaging.

40, 41

Environmental management
103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its boundary 42, 43
103-2 The management approach and its components 42, 43

103-3 Evaluation of the management approach 42, 43
302-4 Reduction of energy consumption 42, 43
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Corporate governance

The principles and provisions of the corporate governance are recorded in the statutes and organisational regu-
lations of the mobilezone holding ag. The information published corresponds to the corporate governance guide-
lines of the SIX Swiss Exchange and valid disclosure provisions of the Swiss Code of Obligations. The reporting 
date is 31 December unless otherwise specified. 

1. Group structure and shareholders
1.1 Group structure 
The mobilezone Group consists of two business areas Germany and Switzerland & Austria. The mobilezone hol-
ding ag, Suurstoffi 22, CH-6343 Rotkreuz/Switzerland, the parent company of the Group, is a joint stock company 
under Swiss law. It is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, in the domestic segment, (valor no.: 27683769, ISIN: 
CH0276837694). The stock market capitalisation as of 31 December 2020 was CHF 451 million. The main consolida-
ted companies of the Group are:

Company, registered office Country Currency Share  
capital  

(000)  

Group share
      
       2020        2019 

Segment

mobilezone ag, Rotkreuz CH CHF 2 850 100% 100% CH&A
mobilit AG, Härkingen¹ CH CHF 100 100% 100% CH&A
IT Business Services GmbH, Härkingen¹ CH CHF 40 100% 100% CH&A
mobiletouch ag, Zweidlen CH CHF 100 100% 100% CH&A
TalkTalk AG, Rotkreuz CH CHF 100 100% 100% CH&A
mobilezone Deutschland GmbH, Cologne² DE EUR 25 100% 100% DE
mobilezone Handel GmbH, Bochum³ DE EUR 25 100% 100% DE
powwow GmbH, Cologne⁴, ⁵  DE EUR 778 100% 100% DE
powwow Berlin GmbH, Bochum⁶ DE EUR 25 100% 100% DE
sparstrom Energievertriebs GmbH, Cologne⁷  DE EUR 100 n.a. 40% DE
Bonamic GmbH, Bochum⁴ DE EUR 250 49% 49% DE
einsAmobile GmbH, Obertshausen⁸ DE EUR 50 100% 100% DE
mobiletouch austria gmbh, Vienna⁹ AT EUR 35 n.a. 100% CH&A

¹ mobilit AG and IT Business Services GmbH were acquired in August 2019.
² einsAmobile Management GmbH was renamed mobilezone Deutschland GmbH on 17 September 2019.
³ TPHCom GmbH was renamed mobilezone Handel GmbH on 7 October 2020.
⁴ powwow GmbH and Bonamic GmbH were acquired in June 2019. 
⁵  SH Telekommunikation Deutschland GmbH was renamed powwow GmbH in February 2020. 
⁶  Mr. Mobile GmbH was renamed powwow Berlin GmbH in February 2020. In October 2019, the shareholdings were increased  

from 45 percent to 100 percent. At the balance sheet date of 31 December 2019, the company was fully consolidated.
⁷ sparstrom Energievertriebs  GmbH was acquired in June 2019 and sold in December 2020.
⁸ 75 percent of the shares in einsAmobile GmbH were sold in January 2021. 
⁹ mobiletouch austria gmbh was sold in December 2020. 
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1.2 Significant shareholders

The following significant shareholders and shareholder groups were listed with a share of more than three 
percent of the capital or voting rights in the share register:

2020 2019
Credit Suisse Funds AG, Zurich¹ 7.11% 7.11%
Haubrich Zentrale GmbH & Co. KG, Düsseldorf 5.00% 5.00%
Wilke Stroman, Cologne 4.99% 4.98%
UBS Fund Management (Switzerland) AG, Basel¹ 3.88% 3.88%

¹  The number of participation shares noted in the last disclosure notice have been converted based on the number of shares outstanding as of 
the balance sheet date of December 31.

The disclosures regarding shareholdings in mobilezone holding ag are published on the electronic platform of the 
SIX Swiss Exchange and can be retrieved via the Disclosure Office’s search screen at the following web link: 
www.ser-ag.com/en/resources/notifications-market-participants/significant-shareholders.html

To our knowledge there is no shareholder’s agreement between the significant shareholders.

1.3 Cross-shareholdings
To our knowledge, there are no cross-shareholdings. 

2. Capital structure 
2.1 Capital
The share capital consists of 44,781,213 registered shares at a par value of CHF 0.01 each. All registered share are 
fully paid up and listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange.

Authorised and conditional capital 
At the annual General Meeting on 8 April 2020, the shareholders approved the creation of authorized capital in the 
maximum amount of CHF 40,000 by issuing up to 4,000,000 fully paid registered shares with a par value of 1 centime 
each by 7 April 2022, at the latest. 

There is no conditional share capital.

2.1 Changes in capital
Changes in capital made in 2019 and 2020 are listed in the consolidated equity statement on page 69 of  
this report, and the changes made in 2018 are listed on page 43 of the 2018 annual report.

2.4 Shares and participation certificates
As of 31 December 2020, there were 44’781’213 registered shares at a par value of CHF 0.01. Of these, 70’000 
(previous year: 63,624) are treasury shares. Treasury shares do not have any dividend or voting rights. All other 
shares are entitled to dividends and voting. There are no participation certificates.

2.5 Profit-sharing certificates
There are no profit-sharing certificates.
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2.6 Limitations on transferability and nominee registrations
The transferability of the registered shares is not limited.

Nominee shareholders are registered in the share register without voting rights. There are no agreements with 
nominee shareholders regarding registration requirements.

2.7 Convertible bonds and warrants/options

As of the balance sheet date, there were no convertible bonds outstanding. 

On 29 December 2017, the Board of Directors adopted a long-term incentive program (LTI) for the management. 
The individual allocation by the Board of Directors was based on the option plan regulations of mobilezone holding 
ag. The first distribution in the amount of 380,000 options took place on 29 June 2018. The options have a term of 
seven years with a vesting period of three years; they were distributed at 10 percent above the average closing 
share price after dividend payment (10 April 2018) until 29 June 2018, with an exercise price of CHF 12.19 per share.

On 21 August 2019, the Board of Directors made a distribution in the amount of 85,000 options. The options have 
a term of seven years with a vesting period of three years; they were distributed at 10 percent above the average 
closing share price of the period 28 May to 21 August 2019 with an exercise price of CHF 10.61 per share.

On 19 August 2020, the Board of Directors made a distribution in the amount of 220,000 options. The options have 
a term of seven years with a vesting period of three years and an exercise price of CHF 8.13. The exercise price is 
calculated from the higher price based on the average closing share price in the period from 26 May to 18 August 
2020 at CHF 7.90 and a closing share price of 19 August 2020 of CHF 8.13. 

3. Board of Directors
3.1 Members of the Board of Directors
On 31 December 2019, the Board of Directors of mobilezone holding ag consisted of four non executive members. 
It is composed of independent members. No member of the Board of Directors has management tasks within the 
Group. mobilezone follows the definition of the independence criteria of the "Swiss Code of Best Practice for  
Corporate Governance" of economiesuisse.

Name Position Nomination

Urs T. Fischer Chairman, independent 2009

Gabriela Theus Member, independent 2018

Peter K. Neuenschwander Member, independent 2019

Michael Haubrich Member, independent 2020

Michael HaubrichGabriela TheusUrs T. Fischer Peter K. Neuenschwander
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URS T. FISCHER
Urs T. Fischer (1954, Swiss) has been Chairman of the Board of Directors of the mobilezone Group since 2009. After 
graduating with a diploma in engineering from the ETH Zurich, he held various management positions at IBM Swit-
zerland and Digital Equipment Corporation, Switzerland. He was the CEO of Sunrise Communication AG in Zurich 
and was CEO and member of the Board of Directors of Ascom Group, Bern. From 2004 to 2007, Urs T. Fischer was 
Managing Director of Hewlett-Packard (Switzerland) GmbH in Dübendorf, and from 2009 to 2012 he was CEO of the 
international IT-systems company ACP in Vienna. He is on the Board of Directors of various companies that are not 
listed on the stock exchange.

GABRIELA THEUS
Gabriela Theus (1973, Swiss) joined mobilezone Group’s Board of Directors in April 2018. After obtaining a degree 
in Economics at HSG St. Gallen, she worked from 1999 on as a consultant at Knorr Capital Partner and then at Ernst 
& Young and Sal. Oppenheim in the real estate sector, before moving to Zug Estates Holding AG as CFO. Since 
September 2017, she has been managing director of the Immofonds Asset Management AG in Zurich.

PETER K. NEUENSCHWANDER
Dr. iur. Peter K. Neuenschwander (1956, Swiss) has been a member of the Board of Directors of mobilezone Group 
since 2019. After studying in Zurich and being admitted to the bar, he joined the legal department of a leading 
global IT company in 1986 and worked there for 13 years as legal consultant, finally as Legal Counsel Europe provi-
ding legal consultation for European sales. Since 1998, he has had his own law practice (Suffert Neuenschwander & 
Partner) specializing in information technology law, telecommunications law, and distribution law. For several years, 
he was lecturer for intellectual property and information technology law at the HWZ Hochschule für Wirtschaft, Zu-
rich. He is on the Board of Directors of various companies that are not listed on the stock exchange. 

MICHAEL HAUBRICH

Michael Haubrich (1978, German) has been a member of the Board of Directors of mobilezone Group since 2020. 
After studying economics at WHU in Vallendar / Koblenz and at the London School of Economics, he worked as 
business consultant at McKinsey Budapest from 2004 to 2009. From 2010 to 2019, he was CFO of the ElectronicPart-
ner Group before switching there to the Board of Directors in 2019. In addition, he has been a member of the Su-
pervisory Board of notebooksbilliger.de AG.

3.2 Other activities and vested interests
Information about other activities and vested interests of the members of the Board of Directors can be viewed on the 
website at: www.mobilezoneholding.ch/en/Company/corporate-governance/Board-of-Directors.html

3.3 Cross-shareholdings
There is no cross-involvement with the boards of other companies listed on the stock exchange.

3.4 Elections and terms of office
The Board of Directors is elected individually by the General Meeting for a one-year term. Re-election is possible.

3.5 Meetings of the Board of Directors
Urs T. Fischer is chairman, Gabriela Theus, and Peter K. Neuenschwander are members of the Board of Directors. 
The Board of Directors meets as often as required by business. Last year, a total of ten Board of Directors' meetings 
took place. Of these, five meetings were held as video conferences or telephone conferences. The meetings lasted 
between one and five hours. All members of the Board of Directors took part in nine meetings. Christian Petit was 
excused from one telephone conference. Usually, the CEO and CFO attend these meetings. Other members of the 
Group Management, members of the management teams, employees, or third parties are brought in as needed.
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3.6 Audit Committee

Gabriela Theus chairs the committee, and Urs T. Fischer is a member of the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee 
meets as often as business requires. In the reporting year, four meetings and one telephone conference were held. 
Both members were present for the meetings and the telephone conference. The meetings lasted two to four hours 
each. Usually, the CEO and CFO attend these meetings and telephone conferences. Other members of the Group 
Management, members of the management teams, employees, or third parties are brought in as needed.

3.7 Nomination and Compensation Committee
Urs T. Fischer chairs the Nomination and Compensation Committee, and Christian Petit and Peter K. Neuenschwan-
der are members. The Nomination and Compensation Committee meets as often as business requires. In the re-
porting year, four meetings were held. All members were present at all meetings. The meetings lasted one to two 
hours each.

3.7 Definition of areas of responsibility
To the extent allowed by law, the Board of Directors has delegated managerial functions to the Group Management. 
The breakdown of tasks and competencies is established in the by-laws and rules of organization. They can be vie-
wed at any time on the website at:
 www.mobilezoneholding.ch/de/unternehmen/corporate-governance/downloads.html

3.9 Information and control instruments vis-à-vis the Group Management
Each member of the Board of Directors has the right to be informed about the course of business by the Group 
Management and about individual transactions. The information and control tools the Board of Directors uses vis-à-
vis the Group Management include in particular the following:

• Consolidated budget (annual)  
• Quarterly reports with prior-year comparison  
• Profit and loss forecast (beginning in the 3rd quarter)  
• KPI reporting (monthly)  
• Financial projections (half-yearly)  
• Detailed monthly reports of the Group Management on the course of business

As the parent company of the mobilezone Group companies, mobilezone holding ag is fully involved in the risk 
assessment process across all Group companies. The risk assessment process is integrated into the Group’s annual 
strategy process. The aim is not to avoid all risk but rather to create options that are intended to help the Group 
companies to consistently take advantage of existing opportunities and to increase their business success. Risk 
management supports the companies in reaching their business goals by providing transparency regarding the 
risk situation (as a basis for strategic and operative decisions), by recognizing potential threats to the Group’s net 
assets, financial position, and profit situation, and by taking measures to limit risks to an acceptable level. As part of 
this risk assessment process, the Board of Directors of mobilezone holding ag is kept informed about any observed 
risks and opportunities.

3.10 Directorships outside of mobilezone Group
Members of the Board of Directors may hold no more than five additional directorships in other publicly listed 
companies and no more than ten additional directorships in other companies not listed on the stock exchange. 

3.11 Changes in the Board of Directors
Urs T. Fischer (1954, Swiss) will no longer stand for re-election after twelve years as Chairman of the Board of Direc-
tors at the Annual General Meeting of 7 April 2021. The Board of Directors will propose Olaf Swantee (Swiss and 
Dutch) to the Annual General Meeting for new election to the Board of Directors and as Chairman of the Board of 
Directors. 
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4. Group Management
4.1 Members of the Group Management
On 31 December 2020, mobilezone holding ag’s Group Management was made up of five members.

Name Position with the company since in this position since

Markus Bernhard CEO 2007 2014

Andreas Fecker CFO 2007 2014

Akin Erdem¹ CPO 2015 2017

Roger Wassmer CEO Switzerland 2014 2020

Wilke Stroman CEO Germany 2019 2020

¹ Akin Erdem until 1 February 2021 

MARKUS BERNHARD
Markus Bernhard (1964, Swiss) has led mobilezone Group as its CEO since 2014. From 2007 to 2013 he was  
mobilezone Group’s CFO. Following his graduation from the University of St. Gallen (HSG St. Gallen) with a degree in 
economics, Markus Bernhard received his diploma as a certified public accountant. From 1991 to 1997, he worked as an 
auditor at Revisuisse Price Waterhouse AG in Zurich. He was CFO of Cope Inc. in Rotkreuz until 2000 and subsequent-
ly was CFO of Mount10 Holding AG, also in Rotkreuz. In addition, since 2020 he has been member of the Board of 
Directors and Chairman of the Valora Holding AG.

ANDREAS FECKER 
Andreas Fecker (1972, Swiss) has been a member of the management of the mobilezone Group as CFO since 2014. 
From 2008 to 2013, he was Head of Finance & Controlling of mobilezone Group. Prior to that Andreas Fecker held the 
position of financial controller at Mount10 Holding AG from 2000 until 2005. Subsequently he served for several years 
as controller at Zeppelin International AG and Franke Management AG. After a Swiss Federal Diploma in Finance and 
Accounting, he obtained a Master’s degree in Advanced Studies in Controlling from the Lucerne University of Applied 
Sciences in 2013.

AKIN ERDEM
Akin Erdem (1974, German) has been responsible for the areas Purchase and Wholesale throughout the Group 
since 2017. After graduating from high school in 1994, he studied business administration and graduated with a 
diploma in business administration. In 1998 he founded his own telecommunications business, which he expan-
ded into one of the leading wholesalers in Germany. In 2010 he joined einsAmobile GmbH as CEO and partner, 
which from 2015 to January 2021 was 100 percent part of the mobilezone Group. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Andreas Fecker  
CFO

Markus Bernhard  
CEO

Akin Erdem
CPO
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Roger Wassmer  
CEO Switzerland

ROGER WASSMER
Roger Wassmer (1973, Swiss) has been in charge of the Swiss business of the mobilezone Group since 2020. Before 
this, he was COO Switzerland and Austria from 2017 to 2019 and was in addition responsible for the service business. 
Prior to that, starting in 2014, he headed mobiletouch Switzerland as managing director and from 2015 also  
mobiletouch austria. He previously worked at Publimedia and EurtoaxGlass’s as Sales and Marketing Manager and 
was also CEO of OmniMedia AG and Managing Director of Car4you. From 2012 to 2014, Roger Wassmer was Coun-
try Manager for zanox Switzerland AG. After further education to earn federal qualification as marketing director, 
Roger Wassmer earned his Executive MBA degree. 

WILKE STROMAN
Wilke Stroman (1980, German) has been in charge of the German business of the mobilezone Group since January 
2020 as CEO Germany. In addition, he is Co-CEO of powwow. He established the online portal sparhandy.de in 2000 
as a sideline to his training as bank clerk in East Frisia. After successful completion of his training, he initially worked 
in the banking sector in London before relocating with his company to Cologne. There he developed the leading 
German telecommunications company out of the former start-up. 

4.2 Other activities and vested interests
Information about other activities and vested interests of the members of the Group Management can be viewed 
on the website at: www.mobilezoneholding.ch/en/Company/corporate-governance/Group-Management.html

4.3 Directorships outside of mobilezone Group
No member of the Executive Board may hold more than two mandates in listed companies and more than four 
mandates in non-listed companies. 

4.4 Management contracts
There are no management contracts regarding the transfer of managerial functions to third parties.

4.5 Change in the Group Management since 1 January 2021
The managing director powwow GmbH, Jens Barth, has been appointed as CDO (Chief Digital Officer) in the Group 
Management since 1 January 2021. Akin Erdem, previously CPO of the Group, left the Group Management on  
1 February 2021.

Wilke Stroman  
CEO Germany
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5. Shareholders’ participation rights
5.1 Restrictions on voting rights and representation

Each share entitles the holder to one vote at the General Meeting. Voting rights may only be exercised by share-
holders registered with voting rights in the share register. There are no restrictions on voting rights, and the rules 
in the Articles of Association regarding participation at the General Meeting of Shareholders do not deviate from 
those mandated by law.

5.2 Statutory quorums

The General Meeting passes resolutions and conducts votes by an absolute majority of the shareholders' votes cast 
unless mandatory statutory regulations or the provisions of the Articles of Association dictate otherwise. Absten-
tions, blank votes, and invalid votes shall not be counted as votes cast.  

If none of the candidates standing for election is able to obtain an absolute majority of the votes in the first ballot, 
a second ballot shall be held. In the second ballot, the relative majority of votes is decisive.

Pursuant to Article 13 of the Articles of Association, the following decisions require at least two-thirds of the votes 
represented and the absolute majority of the nominal share value represented: 

• changing the purpose of the company;
• creating voting shares;
• restricting the transferability of registered shares;
• an authorised or conditional capital increase;
•  any capital increase out of shareholders’ equity, against non-cash contributions or for the purpose  

of acquisitions in kind and for granting special privileges;
• limiting or cancelling shareholders’ subscription rights;
• the transfer of the company's registered office;
•  the delisting of the Company's shares from the SIX Swiss Exchange or its successor organisation;
•  the dissolution of the company without liquidation.

There are no rules that deviate from those mandated by law. 

5.3 Convocation of the General Meeting of Shareholders

The invitation to the annual General Meeting or extraordinary General Meeting is issued at least 20 days before the 
meeting through publication in the Schweizerische Handelsamtsblatt (SHAB – Swiss Official Gazette of Commer-
ce). The registered shareholders listed in the share register may also be sent an invitation letter. The invitation shall 
announce that the annual report, the auditors' report, and the compensation report will be available for inspection 
by the shareholders at the company's headquarters at least 20 days before the annual General Meeting and that 
upon request a copy of these documents will be sent to any shareholder. No resolutions can be passed on matters 
not announced in this way except by means of an application to convene an extraordinary General Meeting or to 
conduct a special audit.

5.4 Agenda

Shareholders representing shares of at least 2 percent of the share capital may request to have a subject for dis-
cussion placed on the agenda for the General Meeting. The relevant request for items to be placed on the agenda 
must be received by the Company in writing at least 45 days prior to the meeting, stating the items to be discussed 
and the motions.
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5.5 Registration in the share register

Voting rights may only be exercised by shareholders and beneficiaries who are registered in the mobilezone  
holding ag share register with voting rights. To be registered as a shareholder with voting right requires a decla-
ration on the part of the shareholder that the mobilezone holding ag shares were acquired in the shareholder’s 
own name and on the shareholder’s own account. The Board of Directors may refuse recognition and registration 
as shareholder with voting rights if said registration was based on false information provided by the share 
purchaser.

5.6 Proxy voting / electronic participation in the General Meeting

Each shareholder may be represented by a third party who is not required to be a shareholder and who is autho-
rised in writing, or by the independent voting proxy. Shareholders may also authorise and instruct the indepen-
dent voting proxy electronically, whereby the Board of Directors determine the modalities. The members of the 
Board of Directors present at the General Meeting shall decide whether to recognize or reject the proxy. Additional 
information on provisions regarding voting instructions to the Independent Proxy as well as on electronic partici-
pation in the General Meeting will be set forth in the invitation to the General Meeting.

6. Changes of control and defence measures
6.1 Duty to make an offer

There is no opting-out regulation.

6.2 Clauses regarding changes of control

There are no change-of-control clauses.

7. Auditor
7.1 Duration of the mandate and term of office of the lead auditor

Since fiscal year 2014, PricewaterhouseCoopers AG has been the auditor of mobilezone holding ag and all its 
Group companies to be audited. Prior to that year, Ernst & Young AG served for seven years as the company’s 
auditor. The auditor is chosen annually by the General Meeting. The lead auditor since fiscal year 2014 is Daniel 
Ketterer. The Board of Directors will propose to the General Meeting on 7 April 2021 the appointment of BDO AG 
as new auditor. Reto Frei is to hold the position of lead auditor.

7.2 Audit fees

The auditing fees agreed on with the auditors for the fulfilment of their statutory mandate, including auditing the 
consolidated accounts, amount to a total of CHF 375,000.

7.3 Additional fees

In the reporting year PricewaterhouseCoopers submitted invoices in the amount of CHF 36,000 for additional 
services beyond the scope of the auditors‘ statutory mandate. These fees were chiefly for services in connection 
with tax advice and IT processes.

7.4 Supervisory and control instruments pertaining to the audit

The auditors attend at last one meeting of the Audit Committee every year; usually they attend at least the final dis-
cussion of the audit. The auditors present the findings from their audit in an audit report to the Board of Directors.
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8. Information policy
Pursuant to the rules of Swiss GAAP FER, mobilezone Group publishes each year in March and August an annual 
and a semi-annual report on business performance. All publications are made available in electronic form and are 
published on the Group’s website. Upon request, the annual report and the semi-annual report are made availab-
le in print. Additional information on important changes and essential business activities is published on an ad-hoc 
basis. All information, including publication dates and a list of contact addresses, is available on the website at 
www.mobilezoneholding.ch under "Investors". Anyone who wishes to receive all of mobilezone’s media informati-
on automatically can register at:
www.mobilezoneholding.ch/en/investors/Investor-Relations-Medienservice.html

For 2021 the following important dates have been set:

• Publication of the 2020 annual report 12 March 2021
• Teleconference for investors, media and analysts 12 March 2021
• General Meeting 2021 07 April 2021
• Publication of the 2021 Half-Yearly Report 20 August 2021
• Teleconference for investors, media and analysts 20 August 2021
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Remuneration report

1.  Introduction
In compliance with the statutory provisions (Code of Obligations, Ordinance against Excessive Compensation of 
Listed Companies [Verordnung gegen übermässige Vergütungen bei börsenkotierten Aktiengesellschaften, 
VegüV], and the SIX Swiss Exchange listing rules) and the Articles of Association, the current compensation report 
sets forth the compensation policy for mobilezone Group’s Board of Directors and Group Management. In addi-
tion, the effective compensation of the reporting year and each member’s share portfolio are reported.

mobilezone pursues a profit- and performance-based and transparent compensation policy that is oriented toward 
the company’s long-term growth and success. Accordingly, the members of the Group Management receive the part 
of their compensation that is dependent on EBIT in shares of mobilezone holding ag that are subject to a blocking 
period of three years.

2.  Authority and determination of compensation
2.1 General
The articles of association stipulate that the Board of Directors will submit to the General Meeting for its approval 
the maximum total amount of compensation for the Board of Directors for the subsequent term of office. If unfore-
seeable events result in extraordinary demands made on the members of the Board of Directors, the Board of 
Directors may submit different or additional proposals regarding the same or other time periods to the General 
Meeting for its approval.

The 2019 annual General Meeting approved the proposal to amend the compensation regulations for the Group 
Management and change the retrospective vote to a prospective one and to move the reporting year’s compensa-
tion report forward for an consultative vote. The members of the Group Management receive a fixed compensation 
in cash, one dependent on EBIT in shares as well as a performance-based compensation in cash. At its December 
meeting the Nomination & Compensation Committee discusses any adjustments of the Group Management‘s 
compensation for the following year and proposes them to the Board of Directors. The CEO participates as guest 
without voting rights in the discussions regarding the other members of the Group Management. The CEO is not 
present for the discussion of the CEO‘s own compensation. The Nomination & Compensation Committee evaluates 
whether the Group Management objectives were achieved and presents recommendations to the Board of Direc-
tors. Based on the individual agreements on objectives of the other members of the Group Management, the CEO 
proposes to the Nomination & Compensation Committee that the objectives for the performance-based compen-
sation in cash have been achieved. The CEO is not present when the CEO‘s own performance and performance-
based compensation are evaluated. 

2.2 Board of Directors
The members of the Board of Directors receive a fixed compensation in cash that is not dependent on profit. The 
compensation amounts to CHF 130’000 (previous year: CHF 130,000) for the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
and CHF 75,000 (previous year: CHF 75,000) for the other members of the Board of Directors. In fiscal year 2018 
the company introduced an Audit Committee and a Nomination & Compensation Committee. The chairmanship 
of a committee is remunerated with CHF 20,000 (previous year: CHF 20,000) and membership with CHF 10,000 
(previous year: CHF 10.000).

REMUNERATION REPORT
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2.3 Group Management
The compensation of the members of the Group Management consists of a fixed compensation in cash and a va-
riable compensation. The variable compensation includes compensation dependent on EBIT in shares of  
mobilezone holding ag that are subject to a blocking period of three years, a performance-based compensation 
in cash as well as other benefits (assignment of options from the LTI (Long-Term Incentive) programme, employer 
contributions to the pension fund, social security, and personnel insurance as well as non-monetary benefits).

The compensation of the Group Management for fiscal year 2020 and 2019 is within the maximum permissible 
bounds approved by the General Meeting.

(CHF 000) Approved Achieved Utilization

Fiscal year 2020 4 800 3 242 68%
Fiscal year 2019 4 800 3 354 70%

The Board of Directors will ask the General Meeting 2021 to approve the maximum permissible total compensation 
of the Group Management amounting to CHF 4.3 million (previous year: CHF 4.8 million) for fiscal year 2022.

2.3.1 Fixed compensation
The fixed compensation and the target annual salary of the members of the Group Management are proposed and 
reviewed by the Nomination & Compensation Committee to the Board of Directors in December and are reviewed 
with due consideration of the budget adopted and the experience and skills of the Group Management member 
concerned. The actual fixed compensation in the reporting year amounted to CHF 2,018,000 (previous year:  
CHF 2,020,000).

2.3.2 EBIT-based compensation in shares
The EBIT guidance approved by the Board of Directors (CHF 38 million to CHF 43 million) was the target for a  
100 percent achievement of objectives. The lower limit for target achievement was CHF 38 million. No provision was 
made for additional variable compensation in the event of exceeding the target. If the upper limit had been reached 
in the previous year, the variable compensation in blocked shares would have doubled.

The amount of the share of compensation in shares corresponds to a maximum of 100 percent of the fixed compen-
sation.

The total number of shares allotted is calculated on the basis of the average mobilezone share closing price on the 
20 trading days preceding the December budget meeting of the Board of Directors for the following fiscal year. 
For fiscal year 2020, the compensation was converted into shares at the calculated average share price of CHF 9.81. 

2.3.3 Performance-based compensation in cash
The performance-based compensation in cash is dependent on whether the individual objectives of the members 
of the Group Management have been achieved over the course of a one-year period. These objectives, their rela-
tive weight, and the amount are proposed annually in December by the Nomination & Compensation Committee 
and are approved by the Board of Directors. The individual objectives cannot be exceeded. 

In the reporting year, the variable compensation (dependent on EBIT and the achievement of individual targets) 
ranged between zero percent and 81 percent (previous year: 11 percent and 93 percent) of the fixed compensation 
in cash. The share of EBIT targets lay between 57 and 100 percent and the achievement of the performance objec-
tives between 0 to 43 percent.

The lump sum expenses approved by the tax office are not included in the compensation amounts reported be-
cause they are reimbursements of expenses. In the reporting year these expenses totalled between CHF 12,000 
and CHF 18,000 (previous year: between CHF 12,000 and CHF 18,000) per member of the Group Management 
who is employed in Switzerland.

The employment contracts of members of the Group Management are open-ended and can be terminated with a 
maximum notice period of 12 months. No agreements regarding severance payments were made.

No severance payments were made to any members of executive bodies who left in the course of the reporting year.
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3. Compensations, shareholdings, and loans to members 
of executive bodies
3.1 Members of the Board of Directors
The compensation paid to the Board of Directors in the reporting year in the total amount of CHF 454,000 is below 
the maximum permissible compensation of CHF 470,000 that was approved by the shareholders at the General 
Meeting of 8 April 2020.

The details of the compensation paid to members of the Board of Directors are as follows:

(CHF 000) Year Fixed fee Committee Other benefits1 Total

Urs T. Fischer
2020 130 30 10 170

2019 130 30 12 172

Gabriela Theus
2020 75 20 7 102

2019 75 20 7 102

Peter K. Neuenschwander
2020 75 10 6 91

2019 75 10 6 91

Michael Haubrich²
2020 75 10 6 91

2019 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.

Christian Petit³
2020 n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a.

2019 75 10 6 91

Total
2020 355 70 29 454

2019 355 70 31 456

¹ The item "Other benefits" includes employer contributions to social security.
² At the General Meeting on 8 April 2020, Michael Haubrich was elected to the Board of Directors.
³ At the General Meeting on 8 April 2020, Christian Petit did not stand for re-election.

In the reporting year, no loans or credits were granted to members of the Board of Directors. There are 
also no loan or credit balances outstanding.

3.2 Former members of the Board of Directors
In the reporting year, no compensation was paid and no loans or credits were granted to former members of the 
Board of Directors. There are also no loan or credit balances outstanding.

3.3 Shareholdings of the Board of Directors 
As of 31 December, the members of the Board of Directors held the following number of shares:

Name Item             Number of shares
2020 2019

Urs T. Fischer Chairman, independent 2 500 2 500
Gabriela Theus Member, independent 2 500 2 500
Peter K. Neuenschwander Member, independent 2 000 2 000
Michael Haubrich¹ Member, independent 0² n.a.
Christian Petit³ Member, independent n.a. 0

¹ At the General Meeting on 8 April 2020, Michael Haubrich was elected to the Board of Directors. 
²  Michael Haubrich has a shareholding of 36 percent in Haubrich Zentrale GmbH & Co. KG, Düsseldorf, which indirectly holds 2,239,154 shares 

in mobilezone holding ag.
³ At the General Meeting on 8 April 2020, Christian Petit did not stand for re-election. 

3.4 Members of the Group Management
The compensation paid to the Board of Directors in the reporting year in the total amount of CHF 3,242,000 is 
below the maximum permissible compensation of CHF 4,800,000 that was approved by the shareholders at the 
General Meeting of 4 April 2019.
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The details of the compensation paid to members of the Group Management are as follows:

(CHF 000) Year Fixed 
compen-

sation

in cash

Target-based 
compen-

sation¹
 

in shares

Perfor mance-
based 

compen-
sation  
in cash

Other  
benefits²

Total

Markus Bernhard
2020 470 240 140 251 1 101

2019 468 264 171 207 1 110

Other members of the  
Group Management  

2020 1 548 225 107 261 2 141

2019 1 552 312 120 260 2 244

Total
2020 2 018 465 247 512 3 242

2019 2 020 576 291 467 3 354

1  The shares received are subject to a blocking period of three years.
2  The item "Other benefits" includes employer contributions to the pension fund, social security, and personnel insurance as well as non- 

monetary benefits. In addition, the "Other benefits 2020" include CHF 113 271 (previous year: CHF 16 166) expenses from the LTI (Long-Term 
Incentive) programme. The valuation of the options of the programme followed the Black-Scholes method. 

The compensation of the Group Management in the reporting year was reduced by CHF 112,000 to CHF 3,242,000. 
The reduction was chiefly attributable to lower achievement of objectives in the EBIT-based and performance-re-
lated compensation.

In the reporting year, no loans or credits were granted to members of the Group Management. There are also no 
loan or credit balances outstanding.

3.5 Former members of the Group Management
In the reporting year, no compensation was paid and no loans or credits were granted to former members of the 
Group Management. There are also no loan or credit balances outstanding.

3.6 Related parties
In the reporting year, no non-market compliant compensation was paid and no loans or credits were granted to 
related parties of current or former members of the Board of Directors and the Group Management. There are also 
no loan or credit balances outstanding. Further information about compensation paid to related parties can be 
found on page 89 in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

3.7 Shareholdings and options held by the Group Management
As of 31 December, the members of the Group Management held the following number of shares and  
options:

Name Position
      Number of shares      Number of options

2020 2019 2020 2019

Markus Bernhard CEO 110 000 80 000 280 000 180 000

Andreas Fecker CFO 50 282 40 000 135 000 75 000

Roger Wassmer CEO Switzerland 19 424 11 427 110 000 50 000

Wilke Stroman¹ CEO Germany 2 232 722 n.a. 0 n.a.

Akin Erdem² CPO 75 687 70 000 50 000 50 000

Murat Ayhan³ Managing Director Germany  n.a. 70 000 n.a. 50 000

¹ Wilke Stroman from 01.01.2020
² Akin Erdem until 01.02.2021 
³ Murat Ayhan until 31.12.2019 
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3.8 Long-term incentive program
On 29 December 2017, the Board of Directors adopted a long-term incentive program (LTI) for the management. 
The long-term incentive program involves equity instruments (equity-settled plan). 

The first distribution in the amount of 380,000 options took place on 29 June 2018. The options have a term of 
seven years with a vesting period of three years; they were distributed at 10 percent above the average clo-
sing share price after dividend payment (10 April 2018) until 29 June 2018, with an exercise price of CHF 12.19 
per share.
 
On 21 August 2019, the Board of Directors made a distribution in the amount of 85,000 options. The options have 
a term of seven years with a vesting period of three years; they were distributed at 10 percent above the average 
closing share price of the period 28 May to 21 August 2019 with an exercise price of CHF 10.61 per share.

On 19 August 2020, the Board of Directors made a distribution in the amount of 220,000 options. The options have 
a term of seven years with a vesting period of three years and an exercise price of CHF 8.13. The exercise price is 
calculated from the higher price based on the average closing share price in the period from 26 May to 18 August 
2020 at CHF 7.90 and a closing share price of 19 August 2020 of CHF 8.13. 
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PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Birchstrasse 160, Postfach, CH-8050 Zürich, Switzerland 
Telefon: +41 58 792 44 00, Telefax: +41 58 792 44 10, www.pwc.ch 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG is a member of the global PricewaterhouseCoopers network of firms, each of which is a separate and independent legal entity. 

Report of the statutory auditor 
to the General Meeting of mobilezone holding ag 

Rotkreuz 

We have audited the accompanying remuneration report of mobilezone holding ag for the year ended 31 December 2020. 
The audit was limited to the information according to articles 14-16 of the Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in 
Stock Exchange Listed Companies (Ordinance) on pages 60 to 62 of the remuneration report (chapter 3). 

Board of Directors’ responsibility 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and overall fair presentation of the remuneration report in accord-
ance with Swiss law and the Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in Stock Exchange Listed Companies (Ordi-
nance). The Board of Directors is also responsible for designing the remuneration system and defining individual remunera-
tion packages. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the accompanying remuneration report. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the remuneration report complies with Swiss law and articles 14–16 of 
the Ordinance. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence on the disclosures made in the remuneration report with 
regard to compensation, loans and credits in accordance with articles 14–16 of the Ordinance. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatements in the remuneration re-
port, whether due to fraud or error. This audit also includes evaluating the reasonableness of the methods applied to value 
components of remuneration, as well as assessing the overall presentation of the remuneration report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT

3  mobilezone holding ag  |  Report of the statutory auditor to the General Meeting 

Opinion
In our opinion, the remuneration report of mobilezone holding ag for the year ended 31 December 2020 complies with Swiss 
law and articles 14–16 of the Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Daniel Ketterer Christian Vögeli

Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Audit expert

Zürich, 8 March 2021
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1 to 31 December (CHF 000) Notes 2020 2019 

Net sales 1 1 237 662 1 324 022

Cost of goods and materials –1 060 326 –1 143 949
Gross profit 177 336 180 073

Other operating income 2 1 852 4 604
Personnel costs 3 –74 672 –75 542
Other operating costs 4 –50 740 –41 323
Operating profit before depreciation (EBITDA) 53 776 67 812

Depreciation property, plant & equipment 12 –4 453 –4 347
Amortization of intangible assets 13 –5 365 –3 817
Operating profit (EBIT) 43 958 59 648

Financial income 5 242 140
Financial expenses 6 –3 195 –3 774
Profit before taxes (EBT) 41 005 56 014

Income tax expense 7 –6 491 –11 609
Net profit 34 514 44 405

CHF CHF
Earnings per share 21 0.77 1.04
Earnings per share – diluted 21 0.77 1.04

The attached explanatory Notes are an integral part of mobilezone’s consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated income statement 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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As of 31 December (CHF 000) Notes 2020 2019

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 63 420 64 991
Trade accounts receivable 8 121 089 136 920
Inventories 9 72 455 80 086
Other receivables 10 10 685 10 111
Accruals 11 41 070 56 642
Current assets 308 719 348 750

Property, plant and equipment 12 18 135 18 619
Intangible assets 13 21 792 18 649
Other receivables 15 947 787
Deferred income tax assets 7 4 196 3 736
Non-current assets 45 070 41 791

Total assets 353 789 390 541

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Financial liabilities 16 47 998 67 559
Trade accounts payable 17 73 201 116 455
Tax liabilities 15 800 8 559
Other liabilities 18 14 348 13 270
Deferrals 19 41 295 34 351
Provisions 20 1 807 0
Current liabilities 194 449 240 194

Financial liabilities 16 135 000 128 308
Other liabilities 0 3 945
Deferred income tax liabilities 7 1 158 3 043
Non-current liabilities 136 158 135 296

Share capital 21 448 448
Treasury shares 21 –560 –579
Capital reserves 88 103 101 580
Goodwill offset 22 –246 662 –247 056
Retained earnings 181 853 160 658
Shareholders’ equity 23 182 15 051

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 353 789 390 541

The attached explanatory Notes are an integral part of mobilezone’s consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated balance sheet
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1 January to 31 December 31 (CHF 000)  Notes 2020 2019

Profit before taxes 41 005 56 014

 Financial result 2 953 3 634
 Depreciation and amortization 12, 13 9 818 8 164
 Changes of allowances (net) –1 494 –1 873
 Gains on divestment 14 –1 137 0
 Gains on disposal of other assets 0 –2 247
 Gains on disposal of non-current assets 33 –22
 Expenditure for share-based compensation 30 24
Gross cash flow from operating activities 51 208 63 694

Working capital adjustments
 Trade accounts receivable 15 694 41 588
 Other receivables and accruals 16 621 –18 334
 Inventories 6 649 38 816
 Trade accounts payable –41 343 –70 566
     Other liabilities, deferrals
     and provisions 17 729 7 429

Income taxes paid –6 808 –9 849
Net cash flow from operating activities 59 750 52 778

Additions
 Property, plant and equipment 12 –4 498 –4 391
 Intangible assets 13 –8 800 –5 645
 Securities in fixed assets –80 –30
 Acquisition of subsidiaries less cash and cash equivalents 14 0 –44 193
     Acquisition of subsidiary / Earn-out                                           14 –4 271 0
Disposals
 Property, plant and equipment 129 118
     Intangible assets 26  9
 Securities in fixed assets 149 12
     Sale of subsidiary less cash and cash equivalents                      14 –1 076 0
Interest received 242 124

Net cash flow from investing activities –18 179 –53 996

Proceeds of financial liabilities 91 571 127 862
Repayment of financial liabilities –102 779 –124 121
Repayment of other liabilities –1 027 –674
Interest paid –3 153 –3 043
Purchase of treasury shares –900 –4 908
Sale of treasury shares 844 5 457
Dividends paid –26 864 –24 384
Net cash flow from financing activities –42 308  –23 811

Effect of currency translation –834 –2 369
Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents –1 571 –27 398
Cash and cash equivalents on 1 January 64 991 92 389
Cash and cash equivalents on 31 December 63 420 64 991

The attached explanatory Notes are an integral part of mobilezone’s consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of cash flows

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Movement of shareholders’ 
equity (CHF 000) Notes Share

capital
Treasury 

shares
Capital

reserves
Goodwill

offset
Retained 
earnings Total

01.01.2019 408 –1 084 87 856 –171 817 119 019 34 382
Net profit 44 405 44 405
Capital increase 40 38 040 38 080
Purchase of treasury shares –4 908 –4 908
Sale of treasury shares 5 457 5 457
Dividends paid –24 384 –24 384
Profit of treasury shares –44 44 0
Share-based compensation 24 24
Acquisitions 14 –75 239 –75 239
Currency translation adjustments –2 766 –2 766
31.12.2019 448 –579 101 580 –247 056 160 658 15 051
Net profit 34 514 34 514
Purchase of treasury shares –900 –900
Sale of treasury shares 844 844
Dividends paid –13 432 –13 432 –26 864
Profit of treasury shares 75 –75 0
Share-based compensation 30 30
Divestment 14 394 394
Currency translation adjustments 113 113
31.12.2020 448 –560 88 103 –246 662 181 853 23 182

The attached explanatory Notes are an integral part of mobilezone’s consolidated financial statements. Other explanations on shareholders’ 
equity can be found in Notes 21.

Consolidated statement of changes 
in shareholders’ equity
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The Group Management of mobilezone Group is the chief operating decision maker. A new governance structure 
has existed since 1 January 2020, management "Switzerland and Austria" and management "Germany", which 
control national business activities. Due to this new organisation, the previous reportable segments, Trade and 
Service Providing have been adjusted to the new governance structure and are now represented in the reportable 
segments "Switzerland and Austria" and "Germany".

The segment "Switzerland and Austria" is comprised of mobilezone ag, mobilit ag, IT Business Services GmbH, 
TalkTalk AG, mobiletouch ag and mobiletouch austria gmbh. mobiletouch austria gmbh was deconsolidated in 
November 2020. The segment "Germany" is comprised of mobilezone Deutschland GmbH, einsAmobile GmbH, 
mobilezone Handel GmbH, powwow GmbH and powwow Berlin GmbH.

Segment information

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Income statement (CHF 000) Total mobilezone Group             Switzerland & Austria Germany Unallocated  /  Elimination
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Net sales 1 237 662 1 324 022 326 166 356 362 916 324 975 955 –4 828 -8 295

Cost of goods and materials –1 060 326 –1 143 949 –219 810 –249 615 –844 361 –905 437 3 845 11 103
Gross profit 177 336 180 073 106 356 106 747 71 963 70 518 –983 2 808

Other operating income 1 852 4 604 1 715 210 627 2 207 –490 2 187
Personnel costs –74 672 –75 542 –49 130 –52 476 –23 153 –20 207 –2 389 –2 859 
Other operating costs –50 740 –41 323 –20 681 –21 363 –34 765 –22 246 4 706 2 286

Operating profit before depreciation (EBITDA) 53 776 67 812 38 260 33 118 14 672 30 272 844 4 422

Depreciation property, plant & equipment –4 453 –4 347 –3 609 –3 778 –780 –528 –64 –41
Ammortization of intangible assets – 5 365 –3 817 – 3 412 –2 826 –1 953 –991 0 0
Operating profit (EBIT) 43 958 59 648 31 239 26 514 11 939 28 753 780 4 381

Balance sheet (CHF 000)

Current assets 308 719 348 750 105 502 126 248 199 000 228 278 4 217 –5 776
Non-current assets 45 070 41 791 23 563 25 636 20 186 16 001 1 321 154 
Assets 353 789 390 541 129 065 151 884 219 186 244  279 5 538 –5 622

Liabilities 330 607 375 490 119 101 145 764 341 167 367 577 –129 661 –137 851

Investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 13 298 10 036 5 729 7 441 7 452 2 498 117 97
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Income statement (CHF 000) Total mobilezone Group             Switzerland & Austria Germany Unallocated  /  Elimination
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Net sales 1 237 662 1 324 022 326 166 356 362 916 324 975 955 –4 828 -8 295

Cost of goods and materials –1 060 326 –1 143 949 –219 810 –249 615 –844 361 –905 437 3 845 11 103
Gross profit 177 336 180 073 106 356 106 747 71 963 70 518 –983 2 808

Other operating income 1 852 4 604 1 715 210 627 2 207 –490 2 187
Personnel costs –74 672 –75 542 –49 130 –52 476 –23 153 –20 207 –2 389 –2 859 
Other operating costs –50 740 –41 323 –20 681 –21 363 –34 765 –22 246 4 706 2 286

Operating profit before depreciation (EBITDA) 53 776 67 812 38 260 33 118 14 672 30 272 844 4 422

Depreciation property, plant & equipment –4 453 –4 347 –3 609 –3 778 –780 –528 –64 –41
Ammortization of intangible assets – 5 365 –3 817 – 3 412 –2 826 –1 953 –991 0 0
Operating profit (EBIT) 43 958 59 648 31 239 26 514 11 939 28 753 780 4 381

Balance sheet (CHF 000)

Current assets 308 719 348 750 105 502 126 248 199 000 228 278 4 217 –5 776
Non-current assets 45 070 41 791 23 563 25 636 20 186 16 001 1 321 154 
Assets 353 789 390 541 129 065 151 884 219 186 244  279 5 538 –5 622

Liabilities 330 607 375 490 119 101 145 764 341 167 367 577 –129 661 –137 851

Investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 13 298 10 036 5 729 7 441 7 452 2 498 117 97

The mobilezone Group monitors performance on the basis of the segment operating profit before interest and taxes (EBIT). The total  
assets of each segment comprise all assets of the segment. Internal reporting of the mobilezone Group is based on Swiss GAAP FER. 

The allocation of net sales to a country is based on the location of the registered office of the company that generated the sales. The 
"Unallocated / Elimination" item comprises transactions between segments and the holding company. Intercompany assets and liabilities 
are eliminated.
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Principles of Group accounting
Corporate information
mobilezone’s business activities include marketing telecommunications service contracts (mobile and 
fixed-line telephony, Internet, and digital TV) of all major network operators in Switzerland (Swisscom, 
Sunrise, Salt, UPC) and in Germany (Vodafone, Deutsche Telekom, Telefónica Deutschland) as well as 
selling (sales to business and private customers, supplying specialist retailers, wholesale) mobile commu-
nications devices (mobile phones, tablets, wearables) and related accessories. 

In Switzerland, the company markets telecommunications service contracts and sells mobile telecommu-
nication devices and the related accessories via its own network of shops and through its B2B organization. 
In addition, mobilezone offers consultation and outsourcing services for business customers in the area of 
mobile telecommunications and also offers repair services for mobile phones from many manufacturers. 
In Germany, marketing and sales are handled by the company’s own online portals, by online portals 
managed by third parties and partner-managed shops. With the brand "TalkTalk" in Switzerland and the 
brand "High" in Germany mobilezone competes in the market with its own mobile, fixed-line, and Internet 
offers as a Mobile Virtual Network Operator (MVNO). In Switzerland the offers are based on the network 
capacities of Sunrise and in Germany on those of Deutsche Telekom.

The parent company of mobilezone Group is mobilezone holding ag, Suurstoffi 22, 6343 Rotkreuz, Switzer-
land, It is listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, Ticker MOZN / Swiss Security Number 276 837 69.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1. Important principles of Group accounting
1.1 Principles of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements of mobilezone Group have been prepared in accordance with all existing 
guidelines of Swiss GAAP FER (financial reporting and accounting standards). The consolidated financial 
statements of mobilezone provide a true and fair view of its asset, financial, and earnings situation (true and 
fair view) in accordance with the principles of Swiss GAAP FER and comply with Swiss law. The consolidated 
accounts have been prepared on the basis of the historical cost principle, except for derivative financial inst-
ruments and securities, which are listed at their fair market value. The Group’s consolidated accounts are 
based on the Group companies’ separate financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with 
uniform guidelines. The uniform balance sheet date is 31 December. The reporting currency is the Swiss franc 
(CHF). The consolidated financial statements are drawn up on the going concern principle.

1.2 Definitions of performance measures not defined by Swiss GAAP FER.
The Group uses particular key figures to measure performance that are not defined by Swiss GAAP FER. 
Since these performance measures are not defined by Swiss GAAP FER, their comparability with similar  
figure of other companies may be restricted. To better explain these performance measures, they are pre-
sented below.

"EBITDA" corresponds to the operating profit (EBIT) before depreciation of property, plant & equipment and 
amortization of intangible assets.

Gross profit corresponds to net sales after deduction of the cost of goods and materials. 

The sub-total "Gross cash flow from operating activities" in the cash flow statement is calculated from the 
profit before taxes after deduction of the financial result and non-cash transactions.

1.3 Principles of consolidation 

Scope of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements of mobilezone include the financial statements of mobilezone holding 
ag and all the subsidiaries it controls directly or indirectly by majority of votes or other means. mobilezone 
holding ag currently holds shares in the following companies: 

Company, registered office Country Currency Share  
capital  

(000)  

Group share
      
       2020        2019 

Segment Consoli-
dation

mobilezone ag, Rotkreuz CH CHF 2 850 100% 100% CH&A F¹
mobilit AG, Härkingen³ CH CHF 100 100% 100% CH&A F¹
IT Business Services GmbH, Härkingen³ CH CHF 40 100% 100% CH&A F¹
mobiletouch ag, Zweidlen CH CHF 100 100% 100% CH&A F¹
TalkTalk AG, Rotkreuz CH CHF 100 100% 100% CH&A F¹
mobilezone Deutschland GmbH, Cologne⁴ DE EUR 25 100% 100% DE F¹
mobilezone Handel GmbH, Bochum⁵ DE EUR 25 100% 100% DE F¹
powwow GmbH, Cologne⁶, ⁷  DE EUR 778 100% 100% DE F¹
powwow Berlin GmbH, Bochum⁸ DE EUR 25 100% 100% DE F¹
sparstrom Energievertriebs GmbH, Cologne⁹  DE EUR 100 n.a. 40% DE E²
Bonamic GmbH, Bochum⁶ DE EUR 250 49% 49% DE E²
einsAmobile GmbH, Obertshausen¹⁰ DE EUR 50 100% 100% DE F¹
mobiletouch austria gmbh, Vienna¹¹ AT EUR 35 n.a. 100% CH&A F¹

¹ F: full consolidation
² E: equity accounting
³ mobilit AG and IT Business Services GmbH were acquired in August 2019.
⁴ einsAmobile Management GmbH was renamed mobilezone Deutschland GmbH on 17 September 2019.
⁵ TPHCom GmbH was renamed mobilezone Handel GmbH on 7 October 2020.
⁶ powwow GmbH and Bonamic GmbH were acquired in June 2019. 
⁷  SH Telekommunikation Deutschland GmbH was renamed powwow GmbH in February 2020.
⁸  Mr. Mobile GmbH was renamed powwow Berlin GmbH in February 2020. In October 2019, the shareholdings were increased  

from 45 percent to 100 percent. At the balance sheet date of 31 December 2019, the company was fully consolidated.
⁹ sparstrom Energievertriebs  GmbH was acquired in June 2019 and sold in December 2020.
¹⁰ 75 percent of the share in einsAmobile GmbH was sold in January 2021. 
¹¹ mobiletouch austria gmbh was deconsolidated in November 2020. 



74

Assets and liabilities, as well as expenses and income of the consolidated companies are included at 100 
percent. All inter-company transactions and relations between the consolidated companies are offset against 
each other and eliminated. Intercompany profits from such transactions are eliminated. The acquisition cost 
of subsidiaries is compared at the time of acquisition against the fair market value of the net assets acquired, 
liabilities, and contingent liabilities based on their new valuation, and the resulting goodwill is offset at the time 
of acquisition against shareholders’ equity (retained earnings).

Upon consolidation, all liabilities, all assets as well as transactions and unrealized resulting profits between the 
companies included in the consolidation are eliminated. Companies in which the Group holds at least 20 per-
cent but not more than 50 percent of the voting rights are recognized based on the equity method. The invest-
ment is valued on a proportionate equity basis. 

Estimates and discretionary decisions
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER requires evaluations, assump-
tions, and estimates that influence the items in the financial statements as of the balance sheet date. These 
evaluations, assumptions, and estimates are based on historical values and other factors that are considered 
adequate under the given conditions. The actual results may deviate from these estimates. Estimates and un-
derlying assumptions are subject to continuous assessment. Changes to estimates that affect the annual finan-
cial statements are included in the reporting period in which the estimate was revised as well as in future 
reporting periods if the latter are affected by the revised estimates.  

Segment information
The segment reporting format reflects the structure of the mobilezone Group. The assets as well as the liabi-
lities include all balance sheet items that can be directly allocated to a segment.

The segment "Switzerland and Austria" is comprised of mobilezone ag, mobilit ag, IT Business Services 
GmbH, TalkTalk AG, mobiletouch ag and mobiletouch austria gmbh. mobiletouch austria gmbh was deconso-
lidated in November 2020. The segment "Germany" is comprised of mobilezone Deutschland GmbH, einsA-
mobile GmbH, mobilezone Handel GmbH, powwow GmbH and powwow Berlin GmbH.

1.4 Principles of recognition and valuation

Conversion of foreign currencies
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Swiss francs. The functional currency of all Group 
companies is the Swiss franc or the euro. Every company within the Group determines its own functional curren-
cy. The items included in the financial statements of the respective companies are valued using this functional 
currency. Gains or losses arising from transactions and foreign currency translations of balance sheet items 
are included in the income statement. In the case of Group companies with another functional currency, the 
positions of the balance sheet are translated using the exchange rate in effect on the date of the balance 
sheet and the items of income statement and statement of cash flows at the average rates in Swiss francs. The 
resulting currency translation differences are recognized directly in shareholders' equity. Foreign currency 
differences on non-current Group loans with an equity nature are recognized directly in shareholders' equity. 
In the event of loss of control over a company, the corresponding accumulated translation differences are 
reclassified to the income statement. As of 31 December 2020, the positions of the balance sheet was trans-
lated at a euro exchange rate of 1.0946 (previous year: 1.0960) and the positions of the income statement at 
an average exchange rate of 1.0816 (previous year: 1.1242).

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, current credit bank balances, and current deposits with 
original maturity of less than 3 months. Cash and cash equivalents are valued at nominal value.

Securities
Securities are initially valued at historical cost plus transaction costs. Subsequently, securities are adjusted to 
market value and such effects are recognized in the income statement.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
listed on any stock exchange. They arise when mobilezone directly makes money, goods, or services available 
to a debtor and does not intend to trade with the receivable. Receivables from sales of services and products 
are valued at their nominal value, less the necessary value adjustments for receivables at risk. In addition to 
individual value adjustments for specific receivables known to be at risk, lump sum value adjustments are 
made for items that are overdue. The adjustment corresponds to the difference between the book value of the 
receivables and the current proceeds from the expected future cash flows. The changes in the value adjust-
ment are recognized in the income statement. The nominal value corresponds roughly to the market value. 
With the exception of values maturing more than 12 months after the balance sheet date, they are included 
in the current assets. The latter are classified under "Other assets" in non-current assets.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at cost or net realizable value, whichever is lower. The cost of inventories is calculated 
using the weighted average cost method. Goods lacking marketability or slow-moving items are subject to 
appropriate value adjustments. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business, less selling expenses. The price of a mobile phone is determined based on whether the product is 
sold on a stand-alone basis or in conjunction with a provider subscription. Net realizable value therefore takes 
into account both components. In addition, price protection arrangements with suppliers are also taken into 
account in determining the need for any value adjustments on inventories. Discount deductions are treated as 
reductions in the cost of goods.

Accruals
Significant amounts in the item "Accruals" include sales deferrals for soliciting new customers and contract 
renewals. Sales deferrals are calculated on the basis of sales and contracts not yet allocated. The effective 
allocation takes place in subsequent periods and can differ from the sales deferrals. Differences in the allo-
cations to sales deferrals and revised assessments are recognized in the subsequent period in which the ef-
fective allocation or the revised assessment occurs.
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Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant, and equipment are stated at historical cost or manufacturing cost less accumulated depreciati-
on. Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis on the basis of the following 
estimated useful lives of items of property, plant, and equipment:

• Office equipment and furniture, including EDP and vehicles, 2 to 10 years
• Shop equipment 5 to 8 years

Intangible assets 
Acquired rights, such as contracts with clients, lessors, and suppliers, and similar rights that generate finan-
cial earnings are capitalized and amortized on straight-line basis over the contractual or estimated useful life 
of usually 5 years. Customer acquisition costs for mobile, fixed-line and Internet customers are capitalized. 
Acquisition costs for mobile, fixed-line, and Internet customers are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
a maximum term of 24 months.

The item "Software" essentially includes the system and operating software. Software is valued at the acqui-
sition cost minus operationally necessary amortizations and impairments. The amortizations are recognized 
in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the useful life. The useful life amounts to 2 to 15 years.

Goodwill
Goodwill refers to the difference between purchase price and the actual value of the acquired net asset; it 
arises in the acquisition of subsidiaries. Goodwill is offset against shareholders’ equity at the time of acquisi-
tion. If parts of the purchase price depend on future events, these contingent considerations are estimated 
and recognized at the time of purchase. If divergences arise during the subsequent definitive purchase price 
settlement, the goodwill offset against shareholders' equity is adjusted accordingly. When a subsidiary is 
sold, acquired goodwill that had at an earlier time been offset against shareholders’ equity is taken into  
account at historical cost to determine the profit or loss affecting net income. The effect of a theoretical capi-
talization of goodwill with scheduled amortization, as well as possible value adjustments on the consolidated 
balance sheet and the income statement over a useful life of 5 years is shown in the Notes.

Impairment of assets
Assets are tested annually for impairment on the balance sheet date when due to events and indications an 
overvaluation of the book values appears possible. Losses due to an impairment are recognized in the in-
come statement when an asset’s book value is higher than its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount 
is defined as the higher of the net market value and value in use. If the factors on which the determination of 
the recoverable value was based have improved considerably, a value impairment stated in a previous repor-
ting period will be reversed in the income statement, either in part or in full.

Current financial liabilities
Current financial liabilities include trade and other current liabilities and are valued at nominal value.

Provisions
Provisions are built for current or future legal or de-facto obligations when, on the balance sheet date, as a 
result of past events, reasonable estimates regarding the future outflow of funds are possible and when such a 
transfer is likely. The provisions are determined based on the best possible estimate of the expected expen-
ditures. 

Possible liabilities whose occurrence as at the balance sheet date can not be assessed, or liabilities for 
which the level can not be reliably estimated, are disclosed in the Notes as contingent liabilities.
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Treasury shares
Treasury shares are recognized at historical cost in the shareholders’ equity as a separate minus position. 
Gains or losses from the sale of treasury shares are recognized within capital reserves.

Dividends
Dividends are recognized as a liability in the reporting period in which their distribution is decided.

Operative leasing and financial leasing
Payments made under operating leases are recognized in the income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease. As of 31 December 2020 and as of 31 December 2019, there were no financial leasing 
contracts.

Pension benefits
mobilezone Group has defined-contribution pension plans. Each of the Swiss subsidiaries is affiliated with a 
collective foundation, a multi-employer plan, with full value insurance. mobilezone Group is not obligated to 
cover a possible plan deficit. These pension benefit plans are financed with contributions from employees 
and employer. There are no pension plans at the foreign subsidiaries. 

Net sales and revenue recognition
Net sales include all revenues from the sale of goods and services, less sale deductions in earnings, rebates, 
discounts, and VAT. Revenues from the sale of goods are included in the income statement when the signi-
ficant risks and rights of ownership have been transferred to the buyer. Onetime commissions from provi-
ders are recognized upon conclusion of the contract. Recurring "airtime" profit-sharing commissions 
from providers are based on the subscribers’ monthly payments of mobile telephone bills to the providers. 
These amounts are recognized in the income statement based on the providers’ settlement process on an 
accrual basis. Service revenues are recognized in the period in which the services were rendered. 

Income tax expense
Current income taxes are calculated based on the taxable income of the year and are recorded in the income 
statement. Deferred income taxes are calculated using the balance sheet liability method. Temporary diffe-
rences arise from divergences between the book value of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purpo-
ses and the value used for tax purposes. Deferred tax is calculated using tax rates enacted or substantially 
enacted on the balance sheet date and will be offset in future tax periods. Deferred tax losses carried forward 
and deferred income tax assets are capitalized only to the extent that it is probable that they will be realized 
in the future.
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2.  Type and scope of financial risks
2.1 Financial risk management 
The financial instruments of mobilezone Group predominantly include cash and cash equivalents to provide 
sufficient funds for the business activities of the Group companies. The Group has various other financial in-
struments, such as trade accounts payable and receivable resulting directly from business activities, at its 
disposal. The main risks arising from these financial instruments include liquidity risk and risk of loss of recei-
vables. In terms of other financial assets, such as securities and other receivables, the maximum financial risk 
in the event of a failure of the counterparty corresponds to the book value of these instruments. 

2.2 Foreign currency risk
For the most part, sales and purchases are denominated in the companies’ local currencies (Swiss franc and 
euro). The currency volatilities of the euro do not significantly impact the operating profits of mobilezone. 
Given the short-term nature of payments in euro (5–30 days) and the high inventory turnover, as well as 
mobilezone’s currency congruent wholesale purchasing and selling of goods, the company generally does 
not hedge against currency risks on purchases. Only a few forward exchange transactions with short maturi-
ty took place in the reporting year. Any contracts open at the balance sheet date are valued at fair market 
value with any changes in fair market value fully recognized in the income statement. No forward exchange 
transactions were open as of December 31, 2020, or December 31, 2019.

2.3 Credit risk / Risk of loss of receivables
The Group is exposed to credit risks arising from its ordinary business activity. mobilezone’s credit risk arises 
primarily from trade accounts receivable and bank deposits. A considerable portion of the sales consists of 
cash transactions or is covered by insurance. Therefore, this business activity results in relatively few losses of 
accounts receivable compared to total sales. The company meets the risk of outstanding accounts receivable 
by negotiating short payment terms. To counteract the risk of loss of receivables, mobilezone Group employs 
predetermined hedging strategies, such as credit reports. Further minimization of risk is achieved by limiting 
and controlling the volume of outstanding receivables. Current bank credit balances and deposits are held 
at financial institutions. The risk of default is minimized by maintaining business relationships with several fi-
nancial institutions and by continuously monitoring the credit risk.

2.4 Interest rate risk
Changes in interest rates can have negative effects on the Group’s asset and income situation and can lead 
to changes in interest income and interest expenses. The risks regarding interest changes for the financial 
liabilities are limited, however, since the interest rates for most of the financial liabilities are fixed rates. 

2.5 Liquidity risk
Currently, mobilezone Group bears no foreseeable liquidity risk as its financial position features a sufficient 
amount of cash and its credit lines of CHF 227 million (previous year: CHF 249 million) are sufficient to cover 
peak demands on net current assets. As of 31 December 2020, CHF 44 million (previous year: CHF 53 million) 
of the credit line amount remained unused.

2.6 Changes in capital
The primary objective of mobilezone Group’s capital control is to ensure that the Group maintains a high 
credit rating and an advantageous proportion of shareholders’ equity in order to support its business activi-
ties. Capital includes the shareholder’s equity items capital stock, treasury shares, capital reserves, goodwill 
offset against equity and retained earnings. The Group may adjust dividend distributions to shareholders, 
issue new shares, buy back shares, or borrow capital for adjusting or maintaining its capital structure. No 
such changes were made to the objectives and guidelines as of 31 December 2020, or 31 December 2019.
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Net sales (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Sales mobile communication products 630 843 742 333
One-time commissions and recurring "airtime"  
of mobile communications providers 544 525 510 344

Revenue from fixed-net subscriptions, repairs, services 62 294 71 345
Total net sales 1 237 662 1 324 022

Other operating income (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Gains on sales of current assets 46 2 247
Gains on divestment 01 137
Other operating income 669 2 357
Total other operating income 1 852 4 604

The gains on divestment resulted from the deconsolidation of mobiletouch austria gmbh in November 2020  
(cf. Note 14). 

With the acquisition of powwow GmbH (formerly SH Telekommunikation Deutschland GmbH), mobilezone also 
acquired the companies One Brand Solutions GmbH, helfer-Line GmbH, the online platform handyflash.de, and 
other business and asset values from a 30 percent minority holding. These assets have been available for sale since 
June 2019. With the disposal of these assets at the end of October 2019 a profit of CHF 2.2 million was realized. 

Personnel costs  (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Wages and salaries 64 636 65 227
Social security costs 8 479 7 884
Pension costs 1 422 1 426
Other personnel costs 135 1 005
Total personnel costs 74 672 75 542

Number of full-time equivalents as of 31 December 1 127 1 217

Compensations received in the reporting year in the form of short time compensation of CHF 5.1 million is shown 
net in the item wages and salaries.

Other operating costs (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Rent expenses 12 782 11 173
Advertising 13 860 15 518
Repair & maintenance, office & administrative costs 24 453 22 886
Restructuring costs 4 843 0
less contributions received from third parties –5 198 –8 254
Total other operating costs 50 740 41 323

Lease reductions granted by landlords during the Covid-19 2020 lockdown are shown net in rent expenses. 

Financial income (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Interest income 239 124
Other financial income 3 3
Equity accounting result 0 13
Total financial income 242 140

 1

 2

 3

 4
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Notes to the consolidated income statement
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Income tax expense (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Current income taxes 8 840 8 203 
Deferred income taxes –2 349 3 406
Total income tax expense 6 491 11 609

Current income taxes are based solely on the profit in the reporting year. Deferred income taxes are based on chan-
ges in temporary differences. In the reporting year, deferred taxes on losses carried forward in the amount of CHF 
0.3 million (previous year: CHF 2.9 million) were reversed.

Income tax reconciliation (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Profit before taxes 41 005 56 014
Average applicable tax rate 18.37% 21.85%
Expected tax expense 7 533 12 239
Effect from change in tax laws in Switzerland  –763  –836
Expenses not recognised for tax purposes/tax-exempted income –483 255
Non-reclaimable foreign withholding tax 293 0
Tax expense/income from prior periods –89 –49
Effective income tax expense 6 491  11 609

 
The average tax rate is the weighted average of the tax rates of the individual Group companies and may therefore 
vary annually. Various statutory amendments entered into force on 1 January 2020, which affect corporate taxation. 
This involved most of the cantons lowering their profit tax rates. In addition, transition arrangements were decided 
to cushion the financial effects of the abolition of the holding privilege. The tax rate cuts combined with the transi-
tion arrangements resulted in positive tax effects of CHF 0.8 million (previous year: CHF 0.8 million) in the mobile-
zone consolidated financial statements. On the one hand, the effects result from the re-evaluation of existing de-
ferred income tax liabilities based on the income tax cuts and on the other hand, the transition arrangements 
resulted in the recognition of new deferred tax assets in the holding company. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Provisions 180 198
Receivables 0 7
Financial assets 207 192 
Capitalized losses carried forward 3 037 3 339
Other 772 0
Total deferred income tax assets 4 196 3 736

Inventories 735 1 245
Receivables 423 1 712
Provisions 0 86
Total deferred income tax liabilities 1 158 3 043

Deferred income tax positions are calculated at the tax rates that are applicable to the respective companies.  
These are between 12 and 33 percent (previous year: 14 and 33 percent). As in the previous year, no income tax was 
recognized directly within shareholders’ equity.

 7
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Financial expenses (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Interest expense 3 153 3 043
Other financial expenses 42 731
Total financial expense 3 195 3 774

The item "Other financial expenses" included a value adjustment to other assets in 2019.

 6
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Trade accounts receivable (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Accounts receivable, gross 122 928 140 088
Value adjustments –1 839 –3 168
Total trade accounts receivable 121 089 136 920

Trade accounts receivable do not bear interest and are usually payable within no more than 30 days.

Inventories (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Inventories, gross 73 583  81 560
Value adjustments –1 128 –1 474
Total inventories 72 455 80 086

Other receivables (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Other receivables 5 025 5 048
VAT 39 0
Income tax 5 039 2 947
Accounts receivable due from associates 274 384
Advance payments 308 1 732
Total other accounts receivable 10 685 10 111

Accruals (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Unbilled receivables 38 346 50 025
Other accruals 2 724 6 617
Total accruals 41 070 56 642

Other accruals comprise primarily reductions in the cost of goods.

 8
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Notes to the consolidated statement of financial position
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Property, plant and equipment (CHF 000) Buildings, 
land 

Shop 
equipment Others Total

Acquisition costs
As of 31.12.2018 0 31 427 9 166 40 593
 Additions 0 3 061 1 330 4 391
 Change in the scope of consolidation 6 209 0 1 778 7 987
 Reclassification 0 0 0 0
 Disposals 0 –14 134 –1 483 –15 617
 Foreign exchange impact –196 –2 –126 –324
As of 31.12.2019 6 013 20 352 10 665 37 030
 Additions 46 3 259 1 193 4 498
 Change in the scope of consolidation 0 0 –1 734 –1 734
 Reclassification 0 0 0 0
 Disposals 0 –89 –730 –819
 Foreign exchange impact –7 –1 –17 –25
As of 31.12.2020 6 052 23 521 9 377 38 950

Accumulated depreciation
As of 31.12.2018 0 24 825 4 801 29 626
 Additions 0 2 486 1 861 4 347
 Reclassification 0 0 0 0
 Disposals 0 –14 121 –1 397 –15 518
 Foreign exchange impact 0 –1 –43 –44
As of 31.12.2019 0 13 189 5 222 18 411
 Additions 189 2 534 1 719  4 442
 Change in the scope of consolidation 0 –1 3800 –1 380
 Reclassification 111 0 –111 0
 Disposals 0 –77 –568 – 645
 Foreign exchange impact 2 –1 –14 –13
As of 31.12.2020 302 15 645 4 868 20 815

Book value
As of 31.12.2019 6 013 7 163 5 443 18 619
As of 31.12.2020 5 750 7 876 4 509 18 135

 12
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Intangible assets (CHF 000) Software Customer 
acquisition costs

Acquired  
shop location Total

Acquisition costs

As of 31.12.2018 18 254 6 689 4 100 29 043
 Additions  3 384 1 838 423 5 645
 Change in the scope of consolidation 2 223 403 0 2 626
 Reclassification 0 0 0 0
 Disposals –2 540 0 –1 883 –4 423
 Foreign exchange impact –141 –45 0 –186
As of 31.12.2019 21 180 8 885 2 640 32 705
 Additions 5 993 2 807 0 8 800
 Change in the scope of consolidation –1 111 0 0 –1 111
 Reclassification 0 0 0 0
 Disposals –557 –2 077 0 –2 634
 Foreign exchange impact 23 33 0 56
As of 31.12.2020 25 528 9 648 2 640 37 816

Accumulated amortization
As of 31.12.2018 4 614 6 134 3 957 14 705
 Additions 2 474 1 246 97 3 817
 Reclassification 0 0 0 0
 Disposals –2 531 0 –1 883 –4 414
 Foreign exchange impact –39 –14 1 –52
As of 31.12.2019 4 518 7 366 2 172 14 056
 Additions 3 270 1 924 122 5 316
 Change in the scope of consolidation –735 0 0 –735
 Reclassification 0 0 0 0
 Disposals –542 –2 078 0 –2 620
 Foreign exchange impact –6 13 0 7
As of 31.12.2020 6 505 7 225 2 294 16 024

Book value
As of 31.12.2019 16 662 1 519 468 18 649
As of 31.12.2020 19 023 2 423 346 21 792

 13
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Other receivables (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Deposits, other receivables and assets 809 491
Equity investments 138 296
Total other receivables 947 787

The item "Other receivables" includes deposits, other receivables, and investments in other companies, which 
are recognized at acquisition value minus any value adjustments.

 15

Acquisitions and divestments
Divestments: 
mobilezone sold 100% of the share in mobiletouch austria gmbh with annual sales of CHF 18.6 million in the re-
porting year. Gains on the divestment amounted to CHF 1,137,000 and were recognized in other operating income. 
Due to the sale, all assets and liabilities were deconsolidated on 30 November. As a result of the sale, goodwill 
amounting to CHF 394,000 and accumulated currency translation differences of CHF 102,000 were recycled from 
shareholders' equity to the consolidated income statement.  The cash inflow from the sale occurred in January 
2021.

Acquisitions: 
On 18 June 2019, powwow GmbH (formerly SH Telekommunikation Deutschland GmbH [SH]) and on 29 August 
2019, the companies mobilit AG and IT Business Services GmbH (mobilit) were acquired and powwow Berlin 
GmbH (formerly Mister Mobile GmbH) was acquired on 30/31 October 2019. The takeover balance sheet pursu-
ant to Swiss GAAP FER is as follows:

(CHF 000) SH mobilit Mister Mobile

Purchase price 88 569 6 132 3 119
Acquisition costs 252 0 101
Cash and cash equivalents acquired –4 859 –2 256 –297
Capital increase from authorized capital –38 080 0 0
Offset against receivables 0 0 –1 524
Earn-Out / purchase price due in subsequent period –4 048 –2 360 –556
Net cash outflow 41 834 1 516 843

Purchase price 88 569 6 132 3 119
Acquisition costs 252 0 101
Existing value of holdings, equity method 0 0 13
Capital contributions 0 0 6 959
Net assets –26 915 –1 535 –1 456
Goodwill 61 906 4 597 8 736

 14 
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Current financial liabilities  (CHF 000) Currency 2020 Interest rate 2019 Interest rate

 Real estate loans EUR 485 2.08–2.40 486 2.08–2.40
 Bank loans EUR 38 313 1.50 65 758 1.00–1.35
 Other loans EUR 1 040 2.00 1 315 2.00
 Bank loans CHF 8 160 1.50–1.85 0
Total current financial liabilities 47 998 67 559

Non-current financial liabilities (CHF 000) Currency 2020 Interest rate 2019 Interest rate

 Real estate loans EUR 1 544 2.08–2.40 2 032 2.08–2.40
 Bank loans EUR 49 259 1.50 0
 Promissory note loans  EUR 31 197 0.85–1.15 31 235 0.85–1.15
 Other loans EUR 0 1 041 2.00
 Bank loans CHF 0 41 000 1.50–1.75
 Promissory note loans  CHF 53 000 0.85–1.20 53 000 0.85–1.20
Total non-current financial liabilities 135 000 128 308

Financial liabilities (CHF 000) Currency 2020 Interest rate 2019 Interest rate
 Real estate loans EUR 2 029 2.08–2.40 2 518 2.08–2.40
 Bank loans EUR 87 572 1.50 65 758 1.00–1.35
 Promissory note loans  EUR 31 197 0.85–1.15 31 235 0.85–1.15
 Other loans EUR 1 040 2.00 2 356 2.00
 Bank loans CHF 8 160 1.50–1.85 41 000 1.50–1.75
 Promissory note loans  CHF 53 000 0.85–1.20 53 000 0.85–1.20
Total financial liabilities 182 998 195 867

Remaining time to maturity (CHF 000) 2020 2019
 Up to 1 year 47 998 34 680
 Between 1 and 5 years 134 864 142 639
 More than 5 years 136 18 548
Total financial liabilities 182 998   195 867

The CHF / EUR bank loans are part of a syndicated loan of CHF 140 million credit line (previous year CHF 60 
million). It has a time to maturity to 31 December 2025. The syndicated loan has an interest rate of between  
1.00 percent and 2.10 percent, based on LIBOR plus a margin that depends on the net debt to EBITDA ratio. The 
interest rate in the reporting period was 1.5 percent. In December 2020, the euro bank loan and syndicated loan 
were replaced by a new syndicated loan. All bank loans and the promissory note loans are subject to the customa-
ry market conditions and covenants, which are being complied with.

 16
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Trade accounts payable 2020 2019
 Trade accounts payable 73 082 116 278
 Trade accounts payable toward non-consolidated affiliates 119 177
Total trade accounts payable 73 201 116 455              

Other current liabilities (CHF 000) 2020 2019
 VAT 9 187 7 539
 Social security costs 886 1 226
 Earn-Out/ purchase price of acquisition due in subsequent period 0 2 903
 Other 4 275 1 602
Total other current liabilities 14 348 13 270

Deferrals (CHF 000) 2020 2019
 Sales of goods 4 668 2 515
 Cost of goods and materials 25 031 14 932
 Personnel costs 4 103 5 841
 Other 7 493 11 063
Total deferrals 41 295 34 351 

In the reporting year, in connection with the merger of the distribution activities in the trading business in Ger-
many, a restructuring provision of CHF 5.4 million was formed, of which CHF 3 million were used and CHF 0.6 
million dissolved. The restructuring costs are included in other operating costs. All provisions are recognized as 
short term. 
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Share capital and reserves 

The share capital consists of 44 781 213 registered shares (previous year:  44,781,213) at a nominal value  
of CHF 0.01 each.

Change in number  
of treasury shares

Number of  
shares

Highest
price CHF

Price in CHF  
average

lowest
price CHF

Total  
(CHF 000)

As of 1 January 2019 100 000 1 084
Purchases at cost prices 522 409  10.21 9.39 9.07 4 908
Disposals at sales prices –558 785 11.80 9.77 9.52 –5 457
Gains/losses 44
As of 31 December 2019 63 624 579

Purchases at cost prices 111 162 8.29 8.09 7.80 900
Disposals at sales prices –104 786 8.92 8.05 7.25 –844
Gains/losses –75
As of 31 December 2020 70 000 560

The sale of Treasury shares resulted in a loss of CHF 75,000 (previous year: profit CHF 44,000).

At the annual General Meeting of mobilezone holding ag on 4 April 2019, authorized capital in the amount of CHF 
40,000 or, respectively, of 4,000,000 registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.01 was created. On 14 June 
2019, in connection with the acquisition of SH Telekommunikation Deutschland GmbH effected a capital increase of 
CHF 40,000 by issuing 4,000,000 registered shares from authorized capital while excluding the subscription rights 
of existing shareholders. The nominal value of the shares was CHF 0.01 each. The issuance of new shares amounted 
to CHF 38 million. The dividend payment of CHF 24.4 million was reclassified from the retained earnings to the 
capital reserves.

At the annual General Meeting on 8 April 2020, the shareholders approved the creation of authorised capital at a 
maximum amount of CHF 40,000 through the issuance of a maximum of 4,000,000 fully paid registered shares with 
a nominal value of 1 centime each by 7 April 2022 at the latest. 

As of 31 December 2020, the line item "Retained earnings" includes legally required reserves in the amount of  
CHF 1,685,000 (previous year: CHF 1,685,000); it is required that they not be distributed. These reserves were  
established based on the legal requirements of the Swiss Code of Obligations. 

On 29 December 2017, the Board of Directors adopted a long-term incentive program (LTI) for the management. 
The long-term incentive program involves equity instruments (equity-settled plan). The options have a term of 7 
years with a vesting period of 3 years. The first distribution in the amount of 380,000 options took place on 29 June 
2018, at 10 percent above the average closing share price after dividend payment (10 April 2018, until 29 June 
2018) and with an exercise price of CHF 12.19 per share. On 21 August 2019, the Board of Directors made a second 
distribution in the amount of 85,000 options at 10 percent above the average closing share price in the period from 
May 28, 2019, to August 21, 2019, and with an exercise price of CHF 10.61 per share. On 19 August 2020, the Board 
of Directors made a distribution in the amount of 220,000 options. The options have a term of seven years with a 
vesting period of three years and an exercise price of CHF 8.13. The exercise price is calculated from the higher 
price based on the average closing share price in the period from 26 May to 18 August 2020 at CHF 7.90 and a 
closing share price of 19 August 2020 of CHF 8.13. 

Calculation of earnings per share 2020 2019
Net profit CHF 34 514 000 44 405 000
Number of shares outstanding Number 44 781 213 44 781 213
Weighted average number of shares outstanding  Number 44 709 172 42 792 890
Earnings per share CHF 0.77 1.04
Earnings per share-diluted CHF 0.77 1.04

In April 2020, a dividend of CHF 0.60 per share (2019: CHF 0.60) was paid to the shareholders. In both, current 
and prior year, no significant dilution of the earnings per share occured.

 21
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Operating Leasing

On 31 December 2020, mobilezone Group ran in 123 shops (previous year: 117) throughout Switzerland, which were 
all leased. Most of the leases have a fixed term of three to five years and an option to renew for several years.

As of the balance sheet date, future payments for shops, storage and office rooms and other non-current contracts 
with fixed term are coming due as follows:

2020 (CHF 000) Premises Other Total
Less than 1 year 10 334 764 11 098
Between 1 and 5 years 21 449 206 21 655
More than 5 years 2 787 0 2 787
Total 34 570 970 35 540

2019 (CHF 000) Premises Other Total
Less than 1 year 10 511 897 11 408
Between 1 and 5 years 21 306 679 21 985
More than 5 years 3 110 0 3 110
Total 34 927 1 576 36 503

In the reporting year 2020, the amount of CHF 12.8 million (previous year: CHF 11.2 million) was recognized as 
rent expenses in the consolidated income statement. 

 23

Treatment of Goodwill

Goodwill has been offset against retained earnings at the time of acquisition. The resulting effects on sharehol-
ders’ equity and on profit or loss are documented below based on the assumption of a useful life of goodwill 
of 5 years.

Effect of a theoretical capitalization of goodwill on the consolidated balance sheet and income statement:

Balance sheet (CHF 000) 2020 2019

Stated shareholders’ equity 23 182 15 051
Equity ratio 6.6% 3.9%

Acquisition value goodwill
At the beginning of the fiscal year 247 056 171 817
 Additions 0 75 239
 Disposals –394 0
At the end of the fiscal year 246 662 247 056

Accumulated amortization
At the beginning of the fiscal year 129 577 95 007
 Amortization current year 38 375 34 570
 Disposals –394 0
At the end of the fiscal year 167 558 129 577

Theoretical net book value goodwill 79 104 117 479

Theoretical shareholders’ equity without offsetting of goodwill 102 286 132 530
Theoretical equity ratio 23.6% 26.1%

Effect of a theoretical amortization of goodwill on results:

Income statement (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Stated net profit 34 514 44 405
Theoretical amortization of goodwill –38 375 –34 570
Net profit after amortization of goodwill –3 861 9 835

 22



89

Relationship with related parties and companies

Related parties and companies are organizations in which mobilezone participates significantly as well as mem-
bers of the Group Management, the Board of Directors and their close relatives, and key shareholders and 
companies controlled by them. All transactions with related parties and companies are conducted at market 
values. 

Since the acquisition of einsAmobile Management GmbH at the end of March 2015, the company powwow 
Berlin GmbH is part of the mobilezone Group. Until the end of October 2019 mobilezone Deutschland GmbH 
held 45 percent and since 31 October 2019, 100 percent of the voting and capital shares of powwow Berlin 
GmbH. 

Transactions and balances with related  
parties and companies (CHF 000) 2020 2019

Net sales 141 418
Cost of goods and materials 11 844 15 604
Cost of services 9 128
Financial income 14 82
Receivables 315 386
Payables 119 177

Significant shareholders

The shares of mobilezone holding ag are broadly distributed. Significant shareholders are listed in the annual 
financial statements on page 100.

Compensation to Members of the Board of Directors and the Group Management

Further details of the compensation paid to members of the Board of Directors and to the Group Management 
can be found on pages 58 to 62 of the renumeration report.

Legal risks

Because of the ordinary course of their business, some group companies are involved in legal disputes. Manage-
ment has estimated the outcome of these legal cases based on the information currently available and has not 
recognized any provisions in the reporting year. However, there are inherent risks in connection with legal 
claims, depending on the conduct and perspective of the responsible court and the counterparty, that can result 
in a significant outflow of economic resources.
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Contingent liabilities and future commitments, capital commitments, and restrictions of ownership

As of 31 December 2020, land and buildings in the amount of CHF 5.7 million (previous year: CHF 5.9 million) and 
cash and cash equivalent of CHF 2.4 million (previous year: CHF 0) are pledged for credit lines at banks. In the 
previous year, trade accounts receivable of CHF 43.4 million and inventories of CHF 47.8 million were pledged. 
These items were no longer required on account of the refinancing of bilateral bank liabilities by an unsecured 
syndicated loan.

There are no further items requiring disclosure.

 24
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Impact of Covid-19

mobilezone Group had a very good start into 2020 and was ahead of the previous year's results in key figures 
until mid-March. The business result at EBIT level was burdened by the Corona-related lockdown. The majority 
of stores in Switzerland were closed from mid-March to mid-May. A sharp decline in customer frequency was 
recorded in the open stores. Repair volumes for defective mobile devices declined in Switzerland and Austria 
during this period. Following the end of the first lockdown in Switzerland on May 11 and the reopening of all 
physical points of sale, business in Swiss retail developed very encouragingly. The good performance of the 
beginning of the year was continued, interrupted by the eight-week lockdown. This positive development conti-
nued despite a 20 percent drop in visitor frequencies in November and December due to tighter measures resul-
ting from the second Corona wave. In Germany, many partner stores were closed from March 2020 until the end 
of the year. The short-time working introduced in all companies and the increased volume in the online business 
were able to mitigate the losses in the offline business, but not compensate for them. 

Significant events after the balance sheet date

At the end of January 2021, the mobilezone Group sold 75 percent of its share in einsAmobile GmbH. The dive-
sted business generated sales of CHF 303 million in the past fiscal year 2020 (2019: CHF 347 million). The parties 
have agreed not to disclose the purchase price. 

Otherwise, no significant events have occurred after the balance sheet date.

On 8 March 2021, the Board of Directors of mobilezone holding ag authorized these financial statements for  
issuance. The Board of Directors proposes the General Meeting on 7 April 2021 that these consolidated financial 
statements be approved.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Birchstrasse 160, Postfach, CH-8050 Zürich, Switzerland 
Telefon: +41 58 792 44 00, Telefax: +41 58 792 44 10, www.pwc.ch 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG is a member of the global PricewaterhouseCoopers network of firms, each of which is a separate and independent legal entity. 

Report of the statutory auditor 
to the General Meeting of mobilezone holding ag  

Rotkreuz 

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of mobilezone holding ag and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprise the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2020, the consolidated balance sheet as 
at 31 December 2020, the consolidated statement of cash flows and the consolidated statement of changes in share-
holders’ equity for the year then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements (pages 66 to 90) give a true and fair view of the con-
solidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and its consolidated financial performance and its con-
solidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and comply with Swiss law. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
provisions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial  
statements” section of our report. 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss au-
dit profession and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our audit approach 

Overview Overall Group materiality: CHF 2,460,000 

 

We concluded full scope audit work at five Group companies in two countries. 
Our audit scope addressed 94% of the net sales and 74% of the assets of the 
Group.  

In addition, at two Swiss Group companies, we performed limited statutory ex-
aminations and checked the major adjustments from financial statements pre-
pared in accordance with local commercial law to those prepared in accord-
ance with Swiss GAAP FER requirements. 

As key audit matter the following area of focus has been identified: 

Accruals from unbilled receivables 
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Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. Our audit opinion aims to provide reasonable 
assurance that the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due 
to fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influ-
ence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the consolidated financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall 
Group materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with 
qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit 
procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate, on the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole.

Overall Group materiality CHF 2,460,000

How we determined it 5% of the three-year average of profit before taxes

Rationale for the materiality bench-
mark applied

We chose profit before taxes as the benchmark because, in our view, it is the 
benchmark against which the performance of the Group is most commonly 
measured, and it is a generally accepted benchmark for materiality considera-
tions. As a consequence of the financial impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on 
the financial statements, we calculated the three-year average.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements above CHF 119'000 identified during 
our audit as well as any misstatements below that amount which, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the consoli-
dated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the accounting processes and con-
trols, and the industry in which the Group operates.

The audit strategy for the audit of the consolidated financial statements was determined taking into account the work 
performed by the Group auditor and the component auditors in the PwC network. The Group auditor performed the audit 
of the consolidation, disclosures and presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Where audits were per-
formed by component auditors, we ensured that, as Group auditor, we were adequately involved in the audit and as-
sessed whether sufficient appropriate audit evidence was obtained from the work of the component auditors on the fi-
nancial information of the components to provide a basis for our opinion. Our involvement as Group auditor comprised 
video/telephone calls with the component auditors during the planning phase, the interim audit and the year-end audit as 
well as discussions of the risk assessment.

Report on key audit matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.
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Accruals from unbilled receivables

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

mobilezone generates some of its sales income from 
agreements with mobile telecoms providers and other part-
ners, which compensate mobilezone for the costs of ac-
quiring new customers and extending existing contracts. 
The commissions are determined on the basis of sales and 
agreed contracts and calculated and paid, with a time lag, 
only after the actual conclusion of the transaction. The 
Management of mobilezone accrues estimated unbilled 
commission income as of the balance sheet date on the 
basis of its own sales records and its own experience. Final 
agreement with mobile telecoms providers and other part-
ners of the amounts due is in some cases still pending. The
calculation of the commissions has a direct impact on the 
sales income and the result reported in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements, and involves significant estimation un-
certainties and scope for judgement. Therefore, we con-
sider this item to be a significant audit matter in relation to 
the consolidated financial statements.

The assessment of accruals from unbilled receivables in 
the amount of CHF 38.3 million (or 10.8% of the Group’s 
total assets) was a key audit matter in our audit of the 2020
consolidated financial statements for the reasons men-
tioned above.

Please refer to note 1.4 ‘Principles of recognition and valu-
ation’ in conjunction with note 11 ‘Accruals’.

We tested the reconciliation process as defined in the inter-
nal control system. We also tested compliance with the as-
sociated internal controls relating to commissions from the 
largest mobile telecoms providers and other partners. 

In addition, we performed the following audit procedures in 
particular:

We checked Management's calculation and the accuracy 
of its estimates by examining, on a sample basis, the ac-
tual final invoices received in the 2020 financial year in re-
lation to the prior year's estimate as at 31 December 2019.

We reconciled accruals for which provisional invoices were 
already available with the estimate as at the balance sheet 
date of 31 December 2020.

For accruals as at 31 December 2020 that had not been 
definitively confirmed by invoice or other supporting docu-
mentation before the completion of our audit, we tested the 
calculations and examined the latest available reconcilia-
tion with the mobile telecoms providers or the other part-
ners. Additionally, we critically examined Management's 
statements and assumptions by considering the past re-
coverability of accruals. We obtained appropriate audit evi-
dence on a sample basis.

The results of our audit support the judgement-based deci-
sions and estimates made by Management in relation to 
the accruals from unbilled receivables as at 31 December 
2020.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with Swiss GAAP FER and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such internal control as the Board of 
Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from mate-
rial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be ex-
pected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements is located at the website 
of EXPERTsuisse: http://expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report-for-public-companies. This description forms part of our audi-
tor’s report.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal 
control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements according to the 
instructions of the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Daniel Ketterer Christian Vögeli

Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Audit expert

Zürich, 8 March 2021
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1 to 31 December (CHF 000) 2020 2019

Dividend income 22 500 23 000
Other financial income 6 391 6 451
Other operating income 6 656 5 263
Total income 35 547 34 714

Financial expenses 2 689 6 677
Personnel costs 2 289 2 718
Other operating costs 631 491
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 62 41
Income tax expense 972 644
Total expenses 6 643 10 571

Net profit 28 904 24 143

Income statement
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As of 31 December (CHF 000) Notes 2020 2019

Assets

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 046 2 722
Other current receivables 6 117 554 114 846
Accruals 7 571 2 956
Total current assets 125 171 120 524

Non-current assets
Financial assets 8 197 606 180 995
Investments 9 39 817 39 817
Property, plant and equipment 138 146
Total non-current assets 237 561 220 958

Total assets 362 732 341 482

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Current liabilities
Current interest-bearing liabilities 10 49 364 5 807
Other current liabilities 11 1 686 1 207
Accruals 12 1 307 1 494
Total current liabilities 52 357 8 508

Non-current liabilities
Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 13 133 455 158 114
Total non-current liabilities 133 455 158 114

Shareholders' equity
Share capital 14 448 448
Capital reserves
– Reserves from capital contributions 79 176 92 607
– Other capital reserve 131 131
Voluntary profit reserve 6 098 6 098
Treasury shares 15 –560 –579
Available earnings 91 627 76 155
Total shareholders’ equity 176 920 174 860

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 362 732 341 482

Balance sheet
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Notes to the financial statements

Principles
General

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of Swiss accounting legis-
lation (Title 32 of the Swiss Code of Obligations). A description of the essential valuation principles that were 
applied but are not prescribed by law follows below. 

Financial assets

The financial assets include long-term loans. Loans granted in foreign currencies are valued at the current 
closing rate, taking into account the imparity principle.

Investments

Investments are capitalized at cost minus any necessary value adjustments. Investments that are significant 
are valued individually, but those that are similar in nature are usually valued together as a group.

Treasury shares

Treasury shares are recognized at acquisition costs as a debit item in shareholders’ equity at the time of  
acquisition. Upon resale, the gain or loss will be recognized in the income statement as financial income or 
expense.

Dispensing with cash flow statement, management report and additional information in the Notes

Since mobilezone holding ag prepares consolidated financial statements in accordance with a recognised 
accounting standard (Swiss GAAP FER), the company has decided, in accordance with the pertinent legal 
provisions, to dispense in these financial statements with the information in the Notes regarding interest-
bearing liabilities and auditing fees as well as with a cash flow statement and a management report. 

 1
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Details regarding the financial statements
Other current receivables (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Group companies 117 358 114 463
Third parties 196 383
Total 117 554 114 846

Accruals (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Group companies 328 2 367
Third parties 243 589
Total 571 2 956

Financial assets (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Group companies 197 196 180 995
Third parties 410 0
Total 197 606 180 995

Direct and indirect investments
Company Headquarters Currency Share 

capital  
(000)  

Capital/ 
voting share 

 31.12.20

Capital/ 
voting share 

 31.12.19
mobilezone ag CH-Rotkreuz CHF 2 850 100% 100%
mobilit AG¹ CH-Härkingen CHF 100 100% 100%
IT Business Services GmbH¹ CH-Härkingen CHF 40 100% 100%
mobiletouch ag CH-Zweidlen CHF 100 100% 100%
TalkTalk AG CH-Rotkreuz CHF 100 100% 100%
mobilezone Deutschland GmbH² D-Cologne EUR 25 100% 100%
mobilezone Handel GmbH³ D-Bochum EUR 25 100% 100%
powwow GmbH⁴,⁵ D-Cologne EUR 778 100% 100%
powwow Berlin GmbH⁶ D-Bochum EUR 25 100% 100%
sparstrom Energievertriebs GmbH⁷ D-Cologne EUR 100 n.a. 40%
Bonamic GmbH⁴ D-Bochum EUR 250 49% 49%
einsAmobile GmbH⁸ D-Obertshausen EUR 50 100% 100%
mobiletouch austria gmbh⁹ A-Vienna EUR 35 n.a. 100%

¹ mobilit AG and IT Business Services GmbH were acquired in August 2019.
² einsAmobile Management GmbH was renamed on 17 September 2019 in mobilezone Deutschland GmbH.
³ TPHCom GmbH was renamed on 7 October 2020 in mobilezone Handel GmbH.
⁴ SH Telekommunikation Deutschland GmbH and Bonamic GmbH were acquired in June 2019. 
⁵ SH Telekommunikation Deutschland GmbH was renamed in February 2020 in powwow GmbH. 
⁶  Mr. Mobile GmbH was renamed in February 2020 in powwow Berlin GmbH. In October 2019, the shareholdings were increased from 45 per-

cent to 100 percent. 
⁷  sparstrom Energievertriebs GmbH was acquired in June 2019. The holding of 40% was sold in December 2020.
⁸ 75 percent of the share in einsAmobile GmbH was sold in January 2021. 
⁹ mobiletouch austria gmbh was sold in December 2020.

Current interest-bearing liabilities (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Group companies 2 892 2 404
Banks 46 472 3 403
Total 49 364 5 807

 
The current interest-bearing liabilities to Group companies include current accounts.

Other current liabilities (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Group companies 376 15
Executive bodies 0 12
Third parties 1 310 1 180
Total 1 686 1 207
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Accruals (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Executive bodies 440 440
Third parties 867 1 054
Total 1 307 1 494

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities

The non-current interest-bearing liabilities are bank loans and promissory notes.

Share capital and authorized capital

The share capital comprises 44,781,213 registered shares (previous year: 44,781,213 registered shares) at a par  
value of CHF 0.01 each. At the annual General Meeting on 8 April 2020, the shareholders approved the creation of 
authorized capital in the maximum amount of CHF 40,000 by issuing up to 4,000,000 fully paid registered shares with 
a par value of 1 centime each by 7 April 2022, at the latest. As of the balance sheet date, there was no conditional 
share capital.

Treasury shares

Change in number  
of treasury shares

Number of  
shares

Highest
price CHF

Average 
price CHF 

Lowest
price CHF

Total  
(CHF 000)

As of 1 January 2019 100 000 1 084
Purchases at cost prices 522 409 10.21 9.39 9.07 4 908
Disposals at sales prices –558 785 11.80 9.77 9.52 –5 457
Gains/losses 44
As of 31 December 2019 63 624 579

Purchases at cost prices 111 162 8.29 8.09 7.80 900
Disposals at sales prices –104 786 8.92 8.05 7.25 844
Gains/losses –75
As of 31 December 2020 70 000 560
 
Transactions in treasury shares generated a loss of CHF 75,000 in the reporting year (previous year: profit  
CHF 44,000). 

Significant shareholders

The following significant shareholders and shareholder groups were listed with a share of more than three 
percent of the capital or voting rights in the share register:

Company 2020 2019
Credit Suisse Funds AG, Zurich¹ 7.11% 7.11%
Haubrich Zentrale GmbH & Co. KG, Düsseldorf 5.00% 5.00%    
Wilke Stroman, Cologne 4.99% 4.98%
UBS Fund Management (Switzerland) AG, Basel¹ 3.88% 3.88%

¹  The number of participation shares noted in the last disclosure notice have been converted based on the number of shares outstanding as of 
the balance sheet date of 31 December.

 
The disclosures regarding shareholdings in mobilezone holding ag are published on the electronic platform 
of the SIX Swiss Exchange and can be retrieved via the Disclosure Office’s search screen at the following web 
link: www.ser-ag.com/en/resources/notifications-market-participants/significant-shareholders.html

To our knowledge there is no shareholder’s agreement between the significant shareholders.
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Additional information
Number of full-time employees

In the reporting year, the average number of full-time employees was 3 (previous year: 3).

Contingent liabilities (CHF 000) 2020 2019
Joint and several liability from VAT – Group taxation p.m. p.m.
Guarantee for a subsidiary 3 300 000 3 300 000

Shareholdings of members of the Board of Directors and the Group Management

Name Position Number of shares Share value (CHF 000)
2020 2019 2020 2019

Urs T. Fischer Chairman 2 500 2 500 25 27
Gabriela Theus Member 2 500 2 500 25 27
Peter K. Neuenschwander¹ Member 2 000 2 000 20 22
Michael Haubrich² Member 0⁴ n.a. 0 n.a.
Christian Petit³ Member n.a. 0 n.a. 0
Markus Bernhard CEO 110 000 80 000 1 109 869
Andreas Fecker CFO 50 282 40 000 507 434
Roger Wassmer CEO Switzerland 19 424 11 427 196 124
Wilke Stroman⁵ CEO Germany 2 232 722 n.a. 22 466 n.a.
Akin Erdem⁶ CPO 75 687 70 000 763 760
Murat Ayhan⁷ Managing Director DE n.a. 70 000 n.a. 760

¹ At the General Meeting on 4 April 2019, Peter K. Neuenschwander was elected to the Board of Directors. 
² At the General Meeting on 8 April 2020, Michael Haubrich was elected to the Board of Directors.
³ At the General Meeting on 8 April 2020, Christian Petit did not stand for re-election.
⁴  Michael Haubrich has a shareholding of 36 percent in Haubrich Zentrale GmbH & Co. KG, Düsseldorf, which indirectly holds 2,239,154 shares 

in mobilezone holding ag.
⁵ Wilke Stroman has been a member of the Group Management since 1 January 2020.
⁶ Akin Erdem until 1 February 2021.
⁷ Murat Ayhan left the Group Management effective 31 December 2019.

 
Additional information is provided in the renumeration report on page 60 and 61.

Significant events after the balance sheet date

At the end of January 2021, mobilezone holding ag sold 75 percent of its share in the indirect investment  
einsAmobile GmbH. The divested business generated sales of CHF 303 million in the past fiscal year 2020 (2019: 
CHF 347 million). The parties have agreed not to disclose the purchase price. 

Otherwise, no significant events have occurred after the balance sheet date.
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The proposal of the Board of Directors of mobilezone holding ag to the General Meeting on 7 April 2021, is to 
dispose of the 2020 available earnings and reserves from capital contributions as follows:

Appropriation of available earnings (CHF 000) 2020 2019

Balance carried forward from previous year 62 723 52 012
Net profit 28 903 24 143
Available earnings at the disposal of the General Meeting 91 627 76 155

Distribution of a dividend of CHF 0.28 
per dividend registered share (previous year: CHF 0.30) 12 539 13 432

Profit carried forward to new account 79 088 62 723
Total 91 627 76 155

Appropriation of reserves from capital contributions
Reserves from capital contributions – carried forward from previous year 79 176 54 567
Allocation from capital increase 0 38 040

Distribution of a dividend free of withholding tax in the amount of CHF 0.28 
per dividend registered share (previous year: CHF 0.30) –12 539 –13 432

Undistributed dividends on treasury shares  
held by the Group 0 1

Reserves from capital contributions carried forward to new account 66 637 79 176

If the proposal is accepted, the dividend of CHF 0.28 per share free of withholding tax out of the reserves from 
capital contributions and the dividend, which is subject to withholding tax, of CHF 0.28 per share will be paid on 
16 April 2021 (ex-date 14 April 2021). The last trading day with entitlement to receive the dividend is 13 April 2021. 
The share will be traded ex-dividend from 14 April 2021.

Proposal of the Board of Directors

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS MOBILEZONE HOLDING AG
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PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Birchstrasse 160, Postfach, CH-8050 Zürich, Switzerland 
Telefon: +41 58 792 44 00, Telefax: +41 58 792 44 10, www.pwc.ch 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG is a member of the global PricewaterhouseCoopers network of firms, each of which is a separate and independent legal entity. 

Report of the statutory auditor 
to the General Meeting of mobilezone holding ag  

Rotkreuz 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of mobilezone holding ag, which comprise the income statement for the year 
ended 31 December 2020, the balance sheet as at 31 December 2020 and the notes to the financial statements, includ-
ing a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements (pages 96 to 101) as at 31 December 2020 comply with Swiss law 
and the company’s articles of incorporation.  

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
provisions and standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements” 
section of our report. 

We are independent of the entity in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss audit 
profession and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Our audit approach 

Overview Overall materiality: CHF 1,500,000 

 

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable 
us to provide an opinion on the financial statements as a whole, taking into ac-
count the structure of the entity, the accounting processes and controls, and 
the industry in which the entity operates. 

As key audit matter the following area of focus has been identified: 

Impairment testing of investments in Group companies and loans to and ac-
counts receivable from Group companies 
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Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. Our audit opinion aims to provide reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or 
error. They are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, including the overall 
materiality for the financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below. These, together with qualitative consider-
ations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to 
evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate, on the financial statements as a whole.

Overall materiality CHF 1,500,000

How we determined it 0.41% of total assets

Rationale for the materiality bench-
mark applied

We chose total assets as the benchmark because the Company primarily holds 
investments in Group companies and grants loans to Group companies.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements above CHF 75'000 identified during 
our audit as well as any misstatements below that amount which, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Audit scope
We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial state-
ments. In particular, we considered where subjective judgements were made; for example, in respect of significant ac-
counting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in 
all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters 
consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Report on key audit matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the fi-
nancial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial state-
ments as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment testing of investments in Group companies and loans to and accounts receivable from Group com-
panies

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We consider the assessment of impairment of investments 
in Group companies and loans to and current accounts re-
ceivable from Group companies to be a key audit matter for 
the following reasons:

Investments in Group companies (CHF 39.8 million), loans 
to Group companies (CHF 197.2 million) and current ac-
counts receivable from Group companies (CHF 117.4 mil-
lion) amount to CHF 354.4 million, representing around 
98% of total assets of CHF 362.7 million and, thus, a signif-
icant portion of the assets.

In addition to the comparison of the book values of the in-
vestments, loans and current accounts receivable relating 
to Group companies with the book value of the net assets 
of each company concerned, we performed the following 
audit procedures in the event of a material shortfall in the 
net assets:

• We examined the value-in-use analysis and tested 
whether the calculation method was appropriate.

• We examined the basic paper prepared by Manage-
ment. 
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As mobilezone holding ag ensures the Group’s financing 
through loans, their recoverability is linked to the valuation 
of the equity investments and to the Group companies 
achieving their business targets in the medium term.

Testing these investments, loans and current accounts re-
ceivable for impairment involves scope for judgement (fu-
ture cash flows, discount rate and growth rate) in as-
sessing whether indications of impairment exist and in de-
riving the relevant values in use for the impairment tests.

As part of the annual impairment testing, mobilezone's 
Management compares the book value of the investment 
according to the statutory financial statements of the Com-
pany prepared in accordance with the Swiss Code of Obli-
gations with the net assets of the companies concerned as 
recorded in their financial statements and performs a 
value-in-use analysis.

In the year under review, no impairments were made by 
mobilezone holding ag.

• We tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculation 
in the valuation models that were used.

• We compared the assumptions concerning future cash 
flows and growth rates with the outcomes in the prior 
year and the assumptions in the budget. 

• We compared the discount rate with the financing costs.

• We assessed the sensitivity of the estimated values with 
regard to the remaining headroom.

• We compared the growth rates used with historical 
growth rates and tested them for plausibility based on 
our knowledge of the Swiss mobile phone market.

• We compared the total of the book values of the invest-
ments with the market capitalisation of mobilezone hold-
ing ag. 

We consider the principles and the assumptions applied by 
Management to test the investments in Group companies 
and loans to and current accounts receivable from Group 
companies for impairment to be appropriate.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the provisions of 
Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation, and for such internal control as the Board of Directors determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of ac-
counting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic al-
ternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from ma-
terial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law and 
Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at the website of EXPERT-
suisse: http://expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report-for-public-companies. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal 
control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to the instructions of 
the Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the company’s 
articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Daniel Ketterer Christian Vögeli

Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Audit expert

Zürich, 8 March 2021
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